

## Libraries and Learning Services

# University of Auckland Research Repository, ResearchSpace

# **Copyright Statement**

The digital copy of this thesis is protected by the Copyright Act 1994 (New Zealand).

This thesis may be consulted by you, provided you comply with the provisions of the Act and the following conditions of use:

- Any use you make of these documents or images must be for research or private study purposes only, and you may not make them available to any other person.
- Authors control the copyright of their thesis. You will recognize the author's right to be identified as the author of this thesis, and due acknowledgement will be made to the author where appropriate.
- You will obtain the author's permission before publishing any material from their thesis.

# General copyright and disclaimer

In addition to the above conditions, authors give their consent for the digital copy of their work to be used subject to the conditions specified on the <u>Library Thesis Consent Form</u> and <u>Deposit Licence</u>.

# You only get one brain: An exploratory retrospective study on life after adolescent traumatic brain injury

Therese Mulligan

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Clinical Psychology

The University of Auckland

2020

#### **Abstract**

This research adds to the relatively scarce body of literature regarding adolescent experiences of traumatic brain injury (TBI). It uses a qualitative methodology to explore how sustaining a TBI at this unique stage of development might impact a young person as they navigate the challenges of adolescence and transition to adulthood, and what might support recovery. Thirteen young adults who sustained a mild-moderate TBI as an adolescent (aged 13 - 17years), approximately 7.7 years (range = 6.7 - 8.0 years) prior, participated in the research. Semi-structured individual interviews were conducted to explore participants' experiences surrounding and following their TBIs. Thematic analysis of interview data produced five key categories of findings: (1) Following their TBIs, many participants experienced problems with cognitive (e.g., forgetfulness, concentration difficulties), physical (e.g., migraines, fatigue) and emotional (e.g., depression, anxiety) functioning, which were often endured into adulthood. (2) TBI-related problems often adversely affected important areas of life for the participant, including school, work and friendships. (3) Changes following TBI commonly impacted identity formation. (4) Recovery processes evolved over time as the participants coped initially by just 'getting on with it', before learning to accept new limitations and, ultimately, growing from their TBI experiences. (5) While the presence of friends and family assisted recovery, struggles were often exacerbated by a lack of emotional support from others, in addition to the absence of any assistance or information-provision from professionals regarding what to expect following TBI. In conclusion, even mild TBI sustained during adolescence can have consequences for an individual's functioning, engagement in life and identity development, whilst also giving rise to post-traumatic growth. Recovery following adolescent TBI might be maximised by facilitating greater understanding of the injury and acknowledging its impacts on important areas of life, as well as the provision of emotional support and facilitating self-reflection and meaning-making.

### Contents

Chapter One: Introduction	
Adolescence	
Traumatic brain injury	
Paediatric traumatic brain injury	
The impact of mild traumatic brain injury on adolescents	
Quality of life following paediatric traumatic brain injury	
Qualitative research on traumatic brain injury	
Conclusion and overview of the current study	40
Chapter Two: Methodology and Methods	41
Qualitative research	41
The perspective of the researcher	43
Research design.	46
Quality and rigour	52
Ethical considerations	54
Conclusion	55
Chanton Threes Findings	56
Category one: The direct impact of the brain injury	
Category two: Impacts on important areas of life	
Category three: Impacts on identity	
Category four: Individual resources for coping	
Category five: Social resources for coping	
Chapter Four: Discussion	
Participant demographics and injury features	
Discussion of key findings	110
Clinical implications	125
Strengths and limitations	128
Directions for future research.	131
Conclusion	132
References	133
Appendices	182
Appendix A: Letter of Invitation to Participate	
Appendix B: Letter of Invitation to Participate (Māori Version)	
Appendix C: Participant Information Sheet	
Appendix D: Participant Information Sheet (Māori Version)	
Appendix E: Consent Form	
Appendix F: Semi-structured Interview Schedule	
Appendix G: Initial Thematic Map	
Appendix 6. Illitat Thematic Map	193

#### Glossary

The following abbreviations, listed in alphabetical order, are seen throughout this thesis

ACC Accident Compensation Corporation

ADHD Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder

BIONIC Brain Injury Outcomes New Zealand in the Community

BIONIC4You Brain Injury Outcomes New Zealand in the Community; 4 Year Outcomes

CDC Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

COBIC Child Outcomes of Brain Injury in the Community

DAI Diffuse axonal injury

DSM-IV Diagnostic and Statistical Manual; Fourth Edition

GCS Glasgow Coma Scale

HRQoL Health Related Quality of Life

mTBI Mild traumatic brain injury

NZ New Zealand

OI Orthopaedic injury

PCS Post-concussive symptoms

pTBI Paediatric traumatic brain injury (TBI sustained up to the age of 18)

PTG Post-traumatic growth

TBI Traumatic brain injury

WHO World Health Organization

YLL Years of life lost

#### **Chapter One: Introduction**

The present study aims to explore qualitatively the adolescent experience of traumatic brain injury (TBI) and its potential long-term impacts. As such, this literature review examines the adolescent period, followed by a discussion of TBI in general, and finally what is known about TBI within the adolescent period in more detail. This includes a brief overview of quantitative findings, followed by an examination of available qualitative reports. The terms 'adolescents', 'young people' and 'youth' are often used interchangeably.

#### **Adolescence**

**Defining adolescence.** The World Health Organization (WHO) broadly defines adolescence as occurring between the ages of 10 and 19 years (Dick & Ferguson, 2015), a period generally viewed as a transitional phase between the relatively stable developmental stages of childhood and adulthood (Furlong, Woodman, & Wyn, 2011; Sawyer & Azzopardi, 2018). Although the onset of puberty, a biological event, typically marks the beginning of adolescence, its conclusion is largely defined socially (and thereby varies by cultural and historical circumstance), and is signalled by the full assumption of adult roles (Blakemore & Mills, 2014; Cotton Bronk, 2010; Inhelder & Piaget, 2013).

In order to prepare the young person for this assumption of adult roles, the adolescent period sees the considerable development of new skills, which are linked to cortical development and associated cognitive maturation, social development, and the formation of an identity. These are discussed, in turn, below, followed by a description of certain sociocultural influences that are relevant to youth in 21<sup>st</sup> century Western societies.

Adolescent cortical development. Adolescence is a critical period for brain development, with marked pruning of unused synapses, enhancements in connectivity amongst brain regions, and maturation of the prefrontal cortex. During the period surrounding adolescence, synaptic connections between neurons are overproduced, after

which those receptors within networks that receive stimulation from the environment are reinforced and maintained, while those that are not stimulated are lost (Andersen, 2003; Cotton Bronk, 2010). This elimination of unnecessary connections (i.e., synaptic pruning) leads to more efficient neural communication, and a more integrated and differentiated brain (Andersen, 2003; Cotton Bronk, 2010). The progression of myelination throughout adolescence also contributes to improved communication within the brain (Imperati et al., 2011; Mabbott, Rovet, Noseworthy, Smith, & Rockel, 2009). This accelerated development of myelin sheaths paired with pruning of unused synapses during adolescence gives rise to increased cortical white matter and speeds up electrical impulse transmission (Giedd et al., 1999; Noggle, 2011; Sowell, Thompson, Colin, et al., 1999).

Cerebral changes during adolescence are most noteworthy in the prefrontal region (Cotton Bronk, 2010; Dumontheil, 2014; Giedd et al., 1999; Noggle, 2011; Sowell et al., 1999a; Sowell et al., 1999b), which neuropsychology identifies as essential for complex cognitive activities, including abstract thinking, decision-making, emotional regulation, working memory, divided attention and organising (Dumontheil, 2014; Lezak, 2012). This cortical development is not only implicated in enhancing these 'executive functions' (Dumontheil, 2014; Shaw et al., 2006), but also has implications for advanced language processing (Ashtari et al., 2007), visuospatial abilities (Fryer et al., 2008), memory recall (Dumontheil, 2014; Mabbott et al., 2009) and social skills (Nelson, Leibenluft, McClure, & Pine, 2005; Turkstra, Williams, Tonks, & Frampton, 2008; Yeates et al., 2004, 2013).

The cortical changes described co-occur with known advancements in adolescent thinking processes, as encapsulated in Piaget's theory of cognitive development (Inhelder & Piaget, 2013; Piaget, 1968, 1972). Piaget described how, during the 'formal operations' stage, an adolescent progresses from thinking about concrete reality (i.e., 'concrete operations' stage of childhood), to engage in hypothetical reasoning and abstract thinking

about matters beyond the immediate environment and everyday reality (Inhelder & Piaget, 2013; Piaget, 1968, 1972).

Together, the attainment of a more intricate cortical system and increasingly sophisticated cognitive operations have important implications for adolescent socioemotional development, enabling significant social development and the formation of identity.

Social development. Social skills are a particularly important area of proficiency to consolidate during adolescence, owing to the maturation of neuronal connections and prefrontal regions (Nelson et al., 2005; Turkstra et al., 2008; Yeates et al., 2013). Social interactions become especially important to the adolescent, not only for exchanging social knowledge, but as a vehicle to establishing and maintaining relationships, thereby preparing for intimate and supportive adult relationships (Turkstra et al., 2008). To successfully engage with others and negotiate their increasingly complex social world, the adolescent draws upon executive functions to perceive information, understand its explicit and implicit meanings, conceptualise the perspectives of others, and respond appropriately (Elkind & Bowen, 1979; Turkstra et al., 2008).

Elkind (1967) proposed that the young person's new social cognitive abilities give rise to two stereotypical belief systems that influence their social behaviour, which are still considered relevant to contemporary youth (Bluth & Blanton, 2015; Cingel & Krcmar, 2014; Cingel, Krcmar, & Olsen, 2015; Jowkar & Noorafshan, 2011). Firstly, the concept of a 'personal fable', an unrealistic belief that one is special or unique, has been linked to an adolescent's tendency to feel that no one could possibly understand them (Elkind, 1967; Elkind & Bowen, 1979). The second phenomenon, the 'imaginary audience', is a young person's belief that others are as concerned (and indeed as critical) with their thoughts, behaviour and appearance as they themselves are (Elkind, 1967; Elkind & Bowen, 1979).

Group membership and feeling connected to others is crucial for the adolescent (Baumeister & Leary, 1995), thus peer relationships at this stage often centre on competition for peer approval, social comparisons, and hypervigilance to rejection (Irons & Gilbert, 2005; Zimmer-Gembeck, 2015, 2016). Such peer processes can significantly impact the psychological wellbeing of adolescents, with young people who perceive themselves as inferior to their peers reporting greater depression and anxiety symptoms (Irons & Gilbert, 2005; Zimmer-Gembeck, 2015, 2016). With age, adolescents are seen to increasingly rely on peers as social influences and sources of support, although family remains an important supportive base (Baumeister & Leary, 1995; Blakemore & Mills, 2014; Bradford Brown & Bakken, 2011; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011).

Identity development. Identity development occurs in the context of this heightened sensitivity to sociocultural signals in the environment, as the young person seeks to discover who they are and where they fit in relation to others (Blakemore & Mills, 2014; Kroger, 2007). In his theory of psychosocial development, Erikson (1963, 1968) emphasised identity-formation as a key task of adolescence, where the young person reviews old self-conceptions, explores a range of possible identities, and integrates these. This process is enabled by developing cognitive abilities that facilitate more complex self-examination and increased interest in autobiographical events and personal continuity (Habermas & Bluck, 2000; Inhelder & Piaget, 2013; Klimstra, Hale, Raaijmakers, Branje, & Meeus, 2010).

With a foundation in Erikson's theory, the identity status paradigm conceptualises the process of identity formation through adolescence and early adulthood in relation to the processes of exploration and commitment (Luyckx et al., 2006, 2008; Schwartz, Luyckx, Goossens, Beyers, & Missotten, 2011). Exploration relates to the degree to which multiple identity alternatives are considered, while commitment refers to choosing to adhere to one or more available alternatives. During the high school years, the young person might engage in

in-depth exploration of commitments and evaluate how well they 'fit', before identifying with a commitment (Klimstra et al., 2010; Meeus, Van De Schoot, Keijsers, Schwartz, & Branje, 2010; Schwartz et al., 2011). A newly consolidated sense of identity emerges as a result of enacting identified commitments, and this contributes to a sense of personal continuity and a perception of security over time (Schwartz et al., 2011). Those who engage in insufficient exploration or commitment will remain undecided regarding identity, and tend to have higher rates of depression and lower self-esteem (Luyckx et al., 2008).

'Emerging adulthood' in the 21st century. Identity formation and transition to adulthood is shaped by the social, economic and political circumstances of the time (Erikson, 1968; White & Wyn, 2008). Considerable social change in recent decades has given rise to a very different experience of transition to adulthood for contemporary Western youth in comparison to previous generations (Chesters, Smith, & Laughland-booÿ, 2018). The youth cohort of the 1960s and 1970s enjoyed well-prescribed pathways from adolescence to adulthood, where one would finish high school and get married, with men entering the workforce and women becoming homemakers (Furlong et al., 2011; Schwartz, Tanner, & Sayed, 2016; White & Wyn, 2008; Wyn & Woodman, 2006). With recent global economic shifts and growing job insecurity (Furlong et al., 2017), this transition has become increasingly complex and precarious for 21st century youth (Chesters et al., 2018; Schwartz et al., 2016). With young people now leaving home, gaining stable employment, and entering long-term romantic relationships much later than previously, 'emerging adulthood' is proposed as a new phase between adolescence and the time when these adult roles are fully assumed (Arnett, 2000; Chesters et al., 2018; Furlong et al., 2011; Schwartz et al., 2016).

The increased unpredictability of outcomes in recent decades has required young people to take personal responsibility for their lives in a way that is different to previous generations (Furlong et al., 2011; Wyn, 2004; Wyn & Woodman, 2006). While the resulting

growth of individualisation is considered positive and empowering in its facilitation of increased agency for young people (Wyn & Dwyer, 1999), uncertainty can be a source of stress (Chesters et al., 2018). With the dissolution of prescribed adult roles, young people feel increasingly pressured to extend their commitments across multiple life domains (e.g., work, study, leisure, relationships, personal development, parenthood) in order to become a successful adult (Wyn, 2004; Wyn & Woodman, 2006). Furthermore, the rise in the use of social media might contribute to perceived pressure to keep up with peers in all these areas (O'Keeffe et al., 2011). While most manage this balance fairly well, those who perceive that they have failed report negative implications for their mental health (Wyn, 2004).

**Summary**. Adolescence is a time of substantial development in many areas, with the emergence of more sophisticated cortical processes and cognitive abilities allowing for increased social competence and aiding what is believed to be the primary task of adolescence – to actively develop an independent social identity, and transition into adult roles. The social context of 21<sup>st</sup> century Western societies has seen the manifestation of an 'emerging adulthood' stage, characterised by delayed assumption of adult roles, increased uncertainty, and a need for autonomy and balance for contemporary youth.

Given the large amount of development and change expected during the adolescent period, particularly biological and brain development and their implications for social behaviour, it might be expected that experiencing a brain injury during this period could have particularly damaging outcomes. The general definitions and outcomes of TBI are reviewed below, followed by a more detailed exploration of TBI in adolescence.

#### **Traumatic Brain Injury**

This section defines TBI, discusses the mechanisms and pathophysiology of TBIs, and reviews the impact and epidemiology of TBI internationally and in New Zealand (NZ).

Classification of TBI in terms of injury severity is covered, followed by the cognitive, emotional, physiological and psychosocial outcomes.

Definition, mechanisms and pathophysiology of TBI. TBI is a heterogeneous condition, with significant variation in the definition, causes, pathology and prognosis of TBIs evident within the literature (Lingsma, Roozenbeek, Steyerberg, Murray, & Maas, 2010; Prins, Greco, Alexander, & Giza, 2013; Silver, McAllister, & Yudofsky, 2008). TBI is broadly defined as "an alteration in brain function, or other evidence of brain pathology, caused by an external force" (Menon, Schwab, Wright, & Maas, 2010, p. 1638). Such forces may produce 'penetrating' injuries, where the skull is punctured and brain tissue damaged; and 'closed' TBI, in which the brain is not penetrated but damaged by movement of the brain within the skull (McAllister, 2011; Menon et al., 2010; Prins, Greco, et al., 2013). Closed head injuries are substantially more common and are therefore discussed in further detail.

In closed TBI, two types of biomechanical forces, contact and inertia, can create focal and diffuse damage, as sudden acceleration-deceleration or rotation of the head causes the brain to move within the skull (McAllister, 2011; Prins, Greco, et al., 2013). Firstly, contact injuries can occur as the brain hits and rubs against the sharp bony interior ridges of the skull, with the sites most commonly exposed to such focal damage including the prefrontal cortex, orbitofrontal cortex, temporal poles, hippocampi, and ventral brain stem (Bigler, 2007; McAllister, 2011; Ogden, 2005a; Reddy, Rajeswaran, Devi, & Kandavel, 2017).

The primary cause of pathology is thought to be the tremendous inertial forces to which the brain is exposed as it moves within the skull (Giza & Hovda, 2001, 2014; Prins et al., 2013). This gives rise to a cascade of neurometabolic events, including bioenergetic challenges, axonal damage and impairments in neurotransmission, as the neurons and connective fibres that make up brain tissue are torn and stretched (Giza & Hovda, 2001, 2014; Prins et al., 2013).

Axons, which play a vital role in neurotransmission and inter-neuronal communication throughout the brain (Debanne, Campanac, Bialowas, Carlier, & Alcaraz, 2011), are particularly vulnerable to biomechanical stretching, given their inherent structural design and placement along different axes (Johnson, Stewart, & Smith, 2013). Diffuse axonal injury (DAI) can occur as axons become twisted, misaligned and even torn and degenerated, causing an indiscriminate release of neurotransmitters that initiates a multitude of intracellular reactions (Giza & Hovda, 2001, 2014; Johnson et al., 2013; McAllister, 2011; Zuckerbraun, King, & Berger, 2015). It is likely that DAI and impaired neurotransmission contribute to the post-concussive symptoms of TBI (Giza & Hovda, 2014), which are discussed in a later section, after a review of TBI epidemiology.

#### **Epidemiology of TBI.**

Incidence and prevalence. The frequency of TBIs reported worldwide vary considerably. Rates in Europe range from 47 to 453 per 100,000 (Koskinen & Alaranta, 2008; Peeters et al., 2015; Pérez et al., 2012; Tagliaferri, Compagnone, Korsic, Servadei, & Kraus, 2006; Yates, Williams, Harris, Round, & Jenkins, 2006), Australian population estimates vary between 219 and 345 per 100,000 per year (Crowe, Babl, Anderson, & Catroppa, 2009), and TBI incidence in the USA has been reported as 558 per 100,000 person-years in (Leibson et al., 2011). These studies are typically reliant on hospital and other health system admissions data.

Findings from the population-based incidence Brain Injury Outcomes New Zealand in the Community (BIONIC) study reported the total NZ incidence of TBI as 790 per 100,000 person-years (Feigin et al., 2013), a figure significantly greater than those of other high-income countries. BIONIC reported on community-based incidence, thereby capturing those who did not seek medical treatment and would have been missed by other studies.

Approximately 36% of BIONIC cases were never seen by medical services (Feigin et al.,

2013). With regard to prevalence, in 2010, approximately 527,400 New Zealanders (13% of the NZ population) had experienced at least one TBI event in their lives (Te Ao et al., 2015).

*Burden*. TBI is considered a major health and socioeconomic problem throughout the world (Peeters et al., 2015), affecting approximately 10 million people annually (Hyder, Wunderlich, Puvanachandra, Gururaj, & Kobusingye, 2007). TBI is often considered a 'silent epidemic', a term reflecting the lack of awareness of the impact of TBI on society, the underestimation of its true incidence, and the invisibility of its consequences (Edge, 2010; Peeters et al., 2015).

One population study carried out across 16 European countries (Majdan et al., 2017) estimated 374,636 years of life lost (YLLs) to TBIs in 2013. The BIONIC research group reported 14,386 YLLs and 5,891 years lived with disability due to TBIs occurring in a 12-month period in NZ (Te Ao et al., 2015). Thus, the majority (71%) of health loss was due to TBI-related fatalities. Mild TBI made the greatest contribution (i.e., 56%) to the non-fatal burden. Health loss attributable to TBI in NZ was estimated to be over one-quarter (27%) of all losses of health attributable to injuries in 2010 (Ministry of Health, 2013). The total prevalence costs of all new TBI cases in NZ in 2010 was estimated to be US \$101.4 million, with the total cost of treating of mild TBI cases was almost three times that of moderate/severe (Te Ao et al., 2014).

Demographic incidence and prevalence. TBI incidence worldwide appears to peak during early childhood, adolescence, and again in late life (Bener et al., 2010; Hyder et al., 2007; Langlois, Rutland-Brown, & Thomas, 2004; Taylor, Bell, Breiding, & Xu, 2017). In NZ, males, particularly young men, appear more affected by TBI than females (Barker-Collo, Wilde, & Feigin, 2008; Feigin et al., 2013). This is consistent with international findings that men and boys are 1.5 times as likely as women and girls to experience a TBI (Langlois et al., 2004). Crude prevalence estimates in NZ were 14.8% for males and 11.4% for females in

2010 (Te Ao et al., 2015). The burden of TBI (as captured by disability-adjusted life years/DALY) was estimated as twice as high in NZ males as in females, and higher in younger than in older age groups, peaking between 20 and 24 years (Te Ao et al., 2015).

Rates of TBI-related hospital appearances have been reported as much higher for Māori and Pacific peoples, than those for the remaining NZ population, with Māori males potentially twice as likely to experience a TBI (Barker-Collo et al., 2008). More recent figures show NZ Māori, specifically young Māori, are at particular risk of sustaining mild TBI compared to those of European descent with overall incidence in Māori males approximately 1000 per 100,000 (Feigin et al., 2013). That Māori feature disproportionately in TBI figures is consistent with patterns in other health statistics (Ministry of Health, 2015; Robson, Purdie, Simmonds, Waa, & Rameka, 2015). Māori children and young people are also shown to experience higher rates of almost all reported physical and mental health problems, compared to non-Māori non-Pacific people (Simpson et al., 2017).

Substantial ethnic disparities are shown in TBI incidence internationally (Corrigan, Selassie, & Orman, 2010; Hyder et al., 2007; Langlois, Rutland-Brown, & Thomas, 2005; Stålnacke, Elgh, & Sojka, 2007), and higher TBI rates have been observed in indigenous communities elsewhere (Rutland-Brown, Wallace, Faul, & Langlois, 2005). There are also reported differences in the impact of TBI according to race. For instance, African Americans experienced significantly lower social integration and greater loss of income following TBI than White Americans (Hart, Whyte, Polansky, Kersey-Matusiak, & Fidler-Sheppard, 2005).

Causes. The rise in motor vehicle use in recent decades brought about an increase in TBIs caused by road-traffic incidents in all parts of the world (Bener et al., 2010; Edge, 2010; Fagerholm, Hellyer, Scott, Leech, & Sharp, 2015; Hyder et al., 2007; Taylor et al., 2017). However, more recent improvements in traffic accident prevention has seen the number of traffic-related injuries superseded by an increased prevalence of fall-related TBI

(Heidenreich, 2017; Peeters et al., 2015; Taylor et al., 2017). This is consistent with the pattern in NZ, with most incidents due to falls (38%), followed by mechanical forces (21%), traffic incidents (20%), and assaults (17%; Feigin et al., 2013). Falls more often caused TBI in NZ children and the elderly, whereas assaults, transport accidents and exposure to mechanical forces were more common in young adults. This pattern is consistent with the international finding (Thurman, 2016) that, in children aged 5 to 14 years, falls are the most common cause of TBI, followed by sports and recreation-related incidents, and then motor vehicle accidents; while in youth 15 years and older, motor vehicle-related incidents were the most common cause, followed by assault, and sports-related incidents (Thurman, 2016). Māori people aged 15 to 64 years old had a greater incidence of assault-related TBI incidence compared to those of European origin (Feigin et al., 2013).

Classification of TBI. TBI is most commonly classified with regard to injury severity, with severities ranging from mild to moderate or severe (Vos & Diaz-Arrastia, 2015). Severity ratings are usually based on neurological examination, commonly operationalised via the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS), a standardised assessment of the level of impairment in consciousness based on responses to defined stimuli (Teasdale & Jennett, 1974). A GCS score between 3 and 8 is suggestive of a severe TBI, moderate injuries fall between 9 and 12, and mild TBI (mTBI) are defined by a GCS of 13 to 15 (Vos & Diaz-Arrastia, 2015). However, this method of classification is often criticised, specifically for its inadequate sensitivity in capturing the nuances in signs occurring in mTBI (Grubenhoff, Kirkwood, Deakyne, & Wathen, 2011; Mayer, Quinn, & Master, 2017; Reith, Van den Brande, Synnot, Gruen, & Maas, 2016). Other information, such as the duration of unconsciousness and/or posttraumatic amnesia ("the transitory period of disorientation, confusion, and amnestic memory impairment following TBI, which leaves a gap in memory"; Rabinowitz & Levin, 2014, p.1), are often used concurrently to aid in classifying the severity

of an injury (Menon et al., 2010; Vos & Diaz-Arrastia, 2015). The majority of injuries, from 70% to 90%, are reported as mTBI worldwide (Cassidy et al., 2004; Edge, 2010; McKinlay, 2010; Peeters et al., 2015; Tagliaferri et al., 2006), and 95% in NZ (Feigin et al., 2013).

Outcomes following TBI. There is broad heterogeneity in symptoms and recovery profiles following a TBI, even if injuries appear similar (Lingsma et al., 2010; McInnes, Friesen, Mackenzie, Westwood, & Boe, 2017), and outcomes can range from full recovery to permanent disability or death (Bener et al., 2010; Jones et al., 2016). The physiological, cognitive and emotional consequences of TBI are often clustered under the label 'post-concussive symptoms' (PCS). Below, those symptoms typically included in examinations of PCS are described, followed by a summary of their psychosocial implications.

Post-concussive symptoms. PCS are prevalent across all injury severities, and evolve in the initial minutes to days and weeks after the trauma (Heidenreich, 2017). PCS include a range of vestibular (e.g., dizziness, difficulty coordinating), physical/sensory (e.g., headaches, nausea, fatigue, light and noise sensitivity), cognitive (e.g., inattention, forgetfulness, slowed processing), and emotional (e.g., irritability, disinhibition, anxiety) symptoms (Hiploylee et al., 2016; Reddy et al., 2017; Vanderploeg et al., 2015). Although most PCS resolve within one to three months following TBI, evidence continues to emerge suggesting that recovery of symptoms may be prolonged beyond this period for 20% to 55% of patients (Heidenreich, 2017; Hiploylee et al., 2016; Johnson et al., 2013; McInnes et al., 2017). Hiploylee and colleagues (2016) reported that only 27% of their 110 participants fully recovered from PCS, with 67% of those doing so within one year, and indicated that PCS may be permanent if recovery has not occurred in the initial three years. Repeated TBIs are expected to trigger significantly more pronounced PCS than single injuries. The timing of the subsequent injury/injuries is the key determinant in consequential symptoms severity, with proximity to the index injury associated with worse outcomes (Giza & Hovda, 2014; Longhi et al., 2005;

Prins, Alexander, Giza, & Hovda, 2013; Theadom et al., 2015).

Cognitive symptoms. The cerebral regions particularly vulnerable to damage during TBI (i.e., prefrontal and temporal regions, subcortical white matter tracts) serve important cognitive and social functions. For instance, the prefrontal cortices are considered crucial for executive functions and intuitive reflexive social behaviours, circuits within temporal regions have critical involvement in episodic memory and learning, while speed of information processing is particularly dependent on white matter function (Lezak, 2012; McAllister, 2011; Rabinowitz & Levin, 2014). This understanding is oversimplified, however, and the responsibility for the true impact of TBI lies in the connections between various cortices. Damage to white matter due to DAI strongly correlates with burden of neurocognitive impairment (Babikian et al., 2010; Kraus et al., 2007). Diffusion magnetic resonance imaging has revealed the complex functional effects of TBI, by mapping disconnections in brain networks (e.g., intrinsic connectivity networks important for attentional control) brought about by DAI (Sharp, Gregory, & Leech, 2014).

The cognitive domains most often affected by mild to moderate TBI include memory, attention, processing speed, and executive functioning, with these deficits mostly resolving within three to six months of injury (Rabinowitz & Levin, 2014; Reddy et al., 2017).

BIONIC study findings revealed forgetfulness, poor concentration and slowed thinking as the most common cognitive symptoms experienced up to 12-month following mTBI (Theadom, Parag, et al., 2016). At baseline and at 6 months post-mTBI, greater than 20% of individuals performed very poorly on tasks requiring executive ability, complex attention and cognitive flexibility (Barker-Collo et al., 2015)

Such functions are also impacted by moderate to severe TBI, while additional deficits may be observed in domains such as communication, visuospatial processing, intellectual ability, and insight (Rabinowitz & Levin, 2014). A roughly linear correlation exists between

TBI severity and cognitive sequelae, with longer duration of impaired consciousness at the time of injury predictive of greater cognitive dysfunction (Rabinowitz & Levin, 2014).

*Emotional symptoms*. Emotional symptoms were commonly reported in one study (Eisenberg, Meehan, & Mannix, 2014) that attempted to capture the duration of acute PCS in paediatric TBI patients (N = 235), with 27.7% reporting frustration, 25.5% irritability and 24.6% restlessness. TBI is also associated with increased risk of experiencing psychiatric disorders (Gould, Ponsford, Johnston, & Schönberger, 2011; McAllister, 2011). Clinical records of 279 NZ TBI patients indicated that 57.7% experienced significant psychological problems post-injury with 8.6% given a psychiatric diagnosis, including anxiety, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, depression, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD; Gibson & Purdy, 2015).

Depression is the most commonly studied psychological disorder following TBI, and it appears particularly frequently in the first 12 months (Barker-Collo et al., 2015).

Depression was reported as eight times more prevalent in the initial year post-injury than in the general population (Bombardier et al., 2010). Levels of injury severity, impairment, and functioning appear unrelated to developing major depression (Barker-Collo et al., 2015).

Deciphering depression symptomology from those typical of TBI can affect the accuracy of research in this area (Corrigan & Deutschle Jr, 2008; Lin & Jorge, 2017). Barker-Collo and colleagues (2015) found depression to be related to self-reported pre-morbid anxiety and depression, as well as higher rates of depression immediately post-TBI using the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, Fourth Edition (DSM-IV; 49%) than the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (i.e., 21%). The latter removes more physiologically-based symptoms that could be result from the TBI itself. It remains unclear whether the increased prevalence of mental health disorders relates to brain changes following the injury or psychological

responses to the injury, but it is assumed that there are some underlying organic mechanisms (Jorge & Arciniegas, 2014; Jorge & Starkstein, 2005).

Physiological/sensory symptoms. Most common acute physical and sensory symptoms reported amongst Eisenberg and colleagues' (2014) paediatric cohort (N = 235) included headaches (reported by 85.1%), nausea (seen in 41.6%), light sensitivity (42.5%), noise sensitivity (40.4%), dizziness (61.3%), blurred vision (32%), double vision (13.2%). Fatigue, however, is one of the most reported long-term physiological complaints, experienced by up to 70% of adult TBI patients (Ponsford et al., 2014; Theadom, Rowland, et al., 2016). Fatigue is thought to result from DAI and the increased mental effort required to think (Esbjörnsson, Skoglund, & Sunnerhagen, 2013; Johansson, Berglund, & Rönnbäck, 2009). With most improvement occurring in the first six months (Theadom, Parag, et al., 2016), fatigue seems to decrease only slightly from two to ten years (Ponsford et al., 2014). Headaches are another common chronic problem, with a prevalence rate reported as 57.8% (Nampiaparampil, 2008). Elsewhere, new or worse headaches or migraines, compared to pre-injury, occurred at a rate of 54% immediately after TBI, 69% six months later, and 58% at one year follow up (Lucas, Hoffman, Bell, & Dikmen, 2014).

*Psychosocial implications.* New difficulties arising from TBI can interfere with an individual's capacity to fulfil their social roles (Rabinowitz & Levin, 2014). Even in cases of mTBI, ongoing PCS can negatively impact a sufferer's confidence in their ability to work and maintain relationships, and disrupt family functioning (Ogden, 2005; Schönberger, Ponsford, Olver, & Ponsford, 2010). Only about half of patients with mild to severe TBI (N = 141) had returned to all previous activities two years post-injury (Ponsford et al., 2014). More than half of adults (N = 245) reported new challenges at work following a mTBI, with one in five struggling to meet the demands of their employment four years after their injury (Theadom et

al., 2017). People report problems making and maintaining friendships following their injuries, and 41% to 47% report having lost friends or feeling more isolated (Ponsford et al., 2014).

**Summary.** TBI is a common condition that sees broad heterogeneity in terms of causes, symptoms, and recovery, and can significantly impact one's cognitive, emotional, physical and psychosocial functioning in both the short and long term. Having reviewed the literature on adolescence and TBI broadly, the section that follows discusses TBI in childhood and adolescence generally, followed by an examination of mTBI during the adolescent period more specifically.

#### **Paediatric Traumatic Brain Injury**

TBI is one of the most frequent accident types and a leading cause of death and disability for children and young people worldwide (Edge, 2010; Semrud-Clikeman & Bledsoe, 2010). While 30% to 60% of international TBI cases appear to be paediatric (Hyder et al., 2007; Rickels, von Wild, & Wenzlaff, 2010; Wu et al., 2008), much remains to be investigated regarding injuries at these life stages (Vos & Diaz-Arrastia, 2015). This section discusses literature concerning child and adolescent TBI, which will be referred to as paediatric TBI (pTBI), since most research has investigated both age groups together. Reference will be made to adolescent-specific research where possible. Literature regarding the role of neural plasticity and what is thought to be known about the impacts of pTBI are of particular interest.

The role of neural plasticity. Given the extent of neural plasticity and the maturation of neurological processes in children and adolescents (Andersen, 2003; Cotton Bronk, 2010; Giedd et al., 1999; Imperati et al., 2011; Sowell, Thompson, et al., 1999), it was once assumed that younger brains could adapt to the effects of head trauma, making youth more resilient to the impact of TBI than adults (Eslinger, Grattan, Damasio, & Damasio, 1992;

Kolb, 1989). On the contrary, subsequent investigations have uncovered the opposite pattern, suggesting that children and adolescents may actually suffer a worse prognosis (Anderson, Catroppa, Morse, Haritou, & Rosenfeld, 2005b; Keightley et al., 2014; McKinlay, Grace, Horwood, Fergusson, & MacFarlane, 2009).

Indeed, increased plasticity may enhance the brain's capacity to shift functions to preserved areas, thus boosting short-term recovery (Kade & Fletcher-Janzen, 2009). However, animal model studies suggest that axonal vulnerability (Prins, Hales, Reger, Giza, & Hovda, 2010; Reeves et al., 2005) and impairments in plasticity (Fineman, Giza, Nahed, Lee, & Hovda, 2000; Ip, Giza, Griesbach, & Hovda, 2002) may actually be more prominent in the young brain. Unmyelinated axons of white matter tracts in the corpus callosum of rats are more vulnerable to TBI, and show greater impairment of electrophysiological function, than myelinated fibres (Reeves et al., 2005). This finding has implications for humans, given the ongoing myelination of axonal tracts that occurs during adolescent development (Imperati et al., 2011; Mabbott et al., 2009).

Consistent with animal studies, human adolescents with mild, moderate and severe injuries present with persistent white matter abnormalities, particularly in the prefrontal and temporal regions (Adamson et al., 2013; Henry, Burkhart, Elbin, Agarwal, & Kontos, 2015; Königs et al., 2017). In addition, magnetic resonance imaging has revealed reduced cerebral blood flow in adolescents 12 months post-TBI (Wang et al., 2014) and significant volumetric loss in grey and white matter can be seen for years after moderate and severe pTBI (Wilde et al., 2005).

The true impact of TBI on the developing brain is prolonged and complex. Going beyond consideration of the loss of existing skills, the acquisition of new social and cognitive skills may be seen as the individual matures and more integrative neural processes become critical to functioning (Brenner et al., 2007; Di Battista, Soo, Catroppa, & Anderson, 2012;

Ewing-Cobbs et al., 2004; Savage, DePompei, Tyler, & Lash, 2005; Yeates et al., 2007). That is, young people may grow into their deficits as they age. Unfortunately, longer-term consequences of pTBI are often neglected in the research, and the impact of an injury, particularly on an older child or adolescent, beyond the acute phase, is poorly understood (Keightley, Côté, et al., 2014; Rennie, 2015; Savage et al., 2005).

Outcomes following pTBI. PTBI can culminate in a variety of adverse short- and long-term outcomes. Recent interest in pTBI has focussed on mild injuries, and this literature is discussed in detail below. Firstly, this section covers what is currently known about pTBI more generally, including the experience of PCS, followed by academic, behavioural, social and family-related outcomes following injuries across the severity spectrum.

*Post-concussive symptoms*. Children and adolescents present with similar PCS as those described for adults (Hawley, Ward, Magnay, & Long, 2004; Hooper et al., 2004). Figures regarding the prevalence rates of PCS in pTBI are unclear, given the reliance on parent report and the indication that parents are poor at recognising symptoms in their children following TBI (Stevens, Penprase, Kepros, & Dunneback, 2010). For instance, two studies that utilised parent report regarding paediatric cases have conflicting findings. One study (N = 681) reported that just 8.9% of children and adolescents experienced one or more symptoms one month and 2.8% ten months post-TBI (Hooper et al., 2004). Elsewhere, in a total of 526 cases, PCS were reported for one third of those with severe TBI, one quarter of youth with moderate injuries, and 10% to 18% of a mTBI group (Hawley et al., 2004).

Cognitive symptoms. Difficulties with attention, concentration and processing speed are amongst the most reported cognitive difficulties to emerge from reviews of pTBI outcomes, followed by memory, language and executive functioning deficits (Li & Liu, 2013; Savage et al., 2005; Savage, Pearson, McDonald, Potoczny-Gray, & Marchese, 2001).

Parents reported that 9.5% of children and adolescents experience memory problems and

12.2% experience difficulties with attention 10 months post-TBI (Hooper et al., 2004).

Compared with children and adults, adolescents appear particularly vulnerable to the implications of TBI on executive functions (Baillargeon, Lassonde, Leclerc, & Ellemberg, 2012; Howell, Osternig, Van Donkelaar, Mayr, & Chou, 2013). Adolescents are shown to have particular trouble with working memory (Baillargeon et al., 2012; Keightley, Singh Saluja, et al., 2014), emotional lability (Henry et al., 2015), problem-solving (Wade et al., 2017), planning, obstacle-avoidance, and multitasking (Cossette et al., 2016) post-TBI. These findings are not surprising, considering the prevalence of disruption to white matter pathways and frontal cortices (Adamson et al., 2013; Henry et al., 2015; Königs et al., 2017), important for executive tasks (Lezak, 2012), and the concentrated period of maturation in these regions during adolescence (Cotton Bronk, 2010; Dumontheil, 2014).

Emotional symptoms. Adolescents who have experienced TBI are also at increased risk of developing emotional problems, including PTSD symptoms, anxiety and depression (Albicini & McKinlay, 2015; Emery et al., 2016; Laliberté Durish, Pereverseff, & Yeates, 2018; Max et al., 2012). Based on parent and self-report, 22% to 26% of adolescents demonstrated clinically elevated internalizing problems in the six months following TBI (Peterson, Connery, Baker, & Kirkwood, 2015). PTSD symptoms appear more commonly in milder injuries, supposedly since those with more severe injuries are less likely to recall their accidents (Albicini & McKinlay, 2015; O'Connor et al., 2012). Adolescents and older children appear more likely to experience depression post-TBI than younger children (Max et al., 2012), but may be less likely to present with anxiety than those who are younger at the time of the TBI (Albicini & McKinlay, 2015; Max et al., 2011). In their large sample spanning all injury severities, Max and colleagues (2012) attributed depressive symptoms to disrupted frontotemporolimbic connections, while anxiety after pTBI was reported to be indicative of a problem with affective dysregulation caused by disrupted frontal white matter

systems (Max et al., 2011). Despite the discovery of structural brain changes related to depression, results are mixed regarding whether symptoms emerge due to the injury itself, were pre-existing, or evolve secondary to a young person's experiences following the TBI (Laliberté Durish et al., 2018; Max et al., 2012). Depression symptoms are associated with persistent pain in adolescents three years after sustaining TBIs of any severity (Tham et al., 2013).

Behaviour changes. Up to half of children and adolescents who sustain a TBI are at risk for developing specific behavioural problems, which may persist for several years following injury (Hawley et al., 2004; Hooper et al., 2004; Li & Liu, 2013). Problems reported include hyperactivity, impulsivity, low frustration tolerance, apathy, aggression and social disinhibition (Savage et al., 2005). Rates of behaviour related disorders, such as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), oppositional defiant disorder and conduct disorder are higher for those who have sustained a pTBI (Lloyd, Wilson, Tenovuo, & Saarijärvi, 2015). Novel diagnoses of ADHD are reported as three times more common than in non-injured children (Li & Liu, 2013). However, youth with ADHD are also more likely to sustain a TBI, making it challenging to ascertain, post-injury, whether ADHD symptoms had been present prior (Alosco, Fedor, & Gunstad, 2014; Bonfield, Lam, Lin, & Greene, 2013). Research findings in this area are inconsistent, as other studies indicate that behaviour problems fall short of clinical ranges (Trenchard, Rust, & Bunton, 2013).

Academic and occupational outcomes. With deficits observed in cognitive skills so vital for learning new information, academic impairment is evident across ages following TBIs of all severities, but outcomes are poorer for more severe injuries (Ewing-Cobbs et al., 2004; Lloyd, Wilson, Tenovuo, & Saarijärvi, 2015; Savage et al., 2005; Taylor et al., 2002). Adolescents present with greater difficulty with reading comprehension and arithmetic post-TBI than children injured at earlier ages (Ewing-Cobbs et al., 2004). Learning problems may

persist into adulthood (Anderson, Brown, Newitt, & Hoile, 2009), and those who sustained a TBI during adolescence are more likely to experience fluctuations in employment as young adults (Todis, Glang, Bullis, Ettel, & Hood, 2011). When compared to national census data, young adults who experienced pTBI are 3 times less likely to have completed high school; 2.3 times less likely to obtain a university qualification; 1.7 times more likely to be unemployed or in unskilled work; 2.1 times less likely to be in skilled positions; and 1.6 times less likely to have attained professional employment (Anderson et al., 2009).

Family distress. PTBI is associated with disrupted family interactions (Cattelani, Lombardi, Brianti, & Mazzucchi, 1998; Rashid et al., 2014; Wade et al., 2003), particularly in cases of poorer caregiver mental health and stress in reaction to the injury (Holland & Schmidt, 2015). Increased family distress can be associated with higher adolescent PCS (Ganesalingam et al., 2008), and differences in adolescents' and parents' appraisals of the nature and severity of the injury may cause conflict (Stancin et al., 2002). Family dysfunction and distress are associated with poorer long-term psychosocial adjustment following pTBI (McCarthy et al., 2006; Ryan et al., 2016; Taylor et al., 2002), while the availability of warm and responsive parenting is associated with fewer internalising and externalising problems in children with severe TBI (Wade et al., 2011).

Social outcomes. The past two decades have seen particular interest in the impact of pTBI on young peoples' social functioning, as measured by reduced social competence, the presence of social problems, number of friends and social cognition skills (Brenner et al., 2007; Rosema, Crowe, & Anderson, 2012; Ryan et al., 2016; Yeates et al., 2007).

Social competence, problems and friendships. Those aged 5 to 15 years display deterioration in social participation skills following TBI, as well as consistently higher rates of impairment in social outcomes than typically developing peers (Catroppa et al., 2015). Children and young adolescents who have sustained TBI are often found to have fewer

friends than reference groups (Prigatano & Gupta, 2006; Yeates et al., 2013). Prigatano and Gupta (2006) reported that 75% of orthopaedic injury (OI) controls had four or more friends, compared with only 39% of those with mTBI and 20% of young people with moderate TBI. Long-term follow up following pTBI demonstrates that social difficulties can be pervasive and longstanding, continuing into adulthood, particularly for those with moderate and severe injuries (Brenner et al., 2007; Cattelani et al., 1998; Klonoff, Clark, & Klonoff, 1993; Muscara, Catroppa, Eren, & Anderson, 2009).

Social cognition. As described previously, the social interactions of ever-increasing complexity that occur during adolescence require increasingly sophisticated cognitive skills. New cognitive capacities are mediated by an integrated neural network that is established throughout childhood and adolescence (Nelson et al., 2005; Turkstra et al., 2008), with many components of this network susceptible to disruption by pTBI (Bigler, 2007; McAllister, 2011; Reddy et al., 2017). Long-term social outcomes following pTBI are predicted by neuropsychological abilities, social information-processing, and focal volumetric reductions in white matter within regions of the brain involved in social information-processing (Yeates et al., 2013, 2004).

Executive functions are central to this social information-processing network, and children and adolescents with better executive skills display better social adjustment and greater social self-awareness (Wolfe et al., 2015). Behavioural ratings of executive functions are also strongly related to social competence. Children with severe TBI display more negative outcomes than OI peers on ratings of executive functions and social competence (Ganesalingam et al., 2011). Theory of mind, emotional expression, and social problem-solving are more specific social cognition skills explored within the pTBI literature.

Theory of mind involves consideration of the mental states and intentions of others, in order to understand the perspectives of others and to predict how they will act (Dennis et al.,

2012). Adolescents post-TBI have displayed an impaired capacity to recognise emotional and mental states in others 6 months to 10 years after sustaining mild to severe injuries, compared to OI controls (Dennis et al., 2012; Tousignant et al., 2016; Turkstra et al., 2008). This effect is magnified with increasing TBI severity (Dennis et al., 2012).

Emotional expressions serve important social communicative functions; not only do we use them to convey how we feel, but also to communicate to others what we want them to *think* we feel (Dennis et al., 2013). Dennis and colleagues suggest that young people with TBI have difficulty understanding the dual role of facial emotions in expressing feelings and communicating socially relevant but deceptive emotions, which may impact social outcomes. Up to four years post injury, older children and young adolescents who sustained TBIs of various severities performed more poorly on tasks involving emotional expression and emotional communication than OI controls (Dennis et al., 2013).

Children with TBI also demonstrate poorer social problem-solving skills (e.g., defining social problems, generating potential solutions to social problems, selecting problem-solving strategies, evaluating response outcomes) compared to OI controls, up to four years following their injuries (Ganesalingam et al., 2011; Janusz, Kirkwood, Yeates, & Taylor, 2002; Moran et al., 2015; Yeates et al., 2004). Social problem-solving abilities predicted the success of social reintegration post-pTBI (Muscara, Catroppa, Eren, & Anderson, 2009). However, much of the research in this area focuses on those with more severe injuries and those injured as children, as opposed to adolescents.

A model for social deficits following pTBI. Yeates and colleagues (2007) present a theoretical model illustrating how social information processing capabilities, and their neural substrates, interact with factors such as peer interactions and social adjustment, to determine how pTBI may impact a young person's development of social competence post-injury. For example, deficits in social information processing may lead a young person to engage in

behaviours that do not promote social affiliation (e.g., withdrawal), thus limiting social experiences and hindering peer interactions. Consequently, with increasing time since injury, social functioning may become more divergent from that of peers, and even if social information processing is entirely or partially restored, negative social outcomes might persist for the young person (Yeates et al., 2014, 2007).

Social dysfunction is reported to be the most debilitating problem for adolescent TBI sufferers (Rosema et al., 2012). Disruptions to social function at this critical period in development may contribute to loneliness, social isolation, reduced self-esteem, mood and anxiety disorders, with the potential to significantly reduce quality of life (Ganesalingam et al., 2011; Nelson et al., 2005; Rosema et al., 2012; Yeates et al., 2014).

Summary. This section has summarised the research on pTBI, including the inconsistent reports regarding the prevalence of PCS, ongoing cognitive, emotional and behavioural problems, impacts on academic and occupational outcomes, and family and social functioning. The literature reviewed demonstrates that, contrary to the previous perception of neural plasticity playing a protective role, experiencing a TBI during childhood or adolescence may adversely impact the maturation and integration of neural processes critical to functioning. Although literature regarding adolescent-specific social outcomes is limited, it can be assumed that pTBI may have particular implications for the development of complex social skills, given that many components of the ever-developing social cognitive network (e.g., executive functions) can become disrupted due to TBI at this stage.

Given the prevalence of milder injuries, the next section focuses more specifically on the impact of mTBI occurring during adolescence.

#### The Impact of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury on Adolescents

The outcomes of mTBI in particular are discussed briefly, since estimates show that 95% of TBI sustained by adolescents in NZ are classified as mild (Feigin et al., 2013).

Worldwide, mTBI are amongst the most prevalent injuries to occur during adolescence (McKinlay et al., 2008), thus given the overall number of young people affected, the burden is considered immensely significant even if only a proportion experience persistent problems (Keightley, Côté, et al., 2014; McKinlay, 2010; Yeates, 2010).

The controversy of mTBI. Understanding the true impact of mTBI is shrouded in controversy and confusion, especially in paediatric cases (McKinlay, 2010; Sharp & Jenkins, 2015; Voss, Connolly, Schwab, & Scher, 2015). With a history of polarisation within the literature (see Satz, 2001), even reviews incorporating many of the same studies (e.g., Emery et al., 2016; Keightley et al., 2014; Lloyd et al., 2015) have conflicting conclusions. Some authors suggest that the consequences of paediatric mTBI can be significant, and should receive serious evaluation (Keightley, Côté, et al., 2014; Lloyd et al., 2015; Sariaslan, Sharp, D'Onofrio, Larsson, & Fazel, 2016). Others insist that there is insufficient evidence that such problems persist beyond the initial couple of months (Carroll, Cassidy, Peloso, et al., 2004; Emery et al., 2016; Satz, 2001). Nevertheless, public recognition of mTBI as potentially serious has grown in recent years, with increased acknowledgement that all types of brain trauma, regardless of severity, can result in life-long difficulties (Heidenreich, 2017; Voss et al., 2015).

The study of adolescent mTBI is complex, as persisting methodological issues have created inconsistency in the literature (Carroll, Cassidy, Peloso, et al., 2004; Emery et al., 2016; Lloyd et al., 2015; McKinlay, 2010; Yeates, 2010). Firstly, the term 'mild traumatic brain injury' is often used interchangeably with 'concussion', and there is a lack of clarity regarding how these differ (McInnes et al., 2017; Radhakrishnan et al., 2016). However, recent discussions situate concussion as a form of mTBI (Mayer et al., 2017; McCrory et al., 2018). Secondly, there are no universal criteria being utilised for the clinical identification of paediatric mTBI (Davis et al., 2017; Mayer et al., 2017; McInnes et al., 2017), and the GCS is

increasingly considered unreliable and lacking in sensitivity for classifying milder injuries (Mayer et al., 2017; Reith et al., 2016). Finally, research in the area is inconsistent in its definitions of adolescence, which makes comparisons between studies difficult.

With regard to research on the impact of mTBI, an emphasis on short-term outcomes means that the long-term psychosocial effects on adolescents remain misunderstood (Emery et al., 2016; Keightley et al., 2014; Limond, Dorris, & McMillan, 2009; McKinlay, 2010; Yeates, 2010). In addition, outcome measures are inconsistent (Davis et al., 2017) and are often based on cognitive testing or broad-based ratings of behavioural adjustment that may be insensitive to the true impact of mTBI (Lingsma et al., 2010; Petersen, Scherwath, Fink, & Koch, 2008; Satz, 2001). Furthermore, variations in the comparison groups used can contribute to inconsistent findings, as differences are often found between typically developing and OI controls (McCauley et al., 2013). Finally, little is known about cases who do not seek medical attention, which may be a large proportion of mTBI (Davis et al., 2017).

Outcomes following mTBI. Bearing in mind the above methodological issues, research pertaining to the various effects of mTBI during childhood and adolescence is now addressed, considering outcomes such as overall PCS, ongoing cognitive functional difficulties, psychological outcomes, behavioural sequelae, and academic impacts.

*Post-concussive symptoms*. Headaches, fatigue, dizziness and taking longer to think are the most common PCS reported by adolescents following mTBI (N = 235; Eisenberg, Meehan, & Mannix, 2014). The expected duration of symptoms for most children and adolescents is proposed to be four weeks (Barlow, Crawford, Brooks, Turley, & Mikrogianakis, 2015; Davis et al., 2017). However, growing evidence indicates that a large minority may remain symptomatic beyond this acute stage, with between 15% (Eisenberg et al., 2014) and 34% (N = 467; Barlow et al., 2015) of adolescents reporting ongoing PCS at 90 days post-injury. Adolescents seem to experience more symptoms, greater symptom severity

and a longer duration of symptoms than children or college students (Carson et al., 2014; Corwin et al., 2014; Davis et al., 2017; Purcell, Harvey, & Seabrook, 2016). The most consistent predictors of prolonged PCS recovery in paediatric mTBI are presence of headache, migraine history, female sex, presence of dizziness, previous mTBI, and being aged 13 years or older (Davis et al., 2017; Zemek et al., 2016). Sleep disturbance, which is also common post-mTBI (Kostyun, Milewski, & Hafeez, 2015), and premature return to school (Makki et al., 2016) may exacerbate PCS for adolescents.

Cognitive symptoms. The methodological weaknesses described above, in addition to inconsistencies in assessments used and intervals between injury and cognitive testing, have contributed to considerable variation in findings regarding the impact of paediatric mTBI on cognitive functioning. Just 17.8% of studies in one review (Lloyd et al., 2015) indicated adverse neuropsychological outcomes, with findings based on various paediatric age ranges, testing measures and duration since injuries. In addition, one study (Babikian et al., 2011) reported no evidence of cognitive impairment for youth aged 8 to 17 years 12 months following mTBI (n = 124), relative to OI (n = 94) and non-injury (n = 106) controls.

On the other hand, studies show that neuropsychological deficits, including processing speed, memory and reaction time, are common in adolescents in the initial two weeks following a sports concussion (Davis et al., 2017; Sim, Terryberry-Spohr, & Wilson, 2008; Thomas et al., 2011). Ongoing working memory deficits have been observed in children and adolescents compared to OI controls 3 and 12 months post-TBI (Sesma, Slomine, Ding, & McCarthy, 2008). Working memory may be worse for adolescents than other age groups, since one study (N = 96) revealed working memory deficits in adolescents that were absent in children and adults six months post-injury (Baillargeon et al., 2012).

A small body of evidence indicates the presence of neurofunctional deficits that might go undetected by measures commonly used in research, particularly within regions involved in executive functions (Baillargeon et al., 2012; Virji-Babul et al., 2014). Functional changes in the right inferior frontal gyrus and right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (involved in working memory, abstract reasoning, attention and other executive functions) were evident in adolescents an average of 26 days following concussion (Virji-Babul et al., 2014). Furthermore, Baillargeon and colleagues' (2012) investigation of event-related potentials revealed a reduction in the amplitude of the P3b in adolescents six months post-mTBI.

Emotional symptoms. Even mTBI can contribute to emotional problems for a young person. Positive associations are reported between paediatric mTBI and psychiatric diagnoses up to three years post-injury (AbdelMalik, Husted, Chow, & Bassett, 2003; Keightley, Côté, et al., 2014; Massagli et al., 2004). An increased risk of psychiatric problems is observed well into adulthood for adolescents exposed to mTBI, particularly for those injured after age 15 (Sariaslan et al., 2016).

In terms of specific problems, the greatest body of research is available for depression. Prevalence rates of depression in a cohort of 228 adolescents who sustained an mTBI aged between 14 and 17 years were reported as 6%, 4%, and 5% at 3, 12, and 24 months, respectively (O'Connor et al., 2012). Luis and Mittenberg (2002) reported that 21.4% of a small sample of 6 to 15 year olds (n = 42) met DSM-IV criteria for a novel mood disorder at six months post-mTBI, compared with 2.8% of an OI control group. Elsewhere, history of mTBI corresponded with a 3.2-fold greater risk for depression in comparison to adolescents who had never sustained a mTBI (Chrisman & Richardson, 2014). Chrisman and Richardson also reported the risk of depression as increased 1.5-fold for youth aged 15 to 17 years compared to those injured aged 12 to 14. Poorer sleep quality was found to be related to greater depressive symptoms in adolescents with mTBI (Tham, Fales, & Palermo, 2015). Rates of depression do not differ significantly amongst paediatric mTBI and injuries of greater severity (Max et al., 2012).

Comparatively less information is available regarding the presence of anxiety following youth mTBI. Over one third (35.7%) of Luis and Mittenberg's (2002) child and adolescent participants were reported to meet criteria for new anxiety disorders six months after an mTBI, compared with 11.4% of OI controls. Emery and colleagues' (2016) review concluded that youth (0 – 19 years old) who sustain a single mTBI are more likely to have elevated anxiety soon after their injury, but not necessarily in the long-term. Albicini and McKinlay (2015) indicated that anxiety is more problematic in cases of more severe injuries. It is thought that depression and anxiety may be organically based, but might also occur as secondary reactions to changes following mTBI, especially new restrictions to participation in school, sports or other activities important to a young person (Barlow et al., 2015; Emery et al., 2016; Keightley, Côté, et al., 2014).

Behaviour changes. Findings regarding the behavioural outcomes of paediatric mTBI are inconsistent, and research tends to span both children and adolescents. Some indicate that young people with mTBI are no more likely to demonstrate elevated behaviour problems than OI controls (Barker-Collo, 2007; Max et al., 2004; Peterson et al., 2013). On the contrary, one review found an increased risk for hyperactivity in children and adolescents compared to OI controls during the first year (Keightley, Côté, et al., 2014). Poorer behavioural outcomes following paediatric mTBI are associated with boys (Peterson et al., 2013; Segalowitz & Brown, 1991), as well as poor sleep quality (Theadom, Starkey, et al., 2016).

Academic and occupational outcomes. Although results are mixed, there is evidence that mTBI can lead to academic impairment. A comprehensive review indicated that between 35% and 73% of students experience school difficulty following a concussion (Davis et al., 2017). Further, just 4.4% of studies reviewed by Lloyd and colleagues (2015) indicated no adverse academic outcomes following mTBI in children and adolescents. Conversely, another review found no significant differences between the academic test scores of children

and adolescents with mTBI and their peers (Rozbacher, Selci, Leiter, Ellis, & Russell, 2017).

Adolescents appear more concerned about their academic performance than children post-mTBI (Davis et al., 2017), and high school students reported significantly more adverse academic effects of mTBI than those who are injured when younger (Ransom et al., 2015). With regard to long-term outcomes, a population-based study of over 1.1 million Swedish people found associations between exposure to mTBI early in life and low educational attainment, welfare recipiency, and receiving a disability pension as adults (Sariaslan et al., 2016). The authors reported poorer outcomes for recurrent TBIs and those injured between the age of 15 to 25 years.

**Summary.** Overall, the study of adolescent mTBI is considered complex and controversial, with persisting methodological issues giving rise to inconsistent reports regarding the outcomes of an injury sustained at this stage in development. However, the available evidence suggests that most young people recover from PCS within four weeks, while about one third continue to experience ongoing difficulties in the form of cognitive, emotional and behavioural problems. In addition, sustaining a paediatric mTBI may adversely affect short and long-term academic and occupational functioning, and outcomes may be worse for those injured during adolescence than childhood.

The next session addresses another expanding area of literature, that of the impact that pTBI can have on a young person's quality of life.

#### **Quality of Life following Paediatric TBI**

In recent decades, research on pTBI has increasingly sought to quantify the psychosocial implications of TBI in terms of health-related quality of life (HRQoL; Di Battista, Godfrey, Soo, Catroppa, & Anderson, 2014b; Di Battista et al., 2012; Fineblit, Selci, Loewen, Ellis, & Russell, 2016). HRQoL is a multidimensional construct that encompasses the connection between an injury or illness and an individual's subjective appraisal of their

subsequent physical, mental and social wellbeing (Di Battista et al., 2012; Dijkers, 2003, 2004; Theunissen et al., 1998).

Paediatric HRQoL findings. All of the research discussed refers to children and adolescents, as the literature addressing HRQoL specifically following adolescent TBI is lacking. A meta-analysis by Di Battista and colleagues (2012) reported that 56% of studies indicate an adverse impact of pTBI on HRQoL. More recent studies, including those with large cohorts (e.g., Rivara et al., 2011), multiple HRQoL measures (Di Battista, Godfrey, Soo, Catroppa, & Anderson, 2014a), OI controls with similar physical limitations (e.g., Stancin et al., 2002), and comparisons with normative populations (Limond et al., 2009), have shown that HRQoL is poor following pTBI. Cognitive, emotional and behavioural difficulties appear to impact the daily life of 40% to 43% of children and adolescents for one to five years following pTBI (Limond et al., 2009; McCarthy et al., 2006). Furthermore, longitudinal studies (Anderson, Brown, & Newitt, 2010; Anderson et al., 2009; Cattelani et al., 1998) demonstrate that adverse outcomes of pTBI may continue to impact HRQoL several years later, to affect and leisure functioning in adulthood.

HRQoL seems worse following more severe pTBI, particularly given the breadth of impact across multiple life domains (Di Battista et al., 2012). Nevertheless, a review of studies specific to HRQoL in paediatric mTBI reported that an important minority of youth experience diminished HRQoL in some domains one year following their injuries (Fineblit et al., 2016). Poorer outcomes related to older age at injury, lower socioeconomic status, worse cognitive symptoms and history of headaches or sleep problems (Fineblit et al., 2016).

*Issues with HRQoL research.* A number of factors, such as the timing of outcome assessments, how HRQoL is defined and measured, and the use of proxies, have created questions regarding the reliability of HRQoL and pTBI findings (Di Battista et al., 2012).

In terms of timing, studies that do not find HRQoL to be significantly affected by

pTBI are often based on data gathered during the first six months following an injury (Di Battista et al., 2012). The authors of this review warn that early assessments are likely to exclude factors associated with ongoing life challenges for a child or adolescent, particularly reintegration into school and social networks. There are also multiple conceptualisations of HRQoL, ranging from measurement based on achievement, subjective wellbeing, or on utility (see Dijkers, 2003, 2004), and a young person's life quality can differ greatly depending on which definition is applied. For instance, HRQoL emerged as five times worse in studies that measured 'QoL as achievement' (Di Battista et al., 2012). In addition, quantifying HRQoL in this way potentially fails to capture the essence of what most would consider the quality of their lives (Di Battista et al., 2012; Dijkers, 2003). This matter may be particularly salient for adolescents, since measurement of paediatric HRQoL often involves downward extension of measures developed for adults (Armstrong et al., 1999).

Di Battista and colleagues (2015) demonstrated the relevance of this concern by asking their adolescent sample to rate the significance of domain scores on the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory (PedsQL 4.0; Varni, Seid, & Kurtin, 2001) post-TBI. Although difficulty with concentration was the most endorsed life change following a TBI (reported by 7 of 10 participants), only two participants deemed this change as important to their quality of life. Likewise, no participant attributed significance to a common problem with memory. These findings highlight the limitations of assessments based on HRQoL measures, which may not provide much insight into anything more than the presence of a symptom or a functional change (Di Battista, Godfrey, Soo, Catroppa, & Anderson, 2015). Such data might be misinterpreted as detrimental to an adolescent, and fail to account for whether these changes are considered by the young person as impacting their lives (Di Battista et al., 2015).

The social implications of TBI were considered most important to the adolescents in Di Battista's (2015) study. Findings from group-based quantitative studies (Anderson et al.,

2010; Di Battista et al., 2014a, 2012; Erickson, Montague, & Gerstle, 2010; Martin & Falcone, 2008; Rivara et al., 2011) also note the significance of disrupted social processes to HRQoL following all severities of adolescent TBI. However, the social sections included in HRQoL measures fall short in capturing the nuance of the adolescent social experience (Di Battista et al., 2015).

The final issue with HRQoL measures is the use of proxy reporting. Assumptions that children and adolescents lack the appropriate language, cognitive capacity or insight to provide accurate self-reports have led to widespread use of parent proxy reports in paediatric research (Kirk, 2007; Theunissen et al., 1998). However, authors question if parents can comment accurately on a young person's internal difficulties (Barlow et al., 2015; Di Battista et al., 2012; Stevens et al., 2010; Theunissen et al., 1998). Studies commonly show little to no convergence between child and parent evaluations of difficulties following TBI (Erickson et al., 2010; Pieper & Garvan, 2015; Souza, Braga, Filho, & Dellatolas, 2007; Stancin et al., 2002), and parents' scores may reflect their own HRQoL or poor adjustment to the injury (Anderson et al., 2010; Brooks, 1991; Di Battista et al., 2014a; Eiser & Varni, 2013).

Summary. There is significant evidence to suggest that pTBI can impact HRQoL. However, limitations within the literature mean that many assumptions are made regarding what is important to adolescents and their recovery from TBI. Given the limited capacity for HRQoL measures to tap into the lived experiences of adolescents with TBI, the use of qualitative methodologies may represent a suitable alternative. The sections that follow address research that has employed qualitative methods to aid understanding of factors relating to the TBI experience that cannot be easily captured by quantitative measures.

### **Qualitative Research in TBI**

Qualitative study of adult TBI. Since Tyerman and Humphrey (1984) highlighted the validity of subjective TBI experiences, personal accounts of TBI have been increasingly

explored (Levack, Kayes, & Fadyl, 2010). Outcomes revealed as most important to adults in qualitative studies are often not captured by standardised measures commonly used (Levack et al., 2010; McPherson et al., 2018). Themes that commonly emerge from qualitative explorations of participant experiences of TBI include changes to one's identity or sense of self, impacts on social relationships and social identity, and recovery patterns.

The impact of TBI on the self. A sense of disconnection with one's identity (e.g., aspects of self, life, and prior aspirations) is common to many studies (e.g., Levack et al., 2010; McPherson et al., 2018; Nochi, 1998; Padilla, 2003). Struggles to keep up with life as before can impact post-injury adjustment and self-perception, as cognitive difficulties and fatigue place limitations on activities important for allowing individuals to live their lives (McPherson et al., 2018; Nochi, 1998; Paterson & Stewart, 2002; Theadom, Rowland, et al., 2016). Comparison of pre- and post-injury selves is common, and gives rise to a process of balancing the acceptance of aspects of the new self, and actively working to preserve or regain the old self (Levack et al., 2010; McPherson et al., 2018). Some anticipate a return to pre-injury selves, while others integrate changes into a modified identity (McPherson et al., 2018; Nochi, 2000; Shotton, Simpson, & Smith, 2007; Tyerman & Humphrey, 1984). Strong associations between affective distress and self-discrepancies have led to the suggestion that identity changes could account for psychological problems post-TBI (Cantor et al., 2005).

Impact on relationships. Individual narratives reveal that changes in social worlds up to 20 years post-TBI may vary from having few fulfilling relationships to enjoying mutually-satisfying relationships with co-workers, friends and family (Crisp, 1993). Paterson and Stewart (2002) discussed how cognitive and emotional problems gave rise to changed social worlds for their cohort over one year following mild to moderate TBI: Cognitive difficulties led to struggles with complex thinking, responding to multiple stimuli, and fatigue. This was associated with disrupted emotions (e.g., reduced tolerance for daily occurrences), reduced

social enjoyment and motivation to participate in activities. The result was a redefinition of self, as manifested in changes in interactions with family, friends and acquaintances, strained friendships, and outward changes in personality and behaviour (Paterson & Stewart, 2002). A number of studies acknowledge how the invisibility of TBI-related struggles contribute to one's social relationships following brain injury (Levack et al., 2010; McPherson et al., 2018; Paterson & Stewart, 2002). While invisibility can be protective, allowing some to maintain a sense of 'normality' (McPherson et al., 2018), it may also lead the sufferer to feel judged, misunderstood or invalidated by loved ones and professionals (Paterson & Stewart, 2002).

*Recovery.* Identity reconstruction has been suggested as a fundamental recovery process for an adult post-TBI (Levack et al., 2010; Nochi, 2000; Thomas, Levack, & Taylor, 2014). Thomas and colleagues (2014) portray this reconstruction of self as 'self-reflective meaning making', a highly individualistic process which relates to one's sense of meaning in life and provides motivation for goal-setting and future behaviour. Similarly, Nochi (2000) described how individuals construct themselves within narratives in order to support post-TBI adjustment, with 'being worthwhile because of the TBI' as one narrative theme.

This fits with the recent emergence of interest in post-traumatic growth (PTG) following TBI (Grace, Kinsella, Muldoon, & Fortune, 2015). PTG is the conception that a traumatic event, such as TBI, can be a meaningful experience that might alter an individual's values (e.g., priorities regarding what is important in life), beliefs (e.g., perception of one's competence or resilience), and behaviour (e.g., development of new interests) in multiple areas of life (Rogan, Fortune, & Prentice, 2013). The concept of PTG goes beyond coping with the impact of an injury to emphasise changes "that cut to the very core of our way of being in the world" (Joseph, 2011, p. 147).

The process of identity redevelopment seems protracted and cyclical (Muenchberger, Kendall, & Neal, 2008; Padilla, 2003; Thomas et al., 2014), beginning immediately following

the injury, to extend far beyond the period of functional recovery, and continuing indefinitely as the individual redefines themselves in the face of life's challenges (Muenchberger et al., 2008). Longer duration since sustaining TBI and milder disability are associated with more PTG experiences (McGrath & Linley, 2006; Powell, Gilson, & Collin, 2012).

Qualitative study of adolescent TBI. Qualitative exploration of the impact of TBI for adolescents is a relatively new field of study, with themes much less established than those within the adult research. This section addresses some of the emerging themes regarding processes that might occur for adolescents following TBI; namely, the persistence of PCS, the significance of social implications, impacts on family relationships and school, and recovery processes. Gaps in qualitative literature regarding adolescent experiences are then discussed.

The persistence of PCS. Interviews with adolescents, parents and professionals highlight the significance of persisting PCS for a young person one year after mTBI (Iadevaia, Roiger, & Zwart, 2015). The findings suggest that disruptions in cognitive abilities, sleep, fatigue, and emotional, behavioural and social functioning might adversely impact home and school life, and particularly emphasise the levels of frustration caused by an inability to participate in desired activities due to PCS.

The significance of social implications. Changes to social experiences are self-identified as the most important changes to adolescents following TBI (Di Battista et al., 2015; Mealings & Douglas, 2010; Rødset, 2008). Young people have reported that limitations placed on inclusion in activities due to PCS can cause them to feel left out, and adolescents are often eager to return to school and hobbies in order to resume friendships (Iadevaia et al., 2015; Mealings & Douglas, 2010; Rennie, 2015; Rosema et al., 2012; Sharp, Bye, Llewellyn, & Cusick, 2006).

Two-thirds of families observed a loss of friends for their adolescent post-TBI, and

professionals suggest that young people lose friends because the TBI has changed them (Gauvin-Lepage & Lefebvre, 2010). Some young people also report increased difficulty with making friends after their injury, even for those with mTBI (Di Battista et al., 2015). Changes in behaviour (e.g., lack of impulse control, difficulties comprehending social cues) may act as barriers for inclusion in severe cases (Rødset, 2008). As noted for adults, some authors suggest that cognitive changes might make coping with social demands more challenging; for instance, slowed thinking may mean increased difficulty keeping up with conversations (Rennie, 2015; Rødset, 2008). Some adolescents have noticed a change in personality, such as a tendency to be more emotionally reactive, and increased anxiety or hesitance to engage in social behaviours (Di Battista et al., 2014b; Rennie, 2015).

Impacts on family relationships. The unexpected nature of TBIs, the resulting cognitive, physical and affective difficulties, and the uncertain prognosis can be very unsettling to the lives of adolescents and their families (Di Battista et al., 2014b; Gauvin-Lepage & Lefebvre, 2010). Parents report increased confrontation within the family, which may be intensified by the young person's frustration at restrictions on engagement in normal activities (Iadevaia et al., 2015). Other children in the family may also become frustrated by their sibling's ongoing symptoms, or sibling rivalries might be intensified as the injured one gains more attention (Iadevaia et al., 2015). The adolescent might perceive their role within the family as altered, particularly in terms of perceived independence, given increased post-TBI reliance on family members (Di Battista et al., 2014b; Ocampo & Dawson, 1997).

Parents might be more protective after the accident or experience guilt, or the adolescent's injury may create stronger bonds in the family (Gauvin-Lepage & Lefebvre, 2010).

*Impacts on school.* Although academic outcomes have not emerged from qualitative data as priorities for those who have experienced mild or moderate TBI, young people with severe injuries report difficulty adjusting to imposed changes. These include acknowledging

and accommodating for changed abilities or needing increased effort to achieve academic results, and loss of certainty regarding future opportunities (Mealings & Douglas, 2010; Rødset, 2008; Sharp et al., 2006).

Recovery processes. Common external (e.g., social inclusion and support) and internal (e.g., personal growth processes) factors for coping are touched upon in adolescent narratives. Firstly, there appears to be agreement amongst adolescents, parents, and healthcare professionals alike regarding the positive effect of friendships and social inclusion on recovery following brain injury (Gauvin-Lepage & Lefebvre, 2010; Iadevaia et al., 2015). Youth say that retaining meaningful social groups and teammate relationships provides a rich source of support (Di Battista et al., 2014a; Iadevaia et al., 2015; Mealings & Douglas, 2010).

Young participants often name ongoing support from family members (e.g., parents being present and motivating) as important for post-TBI adjustment (Di Battista et al., 2014a; Iadevaia et al., 2015; Mealings & Douglas, 2010; Rødset, 2008), which is consistent with quantitative evidence for the protective role of family support in recovery (Holland & Schmidt, 2015; Savage et al., 2005). Sibling relationships and similar-aged relatives can be helpful for adolescents who lack friends (Gauvin-Lepage & Lefebvre, 2010; Rennie, 2015).

PTG processes have been observed in young people's narratives of TBI experiences. As with adults, reflecting on experiences might enable insight into the positive impact of TBI, despite the difficulties endured (Di Battista et al., 2014b). The experience of TBI contributed to a positive shift in some adolescents' view of the world (Mealings & Douglas, 2010), and to a change in goals, aspirations and life trajectory for others (Di Battista et al., 2014b). Finding meaning in the injury, or developing belief in a higher purpose (Mealings & Douglas, 2010; Rennie, 2015; Rødset, 2008), maintaining optimism and getting on with life (Rødset, 2008) were all mentioned as important for coping. Integrating discrepancies between pre-injury pursuits and limitations posed by post-injury capabilities, young people have been seen to

integrate both positive and negative aspects of sustaining a TBI, and tended to report a happy life, not wishing to be defined by their injuries (Di Battista et al., 2014b).

Gaps in qualitative literature regarding adolescent TBI. Levack and colleagues (2010) identified 23 qualitative studies of sufficient quality to meet criteria for their metasynthesis on adult TBI experiences. Indeed, the number of quality studies available on this matter has grown substantively in the subsequent ten years. In contrast, only seven studies could be identified which come close to addressing adolescent perspectives in a similar way (Di Battista et al., 2014b; Gauvin-Lepage & Lefebvre, 2010; Iadevaia et al., 2015; Mealings & Douglas, 2010; Rennie, 2015; Rødset, 2008; Sharp et al., 2006). These studies are limited by reasonably small samples (i.e., n = 3-10), and either report on short-term outcomes (i.e., <18 months post-TBI), or include a sample reflecting extremely broad variations in the interval between injury and research participation. No qualitative study was identified that considered long-term processes extending beyond the adolescent period.

Furthermore, three studies (Mealings & Douglas, 2010; Rødset, 2008; Sharp et al., 2006) limit their exploration to school return for adolescents with severe TBI, one focussed on social inclusion of those with moderate injuries (Gauvin-Lepage & Lefebvre, 2010), and another addressed only those with sports concussion (Iadevaia et al., 2015). The only study identified that broadly explored adolescent outcomes from various severities (Di Battista et al., 2014b) included participants injured during childhood and had vast variation in time since injury (i.e., 1-10 years). Three studies (Gauvin-Lepage & Lefebvre, 2010; Iadevaia et al., 2015; Rennie, 2015) also included the opinions of parents or professionals, which may have obscured information regarding what young people themselves considered most salient. Finally, two studies (Di Battista et al., 2014b; Rennie, 2015) used mixed methods, with the qualitative element discussed in the context of the quantitative data obtained. Thus, there is a clear need for broad qualitative research that explores the adolescent-specific experience of

TBI, and especially that considers long-term processes as the young person faces the challenges associated with transitioning to adulthood.

### **Conclusion and Overview of the Current Study**

Adolescents are at particular risk of sustaining TBI, particularly in NZ. Findings from quantitative research indicate that despite youth and neuroplasticity, TBI can result in ongoing adverse outcomes with regard to cognition, behaviour, psychological wellbeing, academic and occupational performance, social participation and overall quality of life. However, reliance on traditional quantitative measurement may limit our understanding of the adolescent experience of TBI and its true impact on domains of life most important to a young person, and offers little insight into coping and recovery processes.

An ever-expanding body of qualitative research with adults has provided insights regarding matters relating to TBI that are difficult to measure quantitatively, such as the profound impact TBI can have on one's sense of self. Unfortunately, there is little qualitative literature available for adolescents. The adolescent developmental stage sees increasingly complex social pressures as the young person strives to discover who they are and where they fit in society, to facilitate transitioning to adulthood. Sustaining a TBI during this critical period of development might impact upon these processes; particularly given that self-perception and identity seem central to recovery from an adult TBI. Little is known about how these identity processes play out during adolescence, when the young person's identity is still forming. With little research focused on the adolescent period, the paucity of information available incorporating the transition to adulthood substantially limits our ability to support individuals to achieve optimum long-term outcomes post-TBI.

The present study. This exploratory study utilises a qualitative stance to gain an indepth understanding of adolescent-specific experiences of TBI and recovery in the context of long-term (7–8 year) adjustment to adulthood. It focuses on the following broad questions:

- 1. What might it be like to experience a TBI as an adolescent?
- 2. How might sustaining a TBI during this critical stage of development impact upon a young person's life, long-term wellbeing and adjustment to adulthood, if at all?
- 3. What do young people perceive as helpful/unhelpful to recovery from an adolescent TBI?

At the time of writing, this was the first known study to explore the perspectives of young people who experienced a TBI specifically during the teenage years (i.e., aged 13–17 years), who have already entered early adulthood at the time of the research (i.e., aged 20–25 years), and for whom a consistent time period has lapsed (i.e., approximately 7–8 years) since injury. To the author's knowledge, this will also be the first study to explore experiences of young New Zealanders who have experienced a TBI from a qualitative perspective.

## **Chapter Two: Methodology and Methods**

This study explores the individual perspectives of young people who experienced a traumatic brain injury (TBI) during early adolescence. This chapter will outline the study's methodology, by describing the value of a qualitative approach, the researcher's personal perspective entering the research, the research design, the sample, procedure, and steps taken to ensure quality and ethical practice throughout the study.

### **Qualitative Research**

The methodological approach that is employed in a study, usually dichotomised into the categories of quantitative or qualitative research, can have a significant impact on the kind of information that is uncovered (Camic, Rhodes, & Yardley, 2003). Where quantitative research is nomothetic and seeks out generalisable behavioural patterns in large samples, qualitative research is idiographic and aims to make knowledge claims about very few individuals or groups (Marecek, 2004; Morrow, 2007; Ponterotto, 2005). Quantitative research takes an 'etic' perspective, such that findings are placed into categories that have

been predetermined by the 'outsider' researcher (Morrow, 2007; Ponterotto, 2005).

Conversely, qualitative research seeks to understand the holistic nature of human experiences (Chwalisz, Shah, & Hand, 2008), and derives categories from the data, which are based on the 'insider' or 'emic' perspective of participants (Hammersley, 2013; Morrow, 2007).

There is broad heterogeneity in how individuals recover following a TBI (Lingsma et al., 2010), and outcomes may be best improved if professionals seek to understand individual experiences and avoid making assumptions about what is considered most meaningful to a person's recovery (McPherson et al., 2018; Snell, Macleod, & Anderson, 2016). Qualitative research regards participants as intentional agents, who are actively engaged in making sense of their lives (Marecek, 2004), and this approach is thus ideal for developing understanding of the subjective meanings individuals make from their experiences (Camic et al., 2003).

Researchers have sought to understand individual adult TBI experiences since the 1980s (Tyerman & Humphrey, 1984), with an extensive body of qualitative literature now available and adding tremendously to what is known regarding patient perspectives and adult priorities for recovery (e.g., Levack et al., 2010; Thomas et al., 2014; McPherson et al., 2017). Considering the specific developmental needs and challenges faced by adolescents, it cannot be assumed that the same themes apply to adolescent TBI experiences. Young people, overall, are afforded less opportunity than adults to have their opinions attended to (Hinshaw, 2005), and increased inclusion of adolescents in research is deemed crucial, so that their priorities are integrated into designs for support services (Dick & Ferguson, 2015; WHO, 2017). The dominance of quantitative research in child and adolescent TBI has meant that little is known about what young people themselves consider important following such an injury. Thus, seeking the reflections of young people regarding their experiences of adolescent TBI could provide a unique perspective on what may be important for recovery at this stage of life, thereby, aiding the provision of age-appropriate healthcare services.

### The Perspective of the Researcher

Qualitative research is a 'stance' (Marecek, 2004) that incorporates the researcher's perspective on how best to study the world and on how humans construct and make sense of their world (Hammersley, 2013). In this section, I locate my research in a guiding paradigm, critical realism, before describing my personal orientation and the perspectives that have influenced how and why I have approached this research topic (Morrow, 2005).

Critical realist paradigm. A paradigm may be seen as a 'net' that reflects a researcher's assumptions in relation to ontology (which asks 'what is the nature of reality?'), epistemology (i.e., regarding how that reality can be known), and axiology (i.e., the role of values in the research process), and has an impact on how the research question is approached and the methodology employed (Chwalisz et al., 2008; Morrow, 2007; Ponterotto, 2005; Twining, Heller, Nussbaum, & Tsai, 2017). Here, a critical realist paradigm was applied. Critical realism falls between the extremes of essentialism (or realism) and constructionism. Essentialism might report on experiences and meanings of participants as reality or truth, whereas the constructionist approach perceives such experiences and meanings as products of the discourses that operate within society (Braun & Clarke, 2013; Twining et al., 2017). Critical realism "assumes an ultimate reality, but claims that the way reality is experienced and interpreted is shaped by culture, language and political interests" (Braun & Clarke, 2013, pp.329). It acknowledges a reality beyond individuals, without overestimating how much can be known about that reality (Porter, 2002).

Critical realism was considered an appropriate lens through which to explore the current research question, since this stance acknowledges that there are certain measurable 'truths' regarding sustaining a brain injury (e.g., neurological damage), whilst recognising the limitations of how we come to understand such truths. First engaging with the literature allowed me to formulate a picture of what is currently thought to be known about the

experience of TBI during adolescence. Although prior findings and theories aided the development of broad areas of inquiry for this study, I could hold these theories amongst some of the possible 'truths' regarding the experience of adolescent TBI. In this way, critical realism allowed me to contemplate how participants ascribed meanings to their experiences of TBI and consider the influence of contextual factors on those meanings.

**Personal orientation.** Qualitative research has grown to embrace the role of the 'researcher-self', and takes advantage of the relationship that arises within the research setting, which sees both researcher and participant inevitably influencing the findings (Camic et al., 2003; Coffey, 2002; Hammersley, 2013). Taking a reflexive stance, acknowledging and disclosing one's personal orientation (e.g., social position, experience with the chosen topic) is an important element in demonstrating researcher credibility, by enabling the reader to allow for the effects of such factors (Hammersley, 2013; Morrow, 2005; Patton, 1999).

I am a white Irish woman who moved to NZ at the age of 22, and was aged 28 to 30 years over the course of this research. I spent the eight years prior to commencing my Doctorate in Clinical Psychology working with children and young people in various roles within mental health, drug and alcohol treatment, and autism specialist services in the UK and NZ. This background enabled me to develop empathy for the unique position of young people, and to occupy a stance akin to that described in The World Health Organisation report, *Health for the World's Adolescents (H4WA): A Second Chance in the Second Decade* (Dick & Ferguson, 2015; The WHO, 2017), that support at this stage of life could have significant and enduring implications for a young person, as well as for society.

The H4WA also endorses a positive youth perspective, viewing young people as resilient, with the potential to maximise the opportunities offered by the social circumstances of their generation. I entered this research with a similar youth empowerment stance. I felt disappointed by the prevalence of problem-focused themes within the broader literature

regarding adolescent TBI and questioned whether such a discourse may serve more to stunt than empower a young person's development and recovery following TBI. With this research, I hoped to broaden the discussion to include themes of resilience and optimism amongst youth stories of TBI.

**Power.** Any research with people is inherently based on unequal power relationships (Guariento, 2010; Mero-Jaffe, 2011), and the concept of power has become increasingly prominent in youth research (Spencer & Doull, 2015). Most societies are perceived as adult-centred, and this unequal power distribution is replicated in the research setting (Kirk, 2007; Schelbe, Chanmugam, Moses, & Saltzburg, 2015). Throughout this research, I have reflected on how my position as a white, adult, trainee psychologist and doctoral student (all positions of relative power) might have impacted participants engagement with the research.

Reflexivity practices also allowed me to monitor how my assumptions about young people might influence the interviews, my interpretation of data and reporting of findings. However, I recognise that reflexivity would not resolve the impact of power, privilege and perspective (Kirk, 2007; May & Skegg, 2012).

Power relationships with young people are more complex than the notion that the adult researcher 'has' power, and might empower a younger participant by 'giving' them a voice (Davidson, 2017). I have approached this research, not from the position that participant views were 'collected', but with an emphasis on power and 'voice' as a social, relational and interactive process (Davidson, 2017; Gallagher, 2008; Harden, Scott, Backett-Milburn, & Jackson, 2000; Komulainen, 2007). I sought to avoid telling participant stories in such a way that they have become *my* story (May & Skegg, 2012).

**Reflexivity practices.** My reflexivity practice involved keeping notebooks throughout the project, one in which to record field notes (i.e., observations and thoughts related directly to the research and data), and another to reflect on personal feelings and experiences. Such

introspection allowed me to consider how factors such as my social position and values influenced the project, and particularly decisions made regarding the topic, procedures, and interpretation of data.

### **Research Design**

This research involved semi-structured interviews, the most common method of collecting qualitative data (Doody & Noonan, 2013) and reportedly the most useful way to understand the meanings people make of their experiences (Morrow, 2007). Interview data were interpreted using thematic analysis, an uncomplicated, flexible, method of analysis which involves the search for themes across a dataset (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

Recruitment. All participants were recruited from the BIONIC (Brain Injury Outcomes New Zealand in the Community) study cohort. The BIONIC study investigated the incidence and 12-month outcomes of all cases of TBI occurring in the Hamilton and Waikato districts between 1<sup>st</sup> March 2010 and 28<sup>th</sup> February 2011 (Feigin et al., 2013). The sample region captured a general population of 173, 208 urban and rural residents considered to be representative of New Zealand as a whole (Statistics New Zealand, 2013). In total, 1,369 cases of TBI were identified, and consenting participants were assessed at baseline, and at 1, 6 and 12 months post-injury (Feigin et al., 2013). A comprehensive description of study methodology is available (Theadom et al., 2012).

BIONIC participants aged 1 to 15 years at the time of injury were then invited to join the COBIC study (Child Outcomes of Brain Injury in the Community; Jones et al., 2018, 2019; Starkey et al., 2018), which involved a longer term follow-up of children and younger adolescents within the BIONIC sample. COBIC replicated and supplemented the information gathered in the BIONIC study, collecting data at two- and four-years post-injury. In addition, BIONIC4You (Brain Injury Outcomes New Zealand in the Community: 4 Year Outcomes;

Theadom et al., 2017) followed-up consenting participants who were aged 16 and over at injury, examining the four-year outcomes of TBI in older adolescents and adults.

The present study sought to recruit those aged 13 to 17 at the time of their initial BIONIC injury, since participants in this group were attending high school at the time and thus might be considered most representative of the 'typical' adolescent. Demographic and contact details were obtained for participants within this age range from the COBIC (i.e., those aged ≤15 years at injury) and BIONIC4You (i.e., those aged ≥16 at injury) research cohorts. A total of 51 individuals aged 13 to 17 at injury were identified as consenting for participation in future research. It is acknowledged that recruiting participants in this way created inevitable sampling bias. For example, given the seven- to eight-year lapse since the initial BIONIC study, many participants would have dropped out of the research. Māori had a disproportionate drop-out rate, thus were underrepresented within the sample, which was unfortunate considering the relatively higher prevalence of TBI within the young NZ Māori population (Feigin et al., 2013). Purposeful sampling was used to select participants who varied with regard to ethnicity, age, gender, injury severity, and rural/urban location, so as to maximise the richness of data obtained (Chwalisz et al., 2008; Twining et al., 2017).

Letters of invitation to participate (Appendix A) and participant information sheets (PIS; Appendix C) were sent to potential participants. In order to promote recruitment of Māori participants, separate versions of the letter and PIS, incorporating Māori terminology, were developed (Appendices B and D, respectively). Ethnicity was self-reported within the BIONIC database from which participants were sourced. Invitation letters described the research, explained why the individual was being invited to participate and that they would be telephoned to inquire whether they were willing to take part in an interview regarding their TBI experience. An opt-out clause was included, allowing participants to contact the researcher first if they did not wish to be telephoned. The PIS contained further information

regarding the study (i.e., the purpose of the research, the nature of participation, how data might be used, and how to withdraw data). A total of 35 invitations to participate were sent.

At least two weeks following postage of the letters, potential participants were contacted individually by telephone to inquire if they would like to participate. Telephone contact was made with 21 participants; the remaining 14 were uncontactable. When telephoned, participants were generally willing to participate in the research. Eight declined, offering reasons such as being busy with university or having moved overseas. Once participants agreed to engage in an interview, a time and location were arranged by telephone, text message or e-mail. Recruitment continued until ongoing analysis suggested that the study had reached theoretical saturation, that is, the point where themes appeared rich and fleshed out, and no new themes were evident (Nutt Williams, Morrow, Williams, & Morrow, 2009). A total of 13 individuals were recruited over a 12-month period.

Participants. The 13 participants recruited met the following inclusion criteria: (1) aged 13 – 17 years at the time of injury, (2) previously identified as willing to be contacted for future research, (3) were contactable, and (4) provided informed consent to participate. As seen in Table 1, 5 participants were female, and 8 were male. Participant ages ranged between 13 years 2 months and 17 years 11 months (mean = 15 years, 4 months) at the time of injury, and between 20 years 6 months and 25 years 8 months (mean = 23 years, 0 months) at interview. An average of 7 years 8 months (range = 6 years, 8 months – 8 years, 4 months) had passed since the TBI included in the initial BIONIC study had occurred. Almost half (n = 6) of the participants reported sustaining more than one TBI during adolescence. The age at which the index BIONIC injury occurred is underlined in these cases. While 1 of the BIONIC recorded injuries was classified as moderate, the remaining 12 were classified as mild. Two participants lived rurally, whilst eleven were from an urban centre. Eleven identified as New Zealand European, one as Māori, and one Samoan.

Table 1

Participant and injury details

"Name"	Gender	Age at injuries	Age at interview	Time since injury	Number of reported injuries	Injury Mechanism	Education level
Brandon	M	13y 2m	20y 6m	7y 5m	1, mild	Motor vehicle accident	Year 3 of bachelors (hons), engineering
Rachel	F	13y 6m	20y 11m	7y 5m	1, mild	Sport	Year 4 of bachelors (hons), engineering
Nick	M	11y; <u>13y 10m</u>	20y 6m	6y 8m	2, mild	Cycling; sport	Year 3 of bachelors, healthcare
Danielle	F	14y, 6m	22y 5m	7y 11m	1, mild	Motor vehicle accident	Bachelors, healthcare
Adam	M	<u>14y 9m;</u> 17y	22y 7m	7y 10m	2, mild	Cycling; sport	Undergoing trade apprenticeship
Amy	F	14y, 9m	22y 3m	7y 6m	1, mild	Sport	Bachelors (hons), healthcare
Dylan	M	<u>15y 2m;</u> 15y; 16y; 17y	23y	7y 10m	4, mild	Sport; assault	Bachelors, healthcare
Samuel	M	<u>15y 7m;</u> 17y	23y 5m	7y 9m	2, mild	Sport	Trade qualification
Matthew	M	<u>15y 10m;</u> 19y	23y 10m	8y	2, mild	Motor vehicle vs. bicycle	Completed high school
Ethan	M	16y 6m	23y 11m	7y 5m	1, mild	Motor vehicle accident	Certificate (Level 3), trades
Ryan	M	17y 4m	24y 11m	7y 7m	1, moderate	Motor vehicle vs. bicycle	First year diploma, IT
Talia	F	<u>17y 1m;</u> 19y; 19y; 19y	25y 5m	8y 4m	4, mild	Assault; self-harm	Completed high school
Lauren	F	17y 11m	25y 8m	7y 9m	2, mild	Sport	Bachelors (hons), healthcare
Mean		15 y 4m	23y 0m	7y 8m			

*Notes*. Participant names have been changed to preserve anonymity and to make the reading of the findings more sensible. Underlined ages represent the age at the injury that prompted inclusion in the Brain Injury Outcomes New Zealand in the Community (BIONIC) study.

**Data collection.** All interviews were conducted by the primary researcher and were held at each participant's place of residence or at a local café or University, whichever was most convenient to the participant. Interviews began with informal rapport building, followed by a brief explanation of the research and interview framework, a discussion of the PIS, opportunities to ask questions, and signing of a consent form (Appendix E). Participants were given a copy of the PIS and consent form to keep. Participants were thanked with a koha/compensation, which was a choice of a movie or supermarket voucher valued at \$20 at the conclusion of the interview. Interviews varied in duration (range = 35 – 100 minutes; mean = 58 minutes). All interviews were audio recorded. Interviews were carried out individually. Two of the participants' mothers were present for a small part of their interviews at the participants' request, and they made minor contributions. Family members were not considered participants themselves and their quotes were not included in the analysis, but important information was used indirectly via the researcher's field notes.

Data were collected following the recommended procedure for semi-structured interviews (Chwalisz et al., 2008; Doody & Noonan, 2013). An interview schedule (Appendix F) was devised surrounding several areas of inquiry elicited from the prior literature summarised in Chapter One. To provoke breadth and depth in responses, the interview schedule was deliberately wide-ranging and consisted of open-ended questions (Morrow, 2007). Interview questions were used flexibly, were omitted, adapted or elaborated upon according to the demands of each individual interview. The researcher usually began with an open comment, such as "tell me about the brain injury you had", before asking further open questions related to matters initiated by the participant. The 'naïve' inquirer position was assumed, where the interviewer presented as professional and knowledgeable, but less knowledgeable than the participant regarding the interview topic, and sought concrete examples from the participant's life rather than questioning theoretical ideas

(Hermanns, 2008; Leech, 2002). Further elaboration was encouraged with prompts, such as "can you tell me more about that?", "what do you mean by ...?", and "can you give me an example?".

**Data analysis.** Interview recordings were listened to at least twice and then transcribed by the primary researcher, with support from a professional transcriptionist (who transcribed four interviews). The accuracy of all transcripts was checked back against the audio recordings at least twice. Transcriptions were then entered into a qualitative data analysis computer software package (NVivo; as described in Bazeley & Jackson, 2013; Silver & Lewins, 2014) in PDF format.

Analysis began inductively, deriving themes from the data themselves, rather than attempting to validate prior research or theory (Srivastava & Hopwood, 2009). A reflexive iterative approach was applied, which involved recursively moving back and forth through the dataset and the steps described below (Srivastava & Hopwood, 2009; Twining et al., 2017). Reading and rereading transcripts allowed continual checking of emerging insights against the data, thereby refining and progressively focussing the patterns. Thematic analysis was conducted using Braun and Clarke's (2006, 2017) six-phase approach, as follows:

- 1. Familiarisation with the data. Analysis began with reading and rereading the entire dataset to familiarise myself with the depth of its content. Notes were taken on possible patterns within the data and an initial list of ideas regarding what seemed noteworthy was generated.
- 2. Coding. Based on the initial list, several potential categories/codes within NVivo were derived, each identifying an important feature of the data which might become relevant to answering the research questions. Sections of text within each interview transcript were collated within NVivo files that represented each code. Upon completion of this phase, there were 59 codes, and 88% of the data had been allocated to at least one category.

- 3. Searching for themes. Next, codes were printed, and different coloured highlighters were used to consider the relationship amongst the listed codes. Codes were sorted into potential themes and categories of themes based on broader patterns. Relevant data extracts were collated within each candidate theme.
- 4. Reviewing and refining themes. The significance of each theme was considered by checking candidate themes against the dataset and questioning if a theme captured the essence of a meaningful pattern in the data. In this way, themes were refined, combined, separated or discarded. A thematic map was developed and used to review and refine coding until the map seemed to accurately reflect meanings evident in the dataset. This phase resulted in 16 themes within 5 categories, as depicted in the thematic map in Appendix G.
- 5. Defining and naming themes. The focus of individual themes was considered, and themes were further refined as writing commenced. This resulted in 5 categories which looked somewhat different to the original, and now contained 20 themes. These final themes are listed in Table 2 at the beginning of Chapter Three. A detailed analytic narrative was then written for each theme, which sought to identify the story of each theme and how it fit within the broader story of the data.
- 6. Writing up the analysis. The analytic narrative was woven with data extracts in a way that would convey what was interesting about the data. Data extracts that most appropriately captured the essence of each theme were chosen. Extracts were cleaned by removing identifiers, repetitions and redundant discourse markers. Removed words in quotes were replaced by an ellipsis. Finally, a discussion section was composed, in which the analysis was contextualised in relation to existing literature.

### **Quality and Rigour**

Striving for the highest possible quality is a crucial factor in conducting research (Cope, 2014). However, the divergent methodological, ontological and epistemological

assumptions regarding how phenomena can be understood creates challenges for judging the quality of qualitative research (Hammersley, 2007; Twining et al., 2017). Rather than seeking reliability or validity statistics, concepts more suited to research situated in realist perspectives, rigour is often spoken about in qualitative research in terms of 'trustworthiness' (Twining et al., 2017). It is not reasonable to apply a single set of criteria for achieving trustworthiness across qualitative approaches (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Twining et al., 2017). Therefore, suggestions offered by a number of authors (Chwalisz et al., 2008; Nutt Williams et al., 2009; Twining et al., 2017) were used in designing and conducting this study, in an effort to demonstrate the integrity of the data and the credibility of the study.

Demonstrating the integrity of the data. A crucial element of allowing a reader to judge the trustworthiness of a study is making visible the details of data and how they were obtained (Nutt Williams et al., 2009; Santiago-Delefosse, Gavin, Bruchez, Roux, & Stephen, 2016). Thus, an attempt was made to demonstrate that data of sufficient quality and quantity have been gathered from a sample that was adequately diverse to offer a variety of viewpoints (Sandelowski, 1995). Trustworthiness may also be attained through thoroughly describing and referencing the research design, recruitment process, interview protocol, and any personal biases that might impact these (Nutt Williams et al., 2009; Twining et al., 2017). A rich description of the research setting and of participants was important for enabling the reader to ascertain the relevance of findings within other contexts (Chwalisz et al., 2008).

Credibility. The credibility or 'truth value' of research findings relates to how congruent reported findings are with participant experiences (Chwalisz et al., 2008). Nutt Williams and Morrow (2009) described this in terms of balancing "perspective and meaning", where research findings are deemed the product of a "mutual construction of meaning" (p. 579). I have acknowledged my consideration of the subjectivity of qualitative data collection and analysis, and attempted to verify credibility in several ways:

- 1. Reflexivity practices.
- 2. Clarifying participant meanings during interviews (Chwalisz et al., 2008) and offering participants the opportunity to review the transcribed data retrospectively.
- 3. Searching for alternative patterns helped me to challenge my own views and avoid overly simplistic interpretations of the data (Morrow, 2005; Patton, 1999).
- 4. I sought to broaden my interpretations by engaging in discussions with supervisors and members of a qualitative research peer group (Hill et al., 2005).
- 5. In forming the discussion, I applied theoretical triangulation (i.e., interpreting the findings from the perspectives of multiple theories) so as to examine how data and interpretations may be understood from various perspectives (Chwalisz et al., 2008; Patton, 1999).

### **Ethical considerations**

Ethical approval for the study was obtained from the University of Auckland Human Participants Ethics Committee (Reference Number 019641). Ethical considerations included the preservation of confidentiality, power differentials in youth research, cultural responsivity, and the potential for participant distress.

Confidentiality. Participants' information was protected by the anonymisation of data, as each participant was assigned a unique codename to which they were referred throughout the analysis. While displaying participant quotes might increase the possibility of identification (Braun & Clarke, 2013), examples were selected in a way that would retain the richness and the meaning of the information, without revealing details regarding the participants (Guenther, 2009). There were also times where potentially identifying information (e.g., professions) was removed from a quotation.

**Cultural responsivity.** It was hoped that a participant sample could be recruited that reflected the diverse population of NZ (Statistics New Zealand, 2013). Thus, every attempt

was made to devise a culturally appropriate research protocol, to minimise power differentials throughout the recruitment and data collection phases, and to ensure that interpretation of data remained true to various cultural perspectives as much as possible. Given the particular vulnerability of Māori in society and the prevalence of TBI amongst Māori, a Māori Clinical Neuropsychologist and TBI researcher within the University of Auckland was consulted, in addition to a Cultural Consultant at a service providing rehabilitation for individuals with TBI. A set of guidelines for Māori research ethics (Hudson, Milne, Reynolds, Russell, & Smith, 2010) were also consulted and followed.

Potential for distress. A response plan was devised in the unlikely event that a participant became distressed during their interview. This involved providing brochures and helplines regarding available support, or encouraging participants speak with family or a GP, and the researcher would be available to support with these discussions if the participant wished. The researcher also telephoned participants one week following the interviews to check their feelings regarding disclosures. In addition, it was hoped that the participants might gain from the opportunity to speak about their experiences. Interviews with adults from the BIONIC research cohort reported that engagement in research provided time for reflection, that answering questions about their experience of brain injury facilitated understanding of their injury and provided greater insight regarding how it affected them (Theadom, Fadyl, Hollands, Foster, & McPherson, 2014).

#### Conclusion

In summary, this research uses a qualitative approach to explore the experiences of 13 young adults who sustained a traumatic brain injury in during adolescence. Thematic analysis of semi-structured interviews was employed, and informed by the researcher's critical realist paradigm and youth empowerment stance. The chapter that follows describes the findings from an analysis of the data obtained.

# **Chapter Three: Findings**

In this chapter, the key themes that resulted from the thematic analysis of interview data are presented. As illustrated in Table 2, themes fell into five main categories, relating to the direct impact of the brain injury, impacts on important areas of life, impacts on identity, individual resources for coping and social resources for coping. The names referred to are not participants real names as these have been changed to preserve anonymity.

Table 2
Summary of key themes

Summary of key themes					
Category	Themes				
	Waking up: 'There's a little chunk of time gone'				
The direct impact of	Feeling unwell and overwhelmed: 'I was fairly concussed'				
the brain injury	Headaches never quite went away: 'I had migraines so severe'				
the brain injury	Feeling exhausted: 'I'm always tired'				
	Not being able to think: 'Your brain's no longer quite there'				
	Schoolwork suffered: 'It got pretty downhill at school'				
Impacts on important	Career opportunities changed: 'Your options become limited'				
areas of life	Struggling with work: 'What if I don't have what they want?'				
	Things changed socially: 'The most alone I had ever felt'				
	Changes to school identity: 'I thought I was stupid'				
Impacts on identity	Feeling self-conscious: 'Being the weird kid'				
impacts on identity	Social identity was permanently altered: 'Losing where I fit in'				
	Being dependent: Having to rely on family and friends				
	Learning to cope with difficulties: 'Just getting on with it'				
Individual resources	Seeking acceptance and balance: 'You can't make your brain heal				
for coping	faster'				
	Finding Meaning: 'You can either come out bitter or better'				
	Feeling included: 'I had a really good friends' network'				
Social resources for	Relying on family: 'I don't know where I'd be without my parents'				
	Professionals didn't get it: 'Left in the dark to find your own way'				
coping	Lacking someone who understands: 'Somebody to talk to might have				
	helped'				

### **Category One: The Direct Impact of the Brain Injury**

This first category initially addresses the participants' descriptions of the immediate experience of 'waking up' or realising they had sustained a TBI. What follows is an exploration of participants' described experiences of 'concussion'. Three further themes convey the ways in which participants felt unwell and unable to function on a more long-term basis due to their injuries; specifically, the experience of migraines, fatigue and difficulties with thinking are explored.

Waking up: 'There's a little chunk of time gone'. The first impact of the TBI, for most participants, was felt in the immediate aftermath, as they were knocked out, woke up, and attempted to make sense of what had occurred. Some recalled waking up on the ground soon after being knocked out, and described a sense of exposure or vulnerability as they noticed people standing around them. For Nick, waking up having been "knocked out for a couple of minutes" was experienced as quite frightening:

Yeah, that was a very, very scary experience. I think because I was in Year 10 or Fourth Form, and I was surrounded by about 50 other people of my age, and I woke up in tears, because I was like, 'Oh I don't know what's going on' and everyone standing around me. Everyone is like, 'Woah, what's just happened?' you know. And, ah that was scary for me. Scary knowing that something had happened. Can't remember what happened. There's a little chunk of time gone, and I'm on the ground.

For others, waking up was not so immediate and a few participants vividly recalled being 'out of it' during the hours or days following their injuries. They spoke about how, in this time, they had gradually regained full awareness of what was going on around them, whilst trying to recover some kind of memory of their injury. Matthew could not recall the incident but remembered his subsequent three- or four-day hospital stay, "I just remember waking up in hospital with doctors all around me, and yeah, I can't remember that day at all". Other participants had pieced together what had happened, but continued to experience

gaps in their memory of the period surrounding their injury, such as Talia, who said her "memory is quite broken from that bit of time".

Ryan, who sustained the only 'moderate' injury of the sample, shared how he had woken up gradually across his one and a half week stay in hospital. He described being "in a state they call like an awake coma or something, 'cause I'd be able to talk to people, but I had no idea what was going on". With gaps in their recollection of the events that caused their injuries, many participants depended on second-hand information to piece together what had happened to them. Ryan did not remember his bicycle accident at all, and therefore spoke in a rather matter-of-fact manner as he shared what he had been told about what had happened:

A car hit me on a roundabout, like didn't see me and drove into the side of me apparently, and sort of fractured my skull, and had like seizures and a few brains bleeds and stuff ... then in hospital my brain swelled up quite a bit, and then I had seizures again.

For others, the injury was experienced as a significant event in their lives. Danielle, for instance, recalled her "trauma" response to the vehicle accident she was in. She described how she visualised the crash, "have those memories in my head, thinking I was in that moment", in addition to recurring nightmares:

I think after the accident happened, I was wakening up every night just with the feeling of falling and then being in the whole crash again. I had quite a lot of trouble sleeping ... ages from when it happened ... probably over a year.

However, the experience of a TBI itself did not loom so significantly in everyone's memory, and for some there was a sense of normalisation regarding hitting one's head. For example, Adam's recollection centred more on the inconvenience of having to wait around at hospital: "I just hated going to the waiting room, because you end up sitting there for like two hours".

This theme captured two extremes. For some there was suddenness and shock of the initial injury that led to a diagnosis of TBI. It highlights the participants fear and confusion in the initial aftermath, whilst the patchiness of their memory of events during the incident and after seemed to have compounded the difficulties they experienced in grasping what had happened. For others, it was seen as a normal occurrence, which led to inconvenience.

Feeling unwell and overwhelmed: 'I was fairly concussed'. Most participants talked about the immediate aftermath of their TBIs as a time in which they felt unable to function as normal in the face of debilitating symptoms. This theme involves an exploration of how participants had felt impacted by 'concussion' symptoms in the initial days and weeks following their injuries.

Almost all participants described some combination of dizziness, nausea, vomiting, confusion, disturbed vision, noise and light sensitivity, tiredness and headaches in the immediate period following their injuries. The extract below illustrates Nick's experience of "trouble thinking and functioning as normal":

I was fairly concussed, but I was very, very dazed. My vision was everywhere, I had a serious headache. I was very nauseous, so I think I vomited a couple of times.... I had a pretty bad headache. I think I was still a bit nauseous for a couple of days.

A couple described "just a concussion, it wasn't a big one" [Rachel], with disturbances in functioning limited to a few days. Others recalled "quite a severe concussion" [Samuel], in which feeling often physically ill and tired significantly interrupted their normal routines:

I was just really, really tired for ages ... I actually remember because our house is quite big, that just being downstairs, like, the rest of the family had the TV going and like everything going on, it was just too much and I'd just come up here and read a book or just watch one thing on TV on like low volume because there's just so much sensory stuff going on around. [Amy]

It appeared that this feeling unwell and unable to function was often accompanied by difficulty managing overwhelming emotions. Many shared how they had struggled with

irritability and frustration for a while, and found themselves becoming impatient and "over the top emotional" [Lauren] with "little simple things" [Adam]. Brandon recalled how becoming "irritable" and "very grumpy" was a change to his typical "pretty easy-going" personality. Some, like Ryan, remembered how difficulty managing new overwhelming irritability had constituted a significant and quite distressing change in their temperament:

I remember I broke my hand like probably six months after my head injury, which was something to do with irritability.... Yeah, I hit a wall.... I think what happened was, we had pizza I think the night before, and I was going to have it for lunch and my sister ate it all, and I got annoyed and hit the wall and broke my hand. I've never done something like that again. I think it was just 'cause I wasn't too used to like getting frustrated as quick as I did back then.

This theme has explored what participants described as their experience of 'concussion' in the period immediately following their injuries that, for most, involved feeling physically unwell and unable to function. Struggling to cope with their symptoms was often accompanied by feeling unbearably overwhelmed, frustrated and quick to react to minor daily annoyances.

Headaches never quite went away: 'I had migraines so severe'. As the immediate aftermath of their injuries began to dissipate with passing days or weeks, many participants became aware of the more enduring effects of their injury. Although many had suffered with headaches in this initial stage, a subgroup spoke about this as ongoing, as frequent intense migraine headaches had seemed to arise following their injury.

Talia's account conveys the pain associated with her experience of migraines, and the extent to which this impeded her ability to function:

I've always suffered from some migraines, but after the injury they got a lot worse. I actually ended up having to go to the doctor for like heavy duty pain killers, I think it was codeine I had to take. Because they were so bad, I was having to sit in a dark room and take codeine for whole days. And this was for the couple of years after the

head injury, and it's gone better over time, but yeah that was definitely made worse by it.... I just felt terrible.

Participant narratives illustrated how migraines not only impacted them physically and functionally, but emotionally. Dylan talked about how migraines had become a source of fear and anxiety as he struggled to understand what was causing them:

I had migraines so severe, I used to get hospitalised for them. They used to call the ambulance to school to take me to hospital.... In Year 13 I would have probably had a major migraine at least once a week for the entire year. I think I went to hospital three times for them. Twice they did an MRI for brain haemorrhaging because, apparently, I was just that bad.... It's quite stressful at the same time 'cause you don't know what's happening, you know, people talking brain haemorrhages and you're like, "Oh my gosh, like, the rate of recovery from a brain haemorrhage is, like, pretty minimum", you know and I'm like 17 at the time to be told that you might be having a haemorrhage, it's quite scary, you know.

Dylan also described how struggling to cope with debilitating pain and this fear of not knowing what was happening to him had caused him to feel depressed:

To be honest, I can remember crying, pretty much every week, every time I felt the headaches coming on I just burst into tears 'cause I just, like, I don't think I was coping very well, you know, there was definitely a lot of depression that went on with that.

Talia shared that she had also been "suffering from depression for like four years" following her injury. She talked about how she had used the codeine prescribed for her migraines to help manage depressive symptoms. She recalled how ultimately "everything had built up on top of each other", making it hard to cope, and this culminated in a suicide attempt:

The week before I tried to kill myself, I was taking about, probably about 12 to 16 codeine a day, like I was just taking three or four at a time, just to get through the day. 'Cause like there was the head injury, and then I had two of my grandparents pass away, and it just, I think all that just set it all in motion.

Most participants who experienced migraines and headaches discussed them as something that still needed to be endured or managed with medication. Although much more infrequently than in the years immediately after his TBI, Brandon reported still experiencing migraines that "just take over", cause him to "feel really weak" and to "just need to go and lie down, go and have a sleep".

This theme has sought to capture the experience of debilitating migraines and accompanying low mood, which several participants had endured for years after their injuries. Extracts have conveyed how these participants had struggled to cope with the emotional impact of their migraines.

Feeling exhausted: 'I'm always tired'. Another enduring impact of the TBIs commonly spoken about was overwhelming tiredness. Lauren described: "this would be like afternoon, like really falling asleep, like in class, sleeping very, very heavily, struggling to wake up, just no energy." For many, this tiredness was most prominent in the initial months post-injury, but some participants described tiredness and fatigue as persisting for much longer. Brandon recalled needing sleep as one of the greatest challenges in the 18 months following his TBI:

'Cause I think it happened in October and then for all of that summer as well, I was really tired. Just slept at home. Probably only hung out with my friends maybe, like, twice, I was just sleeping the whole time, yeah, a lot of sleeping. And then as I started getting back into my first year of high school, I still was sort of sleeping, like, a lot.

For a small proportion of participants, fatigue was still experienced as fairly debilitating at the time of the interview. Ryan provided two analogies to convey his experience of fatigue:

Have you ever done a really hard exam like, and been quite tired after that? So, it'd be sort of waking up in the morning and feeling like that, and then struggle for the rest of the day feeling like that. Then other times it's sort of like, if you wake up like a bad hangover or something, like, just your mental state and it's sort of just a mix

between those two different levels. Like obviously sometimes would be pretty bad and other times it wouldn't be as bad.

For Talia, ensuring a substantial amount of sleep was her only way of preventing exhaustion:

I'm always tired ... if I get anything less than about ten hours, I'm exhausted, just constantly exhausted. Like I slept till midday the last two days so I'm wide awake right now but usually I'd be half asleep if I hadn't. Yeah, and everyone's just like 'you sleep too much'. I usually sleep nine hours which is what they recommend, and exhaustion. And I've had this for years and it's a bit of a problem because it makes it difficult to get up in the morning for things.

This theme has summarised participants' experience of tiredness and fatigue following their injuries. Some still, at the time of participation in the research, found themselves needing a substantial amount of sleep in order to manage everyday activities whilst continuing to suffer debilitating fatigue.

Not being able to think: 'Your brain's no longer quite there'. This theme discusses changes participants noticed in their thinking following their injuries. As with migraines and fatigue, thinking problems were most prominent in the immediate aftermath of TBI, but persisted for years for some.

A couple of participants had not noticed any changes in their thinking. Nick felt that any such changes may have gone undetected since he had not been very stimulated at the time:

I can't quite remember like cognitively if anything really changed. I think at that point I wasn't doing very well at school at all. So I probably didn't really notice that much change in regards to how, like, I was functioning as a person 'cause I wasn't very active. I wasn't, like, into sports or anything. I wasn't really doing anything after school apart from, sort of, sitting down watching TV, and I didn't really do a lot of schoolwork either.

Unlike Nick, most participants noticed problems with 'zoning out', forgetfulness, or difficulties thinking straight. Although zoning out was frequently experienced acutely after

their injuries, quite a few also talked about this as an ongoing difficulty. Talia expressed how she would "get distracted very, very easily":

Somebody says something and I'd just be like staring at them, like full on staring, not realising I'm doing it and I could do it for like thirty seconds or so before I snap out of it. Like I do it at home sometimes, I just like stare at nothing and not realise I'm doing it. I just get completely distracted and then I'll just kind of snap back.

A new tendency towards forgetfulness also appeared common amongst participant narratives. Ethan described a lengthy period following his TBI during which he had difficulty piecing together certain events and things that had happened:

Yeah, probably about two years of dazy patches where I get asked to remember things, and I'm like.... It'd probably be little patches, yeah very patchy. Like I wouldn't forget a whole day kind of thing, but it'd be like certain things that had happened.

Whilst Ethan described his difficulties as limited to these couple of years following his injury, others identified forgetfulness as more permanent, and as continuing to impact them at the time of interview. Some made comparisons to their abilities prior to their TBI:

Mum always said when I was younger I was good 'cause she could tell me to go down the end room and in this drawer there's something or other and I'd come back with it, now I get halfway down the hallway and like, 'aw what did you want?' sort of thing ... Yeah, I'd say it [the TBI] probably did have quite an impact on it. [Adam]

Although participants, including Adam, mostly spoke about their forgetfulness as an inconvenience or source of annoyance, for others this was quite debilitating and impacted them every day. Dylan said about his memory: "the whole thing is just a bit of a mess". He shared how he would frequently struggle when asked about his day: "That's something that still happens, you know. People will be like you know, 'what did you do today?' and it's kind of like 'well I don't actually remember'." Talia shared the following example of how her forgetting was more problematic than that of "most people":

It really is a pain not being able to remember something, especially like, I know people walk into rooms to get, like, you go get something from the fridge and you forget what you're doing. I get up off the couch, look at the baby and then go, 'wait, what was I doing?', 'where was I going?' and I don't even get to the other room.

Memory issues were experienced as overwhelming and anxiety-provoking. Talia described a sense of almost panic as she tried to remember something: "It's like I see something and my brain is just running around in circles, going 'where's this information? Where's this information? It's nowhere here!'"

Finally, some talked about a difficulty with processing and expressing thoughts. While some noted "difficulty thinking" [Nick] or being "quite a bit slow just in processing things" [Amy] in the immediate aftermath of their injuries, a couple reported these issues as ongoing. This manifested for Adam as "a bit of trouble" figuring out problems for his coursework, which although frustrating, were not too distressing day-to-day. Dylan, on the other hand, felt difficulties with thinking still impacted him substantially. His "not being able to hold thoughts in my head" and difficulty compiling his ideas in order to express himself was evident in the interview:

I think it's more like long thoughts, so like, ah, how do I put this? ... More complex thoughts is difficult, like sometimes having even just a general conversation, I'll get lost and what, like if somebody asks me a question I'll get lost as to how I'm answering it or what the question was and, kind of, have to go back to the start again and, you know, and repeat the conversation. And then sometimes when I'm just talking, it's almost like, I'm not aware that, I can hear myself talking but I'm not aware of what I'm talking about or saying. So sometimes you look back at a convers... you know, someone will recall a conversation to me and I am like, "oh I don't remember saying that and that's not what I meant" and, you know, so kind of, what goes on here (points to head) isn't always what comes out here (points to mouth). Yeah.

Difficulty thinking clearly not only impacted his ability to express himself, but everything Dylan would try to do. The quote below illuminates the frustration and upset that resulted from feeling as though his brain was not functioning as he needed it to:

It is frustrating sometimes. You know, especially when you are halfway through doing something. Yeah, and it's something you do every day and then all of a sudden, it's like, you forget how to do it because your brain's no longer quite there and then it takes a minute or two and, you know, yeah, it's frustrating.... I find it extremely frustrating and upsetting, personally, not always being able to think clearly, I think I probably get upset in myself a lot more than I probably should but.... I mean it's still a struggle.

The final theme in this category has addressed participants' described experiences of changes in their ability to focus, remember information and to think clearly following their injuries. Participants differed with regard to how much they felt impacted by these issues. While some found lapses in memory or focus to be frustrating or inconvenient, a small subgroup of participants seemed to suffer a great deal of distress, anxiety and upset day-to-day as they struggled with the impact of their brains not processing as clearly as they used to.

Summary. Themes in this category first summarised participants' immediate reactions to their injuries and their efforts to make sense of what had happened, before exploring participants' accounts of how they had been affected by subsequent physical unwellness and functioning difficulties. Overall, most talked about how they had endured some form of 'concussion' phase, which lasted days, weeks or months and featured symptoms such as confusion, light and noise sensitivity, difficulty focusing, tiredness and headaches. These symptoms made it challenging to function day-to-day and left many of the participants feeling emotionally overwhelmed, and struggling to cope with increased irritability, frustration and other temperamental alterations.

As the intense confusion that accompanied the immediate aftermath dissipated, many participants described how they gradually became aware of a range of more enduring effects

of their injuries in the months after their TBI. For some, this meant having to endure ongoing migraines or fatigue, often in combination with new changes in their ability to think clearly. A surprising number of participants disclosed how they continued to suffer the effects of TBI-related changes long-term, at the time of their interview. Although such effects varied, it seemed that the emotional impact of these difficulties, which ranged from fleeting frustration to enduring anxiety and depression, added to the burden for many of the participants. The next category of themes explores how the difficulties described proceeded to impact important areas of the participants' lives throughout adolescence, and as they sought to adjust to early adulthood.

### **Category Two: Impacts on Important Areas of Life**

Most of the participants talked about how lingering changes in their thinking, often combined with debilitating tiredness or migraines, impacted upon their participation in life. This category of themes explores the multitude of changes participants described in their school, work, and social lives following their TBIs.

Schoolwork suffered: 'It got pretty downhill at school'. For some participants, the greatest impact of their TBI was felt at school. Although a couple denied any noticeable changes in schoolwork at the time of injury, most participants reported some form of disruption to their academic performance. For some, this had mostly resolved in a couple of months, when the worst of their fatigue and noise sensitivity had resolved. The timing of injuries seemed to influence the degree of impact had on school for this group. A couple described how they had been able to recover from setbacks as their injuries had occurred at a time when they did not have major exam pressure:

I was really tired, like I wasn't as attentive in class as I probably could have been.

But it wasn't at a time where there was, like, big exams or things going on, so by the time that I was better or felt better, I could catch up. [Amy]

A larger group of participants described more enduring symptoms, which seemed associated with more ongoing problems at school. For the most part, changes in learning were attributed to new problems with thinking, with difficulty focusing and remembering information being the most common. Danielle described:

I'd just find it real hard, you know, sitting down and trying to study for this information, I'd probably do an hour and then go off and get distracted by something else 'cause I just couldn't focus and I just wasn't remembering that information.

These difficulties had broad implications for many. Ethan described how "it got pretty downhill at school in those years" following his injury, as he felt his memory had "deteriorated rapidly".

Difficulties with trying to think and remember were often most problematic when it came to examinations. Ethan recalled "tests, always a low point". Exam time was remembered as "scary and daunting" and "always stressful" by Dylan. His description conveys the overwhelming experience of trying to think on the spot and produce a response in an exam:

It's almost [as though] there was no or very little connection from your brain down to your hand.... Sometimes you'd read a question ten times and it would still make no sense ... you're having so many ideas coming to head, you read a question and, it's like, you know, it does this and it does this and it does this, and then compiling it into an answer that makes sense. Again, just too many thoughts or not enough thoughts.

The next extract highlights how these difficulties placed Dylan at an educational disadvantage, whilst illustrating how feeling unable to demonstrate his knowledge and skill through exams, understandably, created a great deal of frustration and sadness for him:

I feel like all my exam results were never a true reflection of what my actual classwork was like. I'd be just scraping, you know, C+, B in my exams but I could get A's in my assignments, and so there was always that struggle of, kinda, knowing just enough to get the exams. And then you review the exams later, and it's like "well, I

know the answer. If you ask me the question verbally, I could probably give you the answer verbally".

Some shared how problems with thinking had persisted to disrupt their ability to engage in professional training many years after their injury. Brandon described how, at the time of interview, difficulties with zoning out were affecting his ability to complete his degree:

With that getting distracted, paying attention, the long periods of paying attention. Yeah, sometimes I don't know whether that's just a normal, like everybody gets pretty bored in a lecture but then it just feels like, even if I try really hard to concentrate sometimes, yeah, zone out. I find I have to read everything twice to actually remember it... When I'm having a bad day and I really can't pay attention, I'll probably be able to pay attention for about five minutes and then I'll zone out, five minutes, and then zone out.

Adam attributed his being six months behind in completing his trade qualification to struggles with focusing on, comprehending and remembering written information, in particular "reading and writing and shit.... Oh I don't remember f\*\*k all if I read it!"

This theme captured the participants' descriptions of how things had changed for them at school after their TBIs, and how ongoing problems with thinking continued to affect their ability to complete later professional training; which is reflected in the subsequent theme on changed career opportunities.

Career opportunities changed: 'Your options become limited'. While many of the participants felt that, whether through the passage of time or working hard, they were able to regain their previous performance capacities at school, this seemed unattainable for some.

Matthew described how, despite trying hard, he was unable to re-establish his educational achievement standard after his injuries, concluding, "it was quite clear for me academically after that":

It was a little bit harder, because when I first started high school it was good, my grades were pretty good, and then it kind of just went backwards a little bit. But I really did try and work at it more, like harder than everyone else because of what had happened.

Matthew expressed disappointment and loss as he felt his efforts ultimately did not pay off:

Yeah, when I was at high school I was really trying and doing it, and then it didn't really work out in the end which did feel, I didn't feel happy at the time because I put all this time and effort in, even after school and during school. I just feel like it wasn't worth it.

Matthew believed his TBIs had prevented him from going to university, where he "probably would have done like mechanical engineering or something": "If I didn't have it, I would have gone to university. But then since it has, I couldn't keep myself going, to be able to get into university".

Similarly, Dylan recalled questioning, "Where is my life?! What's happened?!" as he had felt his world of opportunities become much smaller due to his multiple injuries:

I felt, you know at about 15, 16, I knew where I wanted to go, I knew what I wanted to do, I kind of, I had a general direction, a purpose to what I was doing and then it changes.... even academics you can no longer think clearly in part, you can't do things anymore. You know, so it's, kind of, all of a sudden, your options in terms of study outside of school become quite limited in what you can do.

Whilst Matthew and Dylan had attributed their disrupted educational goals to changes in thinking, Ryan shared how his debilitating fatigue had caused him to drop out of school:

I didn't finish high school. Like the year afterwards I went back and did two classes and that's all I could do really like. I tried doing three classes when I first went back to high school afterwards, and I kept getting really sick and run down, so I just did two classes and that's all I could do... it was a bit of a waste of time... was just the fatigue really.

Not everyone felt that changes in their ability to perform had drastically impacted their career trajectory in this way. Adam reflected that he would still have chosen his current profession:

"I definitely would have been a tradie, aye. I don't think I could sit down all day at a computer ... Yeah, wouldn't be my thing".

This theme has addressed how some participants had felt their injuries disrupted their career trajectories. Some had tried hard to re-establish their intended pathways, but with time discovered that changes in their thinking or ongoing fatigue had meant their career prospects had suddenly become limited. This leads directly to the next theme on struggles at work.

Struggling with work: 'What if I don't have what they want?' This theme explores how, almost eight years later, the TBIs still had consequences that impacted some participants as they sought to establish themselves in their careers. Lingering thinking difficulties appeared to make learning on the job difficult for some. Matthew, for example, described struggling to adjust to his new labouring job, and felt that he "just got chucked in the deep end and sink or swim kind of thing". He expressed frustration and confusion as he felt his needs for time to learn the ropes and to be shown clearly what was expected of him often were not met, causing tension with his workmates:

If it's at work and I don't get it, I usually ask once, and then if they don't answer it does get annoying.... sometimes it's like 'well now you know how to do it, you can do it', and then they tell me off.... If I have asked, then sometimes if I ask [again] they don't like it, and it does make it quite hard, a lot harder on me. And then I'm trying to do it the way they showed me how to do it, and then they're saying, 'aw you've done this wrong'.

Other participants described the emotional impact of adjusting to their professional environment when they could no longer trust their brains to function properly. Dylan shared how he would worry a great deal about having to think on the spot in high-pressure situations:

There's always a lot of fear of "what if I don't have what they want?", "what if I don't know?", you know, "what if they ask for something by its different name and I don't know what it is?" and I guess there's always a lot of anxiety in that sense.

Danielle expressed similar anxiety regarding her healthcare role. The extract below illustrates how she would find herself lying awake at night, ruminating over whether she had completed every step in a procedure, even though she would "usually triple check" that she had:

Yeah, 'cause like if I've had a bad day at work or something, I can't just go to sleep, like I always have it. Even just like the small stuff, I just I'm constantly thinking about it when I go to, trying to go to sleep.

Both Danielle and Dylan described how these work-related worries impacted their mood.

Dylan had once found himself unable to recover for some time upon making an error at work:

I can remember for probably about two months just being so depressed, and I felt like I'd failed, you know and it didn't matter how much you talked with your colleagues about it, there was just that feeling of 'I've absolutely failed, I've messed up', you know, just, kind of, impending doom.

Danielle wondered if her worrying tended to build up to cause her to feel depressed:

Now I get a bit of anxiety and depression... I sort of go through phases so, you know, some days it might be, or weeks it might be really good and I won't have that feeling but as soon as I just hit something then, yeah ... it just will happen ... all the time, even just like the littlest, smallest things, I worry about.

Not everyone with persisting challenges related to thinking found these impacted their work. Ethan described how his career choice provided opportunity to retrain his memory, thereby enabling recovery from the significant problems he had experienced throughout school:

Oh working at my job now my memory has to be pristine, so I kind of just retrained myself to remember every little detail of everything ... I've got to remember part numbers, people, lots of stuff like that.... But even now, I'm pretty sure to this day my memory's pretty good after, obviously since work I've had to really put my mind to things to be able to do it.

For some participants, fatigue and migraines continued to impact their ability to perform at work, or in Brandon's case, trying to balance work and study: "I could do, like, half a day at uni' then half a day at work and I'll be so tired, just mentally fatigued".

Brandon shared his frustration over having to miss work when a migraine would come on:

I just got a new job at the beginning of this summer, and I started getting them, like, a couple of them and it was really frustrating. 'Cause I'd only just started the job and it's taken me out of work already.

Fatigue meant that rest had to be prioritised for a couple of participants, causing them to make sacrifices in areas of their lives, such as work. Ryan recounted how a recent attempted return to starting upon a career path had impacted his wellbeing, which prompted him to quit:

I was working like 20 or 24 hours a week or something ... I was working like Monday, Tuesday and Thursday, Friday and I was working probably six hours a day on the days I was working. And like I'd just get really worn out during the days, and on the days off I'd be having to recover and then I'd go back to work and I would do it again, and on the weekend I'd recover and wouldn't be able to do much after work and stuff, and doing all that I still wasn't doing like full time work.

Talia reported a tendency to feel overwhelmed, which was unaided by fatigue and migraines. She spoke about considerable distress and emotional problems experienced in the past, and attributed a suicide attempt to pressure to get a job, whilst already struggling to cope:

It was just everything had built up on top of each other, and then there was WINZ. And at the time [the migraines] were quite bad, and at this point they were trying to make me get a job, and sending me to seminars every week, and they were getting me to come in and see them every week. So I was spending two days a week on the bus, one-hour bus ride travelling to these places back and forth, and that was just wearing me down and making me worse.

Although not engaging in paid employment at the time of the research, Talia described feeling overwhelmed in her role as a single mother with a toddler: "feelings like, sometimes

it's just everything and it's overwhelming. Even when it's, you're like it shouldn't be overwhelming 'cause there's nothing stressful happening that is so overwhelming."

This theme illustrates how TBI-related challenges continued to impact participants' jobs in many ways. Thinking problems meant that learning on the job was difficult for some, others felt anxious and depressed due to problems trusting their brain to function at work, whilst others struggled with frustration, exhaustion and feeling overwhelmed as fatigue and migraines formed ongoing barriers to working. In addition to its impact on academic and employment spheres, TBI also had both immediate and ongoing impacts on social interactions.

Things changed socially: 'The most alone I had ever felt'. Another prominent pattern noted throughout participant narratives was how their social involvement was impacted by the brain injuries, both through the teenage years and, for some, as adults. Social changes were most commonly felt initially via missing sports involvement. For many of the participants, sustaining a TBI meant giving up sports, either in the short-term as they underwent physical recovery, or permanently because the implications of potentially sustaining another TBI could be devastating. Standing down from sports for a few weeks or months was "really pretty rubbish" [Lauren]. Amy recalled:

I think I had to stand down from sports for a while. Yeah, that was pretty bad like. I was pretty into it, and I played for quite a few different water polo teams at the time and I had netball and things going on as well, so that was a bit of a bummer.

The social implications of missing out on sports seemed to loom most prominently in participants' memories. Not feeling included on their teams was spoken about as almost painful: "'cause like my brother was playing, and so it was kind of gutting like, I'd go watch his games and then knowing that I couldn't jump on" [Samuel]. Although missing out on sports was short-lived for most, those who were never able to return to their teams found their

social lives permanently altered. Dylan described a great deal of grief and loneliness having lost the sense of belonging he had once enjoyed through sports:

I can remember going and watching one of their rugby games, and then afterwards being in the changing room and just being absolutely ignored by everyone 'cause I wasn't playing in the team. They had won the game, they had a good game, they were all excited, you know, whatever, but in that moment I probably felt the most alone I had ever felt just because it's like, I can no longer relate to, you know, there's still the euphoria from winning but knowing that I was just on the sideline watching your team mates do it without you and then being happy and excited without you, you know, it was, yeah quite difficult.

Missing out socially was not just felt in relation to sports. Not having the energy even to 'hang out' was an issue for those with enduring problems, such as Brandon:

I think the biggest thing was just how I was so tired all the time. Like, my friends would ask me out and I'd just want to lie in bed and do nothing all day. That was pretty much it. Just getting out and hanging out all the time, yeah, just missed out on a lot of that ... Probably only hung out with my friends maybe like twice, I was just sleeping the whole time, yeah, a lot of sleeping.

Brandon and Ryan explained how debilitating fatigue and migraines had been all they could care about, which meant they had not noticed how much they were missing out on at the time: "Yeah, it doesn't feel like you're missing out on doing stuff when you're always that tired, 'cause you don't feel like doing stuff, if that makes sense". [Ryan]. Nevertheless, the feeling of having missed out on something important was noted in retrospect, and this would be accompanied by frustration as fatigue or migraines continued to impact years after the injury. For instance, Brandon expressed how his attempts to re-establish himself in his social world were impeded:

It would be really annoying, like I'd go out on the weekend with my friends, we'd go and play rugby or something down at the rugby club and I'd start getting a migraine and then I'd just have to go home. You know, and it happened often, so just having to leave and go home was a bit frustrating sometimes, yeah.

Participants' accounts varied with regard to how they felt their injuries impacted their sense of social inclusion. Amy, who had sustained her TBI at age 14, wondered if the age at an injury occurred might be a factor in this:

It was way before I started going to parties and driving and drinking and that kind of thing. So, if I was a bit older when it happened, that would have been really hard 'cause that's kind of when a lot of those like pressures and things would come on. Like, when all the friends would go out partying and if you had to stay at home, you weren't very cool and then you wouldn't have anything to talk about the whole week at school, 'cause that's what they would be talking about ... I think it probably would have had more of an impact on my relationships at school, definitely, if I was a little bit older.

Whilst a sense of missing out socially was more prominent in the time immediately following the injuries, several participants expressed how their problems with memory, focus, and expressing their thoughts had contributed to more ongoing social changes. Talia, for instance, talked at length about how a new difficulty remembering faces impacted her socially:

No it doesn't [help], it doesn't.... It's hard but you just pretend you know who they are. Like the amount of times people come up to me and are like, "hi, how are you?" and in my head I'm just like, "who the hell is this?"

Difficulty recognising people could be a source of embarrassment for Talia, while also forming a barrier to her ability to make and maintain connections with others: "I think that's the biggest thing and it's really embarrassing when it's someone you, especially someone you've known for years and years and you don't recognise them".

Participants most commonly noted problems with "drifting off" [Adam] as contributing to difficulties in social interaction. Talia said about her "terrible" concentration:

People would be talking to me and I'll get distracted by a car or TV or I don't even like cars, but I could be like "oh look at the colour of that car" and people would be

like "you're not paying attention, are you?" And I'll be like "um no?" But no, I just like get distracted very, very easily.

New thinking problems seemed, at times, to contribute to conflict between the participants and the people in their lives. Adam said about his new difficulty expressing his thoughts:

I get my words and that mixed up.... That's caused a lot of issues with exes and that in the past, 'cause they always want to talk about things, but I don't know how to actually say it. I can think about it easy enough, but I have trouble saying it. Yeah so I f\*\*k a lot of people off.

A few described how thinking difficulties meant reduced confidence engaging with others. Adam shared "I get sort of uncomfortable around people quite easily ... I can't really keep a conversation with someone I don't really know". Dylan described how changes in his thinking created anxiety during conversations:

There's always anxiety ... I just don't like lots of thoughts, trying to conversate lots of thoughts. But if I'm just purely thinking, it's alright because I can keep, you can kind of, you know, you're thinking about something and you're bringing thoughts together, it sticks in the head but when you're trying to get it out, that's when the issue is, I find.

This theme has explored how changes related to their TBIs had impacted the participants' social relationships. Most acknowledged how they had somehow missed out on feeling included due to their injuries and this was often experienced as frustrating and "gutting". Another area addressed was a change in social performance as thinking difficulties seemed to impede some participants' abilities to interact and connect with others. This had the potential to result in anxiety and reduced social confidence.

**Summary.** Overall, themes explored in this category have further explored the emotional burden of the participants' TBIs as they sought to move forward in many important areas of their lives, whilst coming to terms with ongoing symptoms. The first theme captured how problems with thinking, fatigue and/or migraines had disrupted the participants' educational performance, which resulted in a great deal of stress and anxiety, particularly

around exam time. These new difficulties caused many participants to feel that school had gone 'downhill', leading to limited career prospects for some, as explored in the second theme. The third theme addressed how ongoing physical or thinking problems had continued to create difficulties for some as they sought to set themselves up in jobs and careers as young adults. Again, some experienced anxiety and upset as they struggled to adapt to the new challenges faced during the workday, particularly as they felt they could no longer trust their brain. The final theme in this category explored how participants had felt their injuries impacted them socially, as many recalled the pain of missing out on feeling included, whilst others found their ability to connect impeded by thinking problems. The next category of themes expands upon the impact of TBI from specific areas of life to the way in which participants viewed themselves within these important areas.

## **Category Three: Impacts on Identity**

This category of themes conveys the ways in which changes in important areas of life, as explored in the previous category, altered the participants' self-perception. Specifically, themes address how participants began to question themselves academically, how some had felt like the 'weird kid', how some experienced permanent changes in their social identity, and how some felt a sense of lost independence.

Changes to school identity: 'I thought I was stupid'. This theme captures a common pattern observed amongst the participants' responses to new changes in their school performance, namely, a tendency to locate issues within themselves, rather than attributing them to their injuries. The extracts below illustrate the frustration, anxiety and upset that resulted from this propensity for TBI-related changes to impact how many of the participants viewed themselves academically.

Lauren spoke about her shock as she recognised that something about her had changed, and her devastation as she felt that she may not be intellectually on par with her family:

I honestly thought I was stupid, I just thought it was all downhill ... for me it was a shock that I couldn't understand, well I could understand but the information that I was hearing and seeing, like I couldn't process so well, and that was a real shock to me. And I was very like 'I must be a [intended profession]', right through from high school, so the idea that my brain wasn't going to function so well was like, yeah. It got me down quite a lot, 'cause my whole family is very intellectual, and the thought that I might not be intellectually able with them was devastating!

It seemed that Lauren, like some others, had difficulty understanding what was happening, and responded by turning on themselves and, assuming there must have been something inherently wrong with them, assigning themselves harsh labels, like 'stupid'. Understandably, this altered viewing of oneself was accompanied by a great deal of distress and upset for those who might have once considered themselves competent at school:

I felt really stupid, cause from what I'd read and everything I thought 'well this shouldn't affect me, maybe it's just all in my head and I should just get over it' and all of that. And really just like, I was very emotional, like over the top emotional about a lot of things.... I wouldn't say mood swings, but things that shouldn't have upset me did. I got frustrated, I was frustrated all the time anyway, angry, didn't really get sad, just frustration. [Lauren]

Brandon described how he had *felt "quite sad, like when my grades were really bad, like I think for Year 9 science I averaged 26% or something like that. That was really frustrating, got me quite down, yeah"*. Brandon recalled how his view of himself had changed suddenly from feeling at the top of his class through primary and intermediate school, to the bottom of the class in any new subjects introduced at high school following his injury:

I wasn't sure if it actually was just me that was struggling or if it was because of that [the TBI]. So yeah, I guess so. I thought, because we didn't really do science at

intermediate or anything like that, so I thought, you know, it's something I'm bad at, which I would not really, I don't know, I'd usually been really good at everything at school. And then I found something that I struggled with a lot, yeah.

Even those who had not cared so much about school seemed to experience changes in how they viewed themselves. Adam had ascribed his need to put time and effort into reading and writing to "a reading, writing, learning disability thing", as opposed to his TBIs.

However, upon reflection in the interview, he recalled how this had been a new change since his injuries, as his mother told him that he had always liked reading. Also, he remembered his primary school teachers always telling him to slow down as he rushed through his work. Unfortunately, it seemed that a couple of participants had teachers who had only served to reinforce these new unhelpful assumptions. Danielle, for instance, reported: "I did get told I was too dumb to go to uni' by a teacher."

This theme has demonstrated participants' tendency to interpret new difficulties with learning at school as something that was wrong with them, as opposed to viewing changes in the context of their injuries. For some, this meant feeling stupid, feeling sad, and feeling anxious about the consequences of what these changes might have for their future identities.

**Feeling self-conscious: 'Being the weird kid'.** This theme captures how some participants described feeling different or weird following their TBIs. Nick recalled feeling "very self-conscious" as others reacted to his facial injuries:

The hardest part was probably the recovery, going back to school after it, 'cause I had to go back to school within a few days, and it's hard, you're sitting there and you have like a massive injury to your face and stitches, and like and everyone looks at you quite weirdly and strangely.... So, I just remember walking through school and like a complete, feeling very weird, and obviously looking very weird too, so it wasn't quite that ideal, I guess.

Nick believed that the effects of his TBI, sustained in his first year of high school, had served to exacerbate the self-consciousness he already experienced as a young teenager:

It's a relationship, definitely, to how you look and having, I guess the brain injury or the accident doesn't help, because, you know, you're already feeling quite bad about yourself and at the time also I had severe acne. So huge things about being self-conscious and not liking the way you look and that side of things.

Nick's experience aligns with Amy's perspective below regarding the social vulnerability of participants entering high school, and the potential for injuries sustained at this age to incur ripple effects in terms of social standing:

That year like where you're just getting into high school, like that transition phase ... when you're already kind of vulnerable ... and everything is all new, and then if you had a brain injury or concussion or something on top of that, then, I don't know, you might be that weird kid and then you wouldn't have friends for the whole of high school and it would be really isolating.

Nick disclosed being bullied in high school, which was helped by the visibility of his injury. Matthew had described a similar experience:

I have had a bit of trouble since the injury at school. I was bullied quite a lot from it. People just taking the micky out of me and not making it very nice. Just any chance they could get, the bullying ... I think it was because of the accident that I had.... It was mainly about the appearance ... the scars.

Participants' comments indicated that teenagers were perceived as harsh or "ruthless" [Ryan], and not just young adolescents. Ryan described feeling a sense of "prejudice" from peers during his later teen years and early 20s:

Over the years I've just told people less and less about my head injury as well, just 'cause there is always quite a bit of prejudice around like, having a brain injury ... I guess people just thinking you're slower at stuff, and people are less likely to want to be friends with you I guess as well if they know like you've had a big head injury.

This theme has addressed how some participants had felt prejudiced from others due to their TBIs, and how many had begun to perceive themselves as 'the weird kid' in relation to their peers. Other teenagers were considered ruthless in their reactions to an injured

participant, a position which seemed to reinforce this negative self-perception of the participants.

Social identity was permanently altered: 'Losing where I fit in'. Participants talked about how things had changed in their perception of themselves with regard to group membership following their injuries. This theme includes how some experienced longstanding changes their perception of where they 'fit' socially. Some continued to feel socially disconnected and as though they did not fit.

Dylan who, as discussed previously, had struggled with the impact of having to permanently stand down from sports due to his multiple TBIs, spoke at length regarding the grief he experienced over the loss of his position on various sports teams. The two excerpts below convey how this loss had permanently disrupted his sense of who he was socially:

Through primary school I can remember winning our division four or five years in a row and being the best player on the team. You know, everyone's excited towards you and then to suddenly having that all ripped away is, I don't know, it's just like having an open, bleeding wound that no one's stitching closed. No, it really hurts.... You know, it goes from that feeling of isolation and hopelessness to just anger. It's almost, you know, like the stages of grief that you go through.

Below, Dylan further articulates how he had not just lost his sports, but also an important source of confidence, social recognition and confirmation of who he was. He felt he had never recovered from these losses and described still struggling with "that feeling of isolation".

There's probably a lot of, you know, lost a lot of confidence and that, and then not being able to, you know having to give up contact sports, which as a young teenager, who, I was quite good at rugby to the point where I had reps coming in and watching me play and then to have all that taken away, you know, it does a lot to your confidence.... It kind of took away, you know, my identity, part of who I viewed myself as, which definitely was a struggle for a long time to re-find something to be passionate about, something to care about. Your whole world changes in a heartbeat.

Ethan described a different set of social changes, as his school performance declined due to memory problems, and he found himself placed amongst a different group of peers:

Because you know, you're not really up there with the schoolwork, 'cause I always failed tests and stuff like that, so you get put down. And then you're hanging out with people that are down, at a lower grade because they don't care as such.... Yeah, so I would have been focusing and not being able to remember, and then getting put with people who just don't care. And then I started hanging out with that group.

Friends were talked about as those peers who are in the same situation as you, who do the same things, and with whom you 'fit in'. For Ethan, no longer being in the same situation as his old classmates meant that he no longer felt like he fit in. He reflected on how this led to a change in how he viewed himself socially, and a cascade of social decisions followed, as he "found the wrong crowd", "the crowd that used to just wag school, drugs, smoking", the crowd with whom Ethan felt he "just kind of fitted in". Ethan's experience illustrates how his social identity impacted various life decisions. He shared how he remained with this friend group for the subsequent couple of years before considering, "maybe I am different to these guys", which prompted "a complete just turnaround of who I hung out with, probably saved me really. I wouldn't be where I am at the moment if I'd stuck around with that group".

Others described more permanent changes to how they fit in due to their injuries.

Ryan recounted how his friends had moved on without him as he had spent years focussing on managing his fatigue following his injury:

When I was really bad and stuff, like, all my friends obviously like disappeared basically, just 'cause it's like who wants to hang out with someone who can't do much at all you know? ... People definitely did try and be around me like when it first happened, just 'cause it takes so long to recover it's quite hard to understand and people just move on.

Ryan reflected on how he had changed socially following this experience: "I'm definitely not a really popular person or anything, but it's okay. I'm not very, a bit less outgoing and all now, just 'cause of not having as much energy as I did." Ryan was one of several participants who viewed themselves as less popular due to their injuries. Matthew recounted his struggles to maintain friendships, and his subsequent sense of social disconnection:

I have had trouble with the social side of it, and it's just like trying to keep mates, kind of thing. That's always been quite hard ... I do find it quite hard for me, that I don't really have a social life as such.

Talia talked about how she would go into shops to alleviate her sense of social isolation:

It's just the talking to someone, that interaction. Like on shopping day I feel very bad for the shops I go into because like I know I go into a lot of places just to talk to the people... I come out and you go like, "why did I go into that shop? I probably just went in there just to talk that person, didn't I?"

This theme has captured some of the considerable changes that many of the participants perceived to occur in their social identities following their injuries. Participants talked about their social position, or how they viewed themselves amongst their peers, as central to their lives. Feeling as though they had lost their social standing due to, for example, having to quit sports or changes in academic performance, forced the participants to consider who they were in relation to their peers. It seemed that those who endured multiple injuries or more severe fatigue had suffered the most significant losses related to their social identities. Attempts to recover these losses remain ongoing eight years following their injuries.

Being dependent: Having to rely on family and friends. Many participants shared how their injuries created a need for increased support from others for a time, which resulted in a feeling of reduced independence. For most participants, this seemed to resolve once the most severe aspects of the TBIs had resolved. Amy, for instance, described how she needed

support during the period immediately following her injury, which mostly involved her family "reminding me of the things I needed to do".

Another minority of participants described an ongoing need for significant practical support from parents, and this seemed to create more ongoing challenges to their sense of autonomy. Samuel, who sustained significant physical injuries in addition to his TBI, described his "quite humbling" experience:

Couldn't do the things I was used to doing, I didn't really change what I was, I just had to change the things I did day-to-day and that was just difficult. Even just things like showering and that was difficult, like, so I had to get help.... So it's just little things like that, that you take for granted.

Participant narratives tended to imply that young people develop independence and a sense of identity through a diversity of experiences, making decisions without parental input, being able to drive, and moving out of home. Amy expressed her thoughts regarding these vital aspects of growing up, which she believed help participants to develop confidence:

I think it's through experiences, for me, like just doing a lot of different stuff and trying lots of different stuff out and kind of figuring who you are as a person. Like I was pretty lucky too, I had lots of different opportunities to, like, play different sports and go different places. When we got our licenses too, like, me and my friends would go to the beaches and things and be a little bit independent, which was cool. So, all that kind of stuff where you go out on your own and come back and learn who you are is really cool.

The extract from Samuel's interview below indicates how sustaining a second injury at age 17 had implications for the sense of independence awarded by being able to drive:

That was kind of gutting. Yeah, I think I just got my full [driver's license], I think. I was just about to get my full. So yeah, that was a bit of a pain like, yeah actually, yeah good point. I wasn't allowed to drive, I wasn't really allowed to bike; I just had to be driven around everywhere. I could walk but, yeah, I couldn't really transport myself places very easily so I was having to rely on my family and friends, and that was a bit of a pain. ... Having to ask, "Mum can you drop me off?" You know, just

things like that, when there was events on, I had to make sure I had to organise rides and that, where usually I'd just go myself. So that was part the worst.

Ryan considered how his injury had meant missing out on the many things that he associated with learning to become an independent adult: "It was just the age I was, you know I was in high school, going into like University and stuff, and I'm stuck twiddling my thumbs really." Missing these experiences, for Ryan, was equated to missing out on "just living basically". At the time of the interview, turning 25 soon, he reported still living with his parents: "I didn't really have many options to be like independent or anything just 'cause it was enough of a struggle just to do little things, let alone like do all the things and look after myself." With this perception that he had not been able to do many of the things that would be conducive to living as an adult, Ryan reflected: "I guess I lived just like a teenager for quite a few years".

A few participants talked about how their parents had become more protective after their injuries, which did not align with their perceived need for increased independence. Matthew attributed struggles in living independently to parental protectiveness. Having "been in and out [of home] a few times", he had returned to live with his parents because, he believed, his father worried about his ability to be self-sufficient.

I'm not allowed to go out, like go out and drink with mates and stuff. And it just kind of feels like I'm confined in [hometown] and I'm not allowed to go to [other NZ city] or something if I have to have work, or somewhere else.

Similarly, Ethan recalled how his parents "were trying to keep hold of me better afterwards" and "trying to keep a bubble around me". He shared his thoughts regarding how teenagers might rebel against any sense of being restricted, and he had done everything he could to escape feeling "overprotected": "If the parents try and hold you back, you just go out". Rachel shared a similar opinion that parental protectiveness could form a barrier to living independently, and recalled of her transition to university:

So, you went from being kind of sheltered, overprotective dad, to then being in a University hall. And that was a big jump and, like, all of that social learning that I had to do and that. I probably did a lot of social learning in that year alone versus most of my high school experience, because suddenly there was no "be home by this time" and "you can't go there".

Those who were older at the time of injury seemed to speak more about ongoing issues with gaining a sense of independence, whilst those who were injured before the age of 14 did not mention any struggles with this.

This theme has addressed how some participants experienced a sense of reduced independence, either due to a heightened need for support or increased protectiveness from parents. While for most this was brief, spanning the weeks after the TBI, some participant narratives presented increased support or protectiveness from family as more ongoing. This contributed to feelings of frustration and sadness, especially for those who felt they had not been able to achieve the milestones perceived as necessary for becoming an independent adult.

Summary. Themes within this category drew together underlying references within participant narratives about how injury-related changes had caused the participants to view themselves differently; summarising the main ways in which participant identities were altered by the impacts of their injures. Firstly, struggling to comprehend why things had changed in one's ability to achieve at school had created shock and devastation as some participants no longer felt intellectually able, and therefore began to view themselves as 'stupid'. Second, participants recounted how normal self-consciousness had been exacerbated by certain aspects of their injuries, both visible and cognitive. This seemed to cause some to feel like the 'weird kid' amongst their peers. This self-consciousness seemed compounded by the perception of other teenagers as cruel and, for some, the experience of bullying at the hands of their peers. The third theme addressed how participants seemed to

undergo a process of questioning where they fit socially. For some, the impacts of their TBIs meant drastic changes to their group identity or, at times, a total loss of group identity and, ultimately, for a few, an ongoing feeling of social disconnection. Finally, the experience of needing a greater degree of support from families for a while, and/or increased protectiveness from parents following their injuries, had left a couple of participants feeling as though they had missed out on the necessary experiences to be able to view oneself as an independent adult. The final two categories of themes, described below, explore how participants managed to navigate these challenges following their TBIs, firstly those individual resources for coping and secondly through social resources/supports.

## **Category Four: Individual Resources for Coping**

Participant narratives were rich with descriptions of what had helped them to navigate a way through the challenges described thus far. This category of themes captures the participants' resourcefulness in getting themselves through difficulties that followed their injuries. The first theme summarises how participants managed by 'getting on with it'. This was often followed by the second theme, learning to 'accept' their limitations and subsequently seeking a 'balance' in their lives. Finally, the third theme represents endeavours to move on and to decipher some sense of 'meaning' from the injury experience.

Learning to cope with difficulties: 'Just getting on with it'. The perception of the TBI as a minor event or 'just a concussion' was common amongst participants in the initial aftermath of their injuries. Adam considered his TBIs as like any other injury: "At the time, I didn't really link it to anything. I thought a concussion was like, when I broke my arm, all that sort of stuff, a week later, I'm sweet, sort of thing". Like others, Adam "just thought it was normal, that high school thing to have a couple of concussions".

This attitude seemed to prompt participants to respond to the struggles that accompanied their injuries by 'just getting on with it'. Some talked about how this meant not

complaining or seeking help: "I again just thought 'oh, it's just a concussion, it'll go away, I'll be fine'. And even when I was realising I was having difficulty studying I didn't say anything, 'cause I just assumed that's how it was." [Lauren].

'Just getting on with it' sometimes meant 'not stressing'. This was spoken about, particularly by the young men in the sample, as the ideal response to an event like a TBI, and seemed related to a self-perception as someone who was 'easy-going'. Ethan stated: "Yeah, there's no point in crying about it, that's my theory anyway", and Ryan said: "I've always been the sort of person not to complain about too much. It's probably a good thing for this sort of injury." Brandon's comparison to friends revealed his thoughts about how 'stressing' could increase one's vulnerability to depression:

Like for me, like I'm pretty easy-going and stuff like that, but I've got friends who get really stressed about school. Like, if it was them who was in my position, it would be a lot, you know, they'd probably get depression and stuff like that.

'Just getting on with it' involved drawing on an internal sense of determination in order to get back on track following the injuries. Again, this coping stance seemed connected to how the participants viewed themselves. For instance, Ethan stated that "I just put my mind to something and stick to it", and Samuel reflected, "I've always been quite focused on what I'm doing, so if I've got a goal, I'll try and achieve it and just try to not let anything hold me back." One way in which participants utilised their determination was by 'knuckling down' and working hard to find new approaches to studying, and this enabled some to regain a sense of control at school and university following setbacks.

I knuckled down; I was like 'I have to learn as much as I can just to get through this'.... I even took an online quiz about what sort of learner you are, to sort of see what's going on. 'Cause yeah, usually I'd just listen to it or see it and that's it, got it, but it wasn't happening.... so, it was a big learning curve for me having to actually process things a bit differently, yeah. [Lauren]

Participants also reflected that it could take some time and effort to figure out new ways of doing things. Danielle, who was injured aged 14, reflected on how she finally learned this important lesson at university:

I found it real hard studying for exams throughout my high school years, but it was when I went to Uni', I found a way to, sort of, go around and trying to remember, my exams and stuff, and like I did really well at Uni'.

Knuckling down thus could be "massively time consuming" [Lauren], and some found their fatigue become exacerbated by their desire to work hard in the interest of progressing at school or university. Lauren recalled how "there were definitely times when fatigue hit me pretty hard, mostly around the exam period", while Danielle described her fatigue and migraines as being at their worst "mainly at uni". Lauren's quote about what she had learned about herself following her TBI experience demonstrates some of the pros and cons of 'just getting on with it': "Definitely that I'm quite determined. I don't know, I guess that I wasn't stupid, I just needed to do things differently. Probably should have looked after myself a bit better, yeah."

In summary, participants tended to respond to their initial injuries by 'just getting on with it' and working hard to quickly re-establish themselves in their lives. This could be a double-edged sword, however, as participants found themselves at risk of overdoing it and exacerbating their symptoms at the same time. Some of the young men in the sample expressed the importance of not 'stressing' in helping them through these challenges.

Seeking acceptance and balance: 'You can't make your brain heal faster'. This theme explores how many participants had gradually learned to accept the ongoing effects of their TBIs, and how 'just getting on with it' gave way to a search for balance in life.

The concept of acceptance was interwoven throughout participant narratives of how they had moved forward in the face of the difficulties that arose following their injuries.

Matthew shared: "I just started just getting over it and getting on with it, kind of thing.... Just

getting over what had happened, and just realising I've got to put up with this, and getting used to it." Although acceptance was rarely immediate, its eventual emergence seemed to support the participants to cope with the upset of some of their losses. Samuel's initial "gutted" reaction to having to quit playing sports evolved into "it wasn't too bad, it just didn't mean the world to me. It was fun, but it wasn't a matter of life and death."

For many of the participants, acceptance seemed aided by reflecting on how things could be much worse. This generally involved making comparisons to others who seemed worse off: "there's always kind of like 'why me?' but then there's always someone worse" [Samuel]. Otherwise participants, like Dylan, reflected on how their own situation "could be a lot worse":

I think I've definitely come out of it probably, I don't know, I'd say, a lot stronger and a better person than what I was and what I would have been, you know. I think if maybe I'd gone into professional sports and I'd done an injury a lot later on where I was actually at that level, you know like, doing a knee or something and having it taken away when you know that you're there, probably would have been a bigger loss. Having put in so much time and effort into it already and all of a sudden then stuck, as an adult not knowing what I was going to do, you know, for fifty more years.

As time went on, those who had been knuckling down and working hard to get back on track began to accept this approach as counterproductive. Ryan reflected on how he had learned to accept the slow pace of recovery and to feel grateful to be "gradually" getting better: "Yeah you can't make your brain heal faster, I guess.... I'm always getting better slowly. It just takes a very long time to get better." Others discussed coming to the realisation and acceptance that brain injuries may be worse than generally believed: "I had a boss and he said, 'you're young, you can bounce back quite a bit quicker'. That's actually not the case, it doesn't matter how old you are, the way I see it, it takes ages to recover." [Matthew].

These processes of acceptance allowed participants to approach their difficulties in a new way. This generally meant learning to balance their determination to move forward with rest and recovery, which they had begun to view as important for maintaining wellbeing.

Samuel recounted how he had come to realise the importance of "making sure that you rest up when you have an injury like that, 'cause you only get one head and one brain, so you might as well look after it". Similarly, Ryan wished to advise other participants experiencing TBI of the significance of balance:

I think just the biggest thing's like time, and making sure that you're pushing yourself and not overdoing it basically, like 'cause you got to keep trying, but you can't overdo it. It takes a while to get used to that, 'cause it's quite easy to overdo it and everything changes 'cause you just want to be normal obviously."

Many of the migraine sufferers noted managing stress levels and ensuring regular sleep as important for staying well even years following their injuries. Brandon, for example, learned, "I think I can usually pretty much avoid them [migraines] if I just have, like it's not really about the lack of sleep, it's about how regular my sleeping pattern is…like, if I get out of whack, yeah."

Despite their efforts, some expressed how it was not always possible to maintain the perfect balance or to pre-empt "burn out" [Amy]. Brandon noted: "but it's hard, you get caught up in life and you've already run yourself down by the time you realise." As with the immediate aftermath of their TBIs, motivation to remain involved in life continued to present dilemmas for the participants as they wanted to stay involved in everything that they valued. Amy shared how she had learned to recognise her limitations, prioritise the things considered most important to her, and to practise saying 'no':

It was hard to say no to some people because you're so used to like, I don't know, spending so much time with them and doing stuff with them. But like once I'd said "no" once, it was really empowering, right. So once I was like "okay like it doesn't actually ruin the world, I can say 'no' to people and that's fine".... Definitely in

talking to you now like thinking back to how insecure and teenager-like I was in that time, like, I've definitely come a long way to be like reflecting on what's happened and actually knowing what I like and being confident in myself, and saying 'no'.

All the participants talked, in some way, about the importance of having a hobby or passion, and this seemed to provide another means of achieving balance in their lives. Most expressed the opinion that life is better when one can do the things they are passionate about. Nick spoke about how having "found something that I'm really passionate about, something that I really love and enjoy" had been central to multiple changes that improved his life:

I struggled with my mental health for a few years so, until I was about, probably about 16. So, at that point things kind of changed a bit, so when I was 16, I started picking up sport, became more active and a little bit more social, kind of, stopped doing some of the odd stuff that I used to do. ... So that I was actually out doing something, doing something productive, something that was actually, sort of, changing my life. And I think that was really important for me as a young, you know, as a bit of kid, yeah.

It seemed that having balance between a range of interests was best. Still carrying lingering grief over losing his sports, Dylan felt that balancing one's identity across multiple areas might protect against any single loss: "If you throw your whole identity into that, and then, some people do it with work as well as you say, and then if you lose that thing it can be devastating."

In summary, this theme captured how participants began to gradually recognise that their injury had impacted them more than they had initially believed. As time went on, it became apparent to some that 'knuckling down' was counterproductive to their ability to stay involved and well in the long term. Most talked about reaching a point of acceptance that their injuries had changed them in some way. For many, this was followed by a change in priorities, and learning to balance working hard and engaging in enjoyable interests and passions, as well as having sufficient rest.

Finding meaning: 'You can either come out bitter or better'. This theme explores how, through time, the participants seemed to engage in a process of finding meaning in what had happened to them. Interestingly, none of the participants said that they would take away what happened – this only emerged once, in a comment made by a family member. Although parents' perspectives were not the focus of this study, a comment from Brandon's mother, "you do definitely still wish it never happened", provided an interesting contrast to the narratives presented by the participants themselves. Rather than wishing their injuries had not happened, participants sought meaning from them, mostly by reflecting on how they had become stronger or more resilient, and how they could use their experience to help others.

For some, taking part in the research had provided an opportunity to reflect on what they had been through, and how they had responded:

Funny how this [interview] makes me realise and makes me think, kind of double think what reasons make sense.... A bit of an eye opener this one. This is probably the most adult conversation I've had about this stuff, it's definitely eye-opening.

Especially looking back at it now, 'cause I never talked about it at all. [Ethan]

Upon these reflections, many participants seemed to consider that going through difficult experiences, like their TBIs, had been necessary for developing strength and growing into a better person. This point was aptly articulated by Samuel:

Definitely, if you don't go through trials then you don't become stronger, you just become, you're just weak, I guess. The more things you go through, the better you come out. You can either come out of it bitter or better. So it's just a personal choice you have to make.

Samuel's comment implies that there is an element of choice in how one responds to their adversities. In a similar vein, Amy hinted that finding the empowering lesson from a challenging event was a conscious process:

I think that, yeah, it really helps to, I don't know, kind of like empower yourself and be like, "I can get through this, I've done this and the world didn't end, like it's fine, I'm a better person at the end of it"

Focusing on the positives was not straightforward, however, and certainly seemed to require fully acknowledging just how hard the experience had been (and continued to be) to endure. Looking back and reflecting appeared to help participants look forward and trust that they possessed the skills to deal with future difficulties. Some emphasised acknowledging the ongoing sense of loss and suffering that might come from sustaining a TBI, whilst also holding onto the learning gained:

You are almost able to look back and be like, you know, "I've been through this, it's been terrible. Sure, I'm going to go through hard stuff again, but look at what I do know. Look at where I've come, where I've been".... And I don't think any of that happens without, you know, the brain injuries. But at the same time, having that, it is, it's difficult, you know? [Dylan]

Dylan's words exemplify the emotion and inner conflict felt as he has endeavoured to accept the impacts of his TBIs and to have gratitude for having survived and grown from them whilst, at the same time, allowing himself to feel sad over what was lost:

I find trying to think about it, you know, there are some parts where I just want to break down and cry. Yeah that's probably the biggest part, I just, you know, it's almost, it's not, tears of sadness ... part of it's, you know, this overwhelming emotion, like "I can't believe I've been through that, and it happened to me, and I've got out the other side" and then part of it's, you know, like, "I wonder what it could have been like, if it had been different?" [Dylan]

Similarly, Ryan's words have a flavour of the conflict between acknowledging how one's injury has shaped them, and not wishing to be defined by it:

I guess it has been quite a big chunk of my life so far, so I try to make sure it doesn't define me, 'cause I don't want it to, because it's not a good thing to be defined by.

Yeah, it's definitely affected who I am.

Difficult events happening during adolescence were perceived as having the potential to change you as a person, to shape who you are, and help you learn to be an adult: "Oh yeah, I've had numerous pressures and, you know, everything really. I've had it all. Now I'm kind of, it's pretty much made me who I am." [Ethan]. This, in turn, provides the confidence to keep going, to know that you are 'okay', despite things happening that are hard to deal with:

Yeah and that's probably where they find, or I found, my confidence was in like the going through some big events, you know things that happen in your life and then being able to bounce back from that, and being like "I'm a better person than this" or "this happened but it wasn't my fault, like, I'm okay" and keep going with life. [Amy]

Another common source of meaning for the participants emerged from the use of their TBI experiences to help others. Interestingly, a large proportion of the participants were either training or working in healthcare at the time of their participation in the research.

Many felt their experiences provided them with inside knowledge, which enabled them to develop a deeper empathy for the position of their patients than they may otherwise have had:

I've almost been able to flip it back the other way now that I work in [healthcare], you know flipping it back round when you're talking to patients and relating to them, you know and they go through, I mean they may not have had a head injury but they've got that anxiety, that stress, you know.... Being able to get alongside them and say, "I understand this is what it's like for you, I'm here to support you", which I think is what I would have liked. So, kind of, my negative experience has pretty much become a positive change for the way I would try to relate to people in my job. [Dylan]

Being able to offer this kind of support through work was perceived as not only helpful for their patients, but also for the participant. Dylan spoke about how this offered a sort of meaning to what had happened to him:

In all the years that I've been struggling, you know with everything, that probably helped the most ... just being able to turn it back round. I think, "Okay, it was a negative experience that sucked while it was happening, it still sucks because you are

still going through it, but you can benefit others because of it".... I wonder if there's that sense of isolation and almost abandonment, and wanting to help others so that they don't have to, you know, share your experience.

Some participants found that their personal TBI experience gave them a unique position from which to advocate for patients with similar injuries, particularly when colleagues underestimated the extent of symptoms experienced by patients, as Lauren reflected:

It's totally, well, it's changed my practice. I guess like if we ever get someone on the ward with a concussion or TBI ... I think if I hadn't had had a concussion, I wouldn't have been as understanding, 'cause I know a lot of [my colleagues] are just like "oh, could be a TBI, could be a concussion, they'll be right, they're walking, they're fine". ... Like I had a patient a wee while ago ... she didn't have any physical deficits, but she was just so hugely fatigued and just super dizzy all the time. To the fact where she needed help to get out of bed. Physically she was fine, but everything else wasn't. And the [staff member] on the ward was like "oh, she just needs to get over it", and I was like "hang on!"

This theme explored how many participants had reflected on and discovered some sense of meaning from their injury. Participants shared powerful narratives depicting how the experience of challenges like a TBI could 'empower' a person, and/or shape you into a 'better' person. Some expressed gratitude for how their own experiences enabled them to have a deeper level of empathy for others who are struggling, with this providing a great deal of meaning for the participant.

**Summary.** This category of themes has explored the participants' resourcefulness in coping with the challenges that accompanied their injuries. The ways in which the participants had responded to their TBIs tended to be shaped by their general perception of the injury, perceptions which seemed to gradually change over time. Initially minimising their suffering to 'it's just a concussion', most had sought to 'just get on with it' and proceeded to 'knuckle down' and work hard to try and get back on track with life. Counter to

their intentions, this approach seemed to exacerbate difficulties that participants had been trying to overcome, particularly as their efforts caused them to feel more 'worn out'. What followed was a gradual shift in perspective towards recognising that the injuries had perhaps impacted the participants more than initially considered. The participants learned to accept their losses and limitations and sought to gain a sense of balance in life, mostly in the form of prioritising rest and developing their interests. Finally, participants told of how they had been able to attribute some kind of meaning to what had happened to them. This seemed to occur through a mostly conscious process of reflecting on how the experience of adversities is crucial for the development of strength. Some also found meaning by using their experiences to help others. The next category of themes covers participant descriptions of how friends, family and professionals helped, or could have helped, them through their difficulties.

## **Category Five: Social Resources for Coping**

When discussing the factors that were most important for recovery from TBI, almost all participants talked about the significance of support from three sources; friends, family, and professionals. This final category explores the role of each of these groups in the participants' journey of recovery by capturing the ways in which the participants felt that others had helped, or could have helped, them through their difficulties.

Feeling included: 'I had a really good friends' network'. Most participants talked about the role of peers as prominent in their lives. Whilst previous sections have highlighted the pain associated with lost friendships following TBI for some, another line of narrative was how helpful friends had been, not only for recovery from a head injury, but for helping navigate the typical challenges of growing up.

One important way in which friends had been supportive was by simply carrying on as normal and continuing to hang out with the participant following their injury. Danielle recalled the significance of being able to return to her previous friendship groups:

I guess I had quite a really good friends' network, like I had quite a lot of friends, different friends, so like I had all my riding friends, I had my school friends and I had, you know, friends from sports and I guess spending quite a lot of time with them...

Yeah it did make quite a bit of difference I guess.

Similarly, Brandon had shared how his friends "always still kept inviting me out and stuff like that ... I suppose just going to school and carrying on like it's a normal day, yeah, just going back to normal, that helped."

Participants' stories suggested that things were better for them when they felt a sense of belonging. Continuity of friendships was less available for some participants due to moving schools or disrupted belongingness to a sports team. For these youth, there was often a process of seeking a new group to which to belong. Nick reflected on how finding a new sense of this belonging had helped him overcome a period of anxiety, depression and loneliness:

Definitely for me as a kid, like camaraderie. So, I was part of a rowing team and within that we became like family ... they became like brothers to me, and so did about another fifteen other guys. And so you form like a family and it's a really tight bond and especially when you're, like, when you're with each other, we were doing like twice a day, six days a week, you know. So it was quite intense, and it was really good 'cause it really kind of groups you together, keeps you on a good track, on a path upwards, you know.

Group belonging did not cease to be important after the teenage years. Dylan's description of finding a work team indicates how regaining a sense of camaraderie, even years later, served as a powerful antidote to the isolation he felt after giving up sports:

To be honest, it probably wouldn't have been until my last year of Uni ... just instantly suddenly overnight, just fell in love and I was like, "this is where I'm supposed to be". You know, you're working in a team, and it might not be on a sports field but there's always that sense of accomplishment.... We've done it as a team, everyone is excited and happy, you know. Even the whole meeting up after work and stuff, you know like, that hasn't happened to me since high school. So coming into

this team as a brand-new person and being so accepted and so welcomed straight away, having everyone wanting to get to know you, I think was when the whole isolation bit, I kind of started living.

Matthew described similar experiences when he started his new job. Having someone to joke with seemed to add a sense of quality to his day, and an element of this belonging:

We're just kind of, like if I give someone crap at work, they just give it straight back, just like joking around kind of thing ... like that's usually just like sometimes during the day, just to try and make the day go a bit better.

Generally, friends were discussed as critical for survival. Ethan spoke at length about how, through his teenage years and up to now, "definitely friends" had been the most important presence for helping him with all kinds of life difficulties:

Oh yeah, even to this day if I wasn't hanging out with the people I am today, like the reason I'm moving out is 'cause I've broken up with my ex of numerous years, and if my friends weren't there for me, I'd be falling into a bottomless pit.

Overall, this theme has depicted the centrality of friendships to participants' recovery. Friends helped by providing a sense of belonging, which made the participants feel less alone as they navigated the challenges related to, not just their TBIs, but life in general. For some, continuity of group-belonging had helped, while others had found this support through new friendship connections.

Relying on family: 'I don't know where I'd be without my parents'. This theme details how, in addition to friends being there, feeling cared for by family was portrayed in participant narratives as essential for recovery from a TBI.

Many spoke appreciatively of their families for continuing to look after them following their injuries. This seemed particularly important for Ryan, who named family as the single most crucial factor in his recovery, "I mean if I didn't have my parents supporting me as much as I did, I have no idea where I would be now". In addition to providing support

with daily needs as he was consumed by fatigue, Ryan noted the importance of his parents' advocacy and assistance with navigating the medical system:

Aw just everything, like letting me live here no problem. Just, like Mum definitely helped with all the ACC stuff 'cause I had none of that basically, I wasn't, it was hard enough to deal with other stuff. Yeah, they just generally helped with everything like. I guess I lived just like a teenager for quite a few years you know.

Brandon's mother had continued to help him navigate the medical system at the time of interview: "She's probably just been like a manager really, organising, taking the lead".

Parents, it seemed, were also there to remind participants to take care of themselves. Samuel's mother's knowledge of brain injury, and her insistence that he follow her guidelines for looking after his body, was appreciated retrospectively, as he reflected, "It was nice to have someone that cares, I guess, even though we don't always appreciate it when we're young". In describing his mother's input, Samuel stated:

Yeah probably family I guess, definitely and yeah 'cause my mum used to work in a head injury place, where they did rehabilitation, so she knew all about it. So she made sure I had enough rest and you know, I ate and drank properly, and didn't do anything too rough for a while. So, that's kind of cool I guess, yeah. Us guys can be a little bit ignorant, and just want to do things and don't care about the consequences.

When considering family support, participants mostly talked about their parents, but there were times where siblings had filled the 'looking after' role, as opposed to their parents.

Lauren recalled how her sister helped her out in the initial stages after her TBI:

Well I think my sister did the extra looking after for a little while. She was the one that was there telling me, like waking me up when I'd sleep too long, and making sure I wasn't reading too much and all of that, yeah.... It was really nice to be honest, because I love being looked after and I loved the attention I was getting from my sister, like I thrived on it.

Lauren explained how this was special for her as she and her sister had not previously had a very close relationship: "At that stage were not friends at all, in the slightest. She's three

years older than me, very difficult relationship, and then when I got my concussion, she just changed and was loving, caring. It was really nice." Rachel described her older sister as taking a similar position following her injury: "When I'm injured, she gets very protective older sister".

This theme has captured the ways in which the participants had felt supported by their families following their injuries. That parents provided practical support with daily needs and with navigating medical systems seemed particularly appreciated and necessary as participants struggled to manage their symptoms.

Professionals didn't get it: 'Left in the dark to find your own way'. This theme discusses participant descriptions of the kinds of professional support that they felt might have been helpful to their recovery. Almost all participants talked about the absence of professional input throughout their recovery journey. Brandon, for instance, reflected that he "probably didn't actually have a lot of support from any doctors or anything like that, well it didn't really feel like it anyway".

One of the most common difficulties mentioned was the absence of someone with specialised TBI knowledge who could provide participants with an idea of how their injury might impact them. No one recalled receiving any information regarding what to expect during recovery. Lauren stated, "I got nothing", and Ryan reflected, "I remember at the time no one would ever like tell you how long it's going to take to recover, and that sort of thing". Difficulty understanding what was happening to them was described amongst the most challenging and anxiety-provoking aspects of the injury: "It's given me a lot of fear and anxiety just from not knowing what was going on or what was going to happen" [Dylan]. Many felt that being given some information regarding what to expect would have made it easier to cope:

I think just knowing that there was the potential that it could have lasted longer I think would have helped me cope better. Like, I like timelines and I know you can't

give definitive timelines in something like this, but the possibility that this could be a longstanding thing would have been nice to know. [Lauren]

Participants believed that the professionals they had contact with also did not know what was happening. Brandon reflected: "I think part of the issue was that no one really knew what was happening or, kind of, why I was getting a lot of the headaches and stuff that I was getting". Ryan had accepted how this lack of certainty on the professionals' part made it difficult for them to provide the answers he sought:

No one would really give you like a sort of straight answer about it, because they probably don't know if you're ever going to recover or not, and they don't want to tell you that you're not going to recover, or they don't want to tell you that it's going to take a long time, because it might not be the most positive news, but without telling you it sort of leaves you a bit like not knowing what's going on. And 'cause you don't really hear too much about how other people with similar injuries are going, or what sort of things they do, so you're sort of left in the dark, to find your own way, basically.

Many participants also noted a lack of rehabilitation or treatment, akin to what they had received for other injuries, which targeted their TBI-related symptoms:

Yeah well, it's just the same if you break your arm or whatever, then you go to physio' after you get your cast off, to rehabilitate it. There should be rehabilitation afterwards. ... Yeah, well I mean I was going to physio' for my neck and stuff like that, to get better, but then I wasn't going to anything for the concussion, so yeah.

[Brandon]

Ryan, the only participant to have sustained a moderate injury, described his follow-up professional input as mainly a lot of assessment, which had not really helped:

A lot of work I guess like. Just 'cause you'd have to go see, you have to do a bunch of different things that weren't actually much help, I guess. I mean there was not a lot they can do, I guess they're just trying to help so.

Ryan expressed a great deal of resignation regarding the limitations to what could have been done to help him, since "they can't change my brain, I guess". Samuel, whose mother had

professional experience with TBI, was the only participant to report receiving rehabilitative input specific to his TBI, and he described feeling satisfied with this support:

No, it was all fairly good, like. I think I had regular check-ups with the doctors and that and then like, physio' and that, that was all pretty good. Like, you know, I had a pretty good physio' program for memory. So that was there, and then you had check-ups with the doctor.

This theme has captured how participants reported a lack of specialist input during their recovery, and how they may have benefitted from such support. Most participants explained how some of the uncertainty and anxiety surrounding their injuries may have been alleviated had they been given information about what to expect. Furthermore, some others expressed how they might have benefitted from some form of rehabilitation for their symptoms, which only one member of the sample had received.

Lacking someone who understands: 'Somebody to talk to might have helped'.

Finally, participants commonly reflected on how they would have greatly benefited from having access to others who understood what they were going through and with whom they could speak about their difficulties.

Many participants had found initial understanding from those around them to be short-lived, particularly as others struggled with maintaining patience for the participant's persisting headaches, fatigue and irritability. Lauren shared how, "when it just carried on and I kept being frustrated and angry, it just all fell apart again". Participants often interpreted their family's general attitude to injuries as "Oh, you'll be fine" [Rachel] or "you'll be right" [Lauren], and recalled feeling as though they had been expected to "get back on the horse" [Danielle] and to "just kind of get on with it and try to get on with life, put it back to normal" [Matthew]. Feeling as though others could not comprehend their ongoing suffering was spoken about as upsetting and frustrating:

It kind of got to the point, too, where friends and even mum and dad, because they're not going through the same thing, they are not experiencing what you're experiencing, they get quite frustrated at you too, and then it's kind of frustrating that they are getting frustrated at you because they don't understand. And they just think, you know, "oh my goodness, get over yourself, it's just a headache!" [Dylan]

Some, like Ryan, shared how hard it had been to cope with the invisibility of their injuries:

It's something they can't really see or anything as well like. I remember I broke my hand like probably six months after my head injury ... I remember people like asking me about my hand a lot more than my head, and it's like my hand was nothing you know ... they think you're healed. But yeah, it's quite hard.

Ryan described the disillusionment he felt as people did not seem to recognise just how hard he was trying in the face of considerable fatigue:

It's always pretty de-motivating as well like, 'cause like you're working your ass off but nobody else can see it basically. Yeah, 'cause you're doing as much as, like I'd be like really working as hard as I can and the rest of my life would suffer, and everyone else would just take it for granted that you should be doing more than that.

The perception that others would not understand seemed to contribute to a tendency to "hold everything in" [Danielle]. It seemed that holding things in had served to prevent the sense of vulnerability that might result from openly sharing one's struggles with others who did not understand, as told by Dylan:

I think there are just still some things that, you know, I'd just rather keep to myself about, kind of, what's going on and how I'm feeling, you know? Yeah, it's kind of, you know, something happens and you tell someone, and then the negative experience that you got from them and I'm just, I'll close that part off. Which I think, is probably why as well sometimes when things get a little bit too much, I think I kind of retreat to, maybe, a lot more of a darker place than I probably could have if I let some of it go. But I just, I'm just not ready to let out all that emotion to people.

Keeping everything to oneself, whilst feeling misunderstood by the people around them, had been quite a lonely experience for participants: "I very much felt like I was on my

own" [Dylan]. On reflection, many participants considered how they would have appreciated "somebody to talk to" [Brandon]. Rachel felt that parents should position themselves as available for their participants to talk to, and considered "not just knowing they're there" as important "but actually being able to talk to them". Rachel believed that parents, being in the relative position of power, should approach the participant and ask them how they are:

I feel like, it's almost on the parent to approach them more cause, like, it's really easy, 'cause, like, they've set the rules your whole life.... I feel like you almost need the parent to come to you and be like "Are you okay? Is this going okay? Is that going okay? Do you need anything?" kind of thing.

Some related their loneliness to feeling as though they were the only one to experience this kind of suffering. Some predicted that others could not possibly understand them, as they had not been through a similar experience. Matthew said: "Just not having the support from people, just that's quite hard 'cause it just feels like I'm the only one who's had it and I only know what it's like to go through it." Matthew was one of a couple of participants to note how it may have helped to talk to peers with similar injuries: "If they had gone through the same thing it would have given me, I would have been able to learn from their experience of what they learnt, rather than going into it alone". Indeed, those who had access to peers who had experienced similar injuries, such as Samuel, described how they had not felt so alone:

I know heaps of people who had concussions ... So that helped. And I'm not the only one to go through injuries, my older brother's had a few so, it's like, "I kind of know how you feel". He's had concussions, but not quite as bad, but he's like "Yeah, I know how you feel, kind of". So it's kind of cool.... He's sort of been through a similar thing.

In addition to these suggestions regarding how having understanding family and peers to talk to may have helped, many shared how they also would have liked a professional to

talk to. It seemed that having access to someone with specialist knowledge of TBI might have helped normalise the participant's experience, as expressed by Dylan:

Aw yeah, you know, yeah, just having someone tell me, you know, telling you, "this is normal, this is what we see", not "Oh we don't really know what's going on, we don't know how we can help you, you're just going to have to sit and ride it out".

Brandon reflected on how such a professional may have recognised that he was still struggling, "like, how my grades at school were bad, like have somebody, like obviously they will see from that that I'm not back to normal." Participants highlighted the importance of having an ongoing relationship with such a professional, as this may have aided a sense of feeling understood, thereby enabling the participant to share their struggles as they emerged. Amy indicated the potential implications of having such a relationship available for a participant's mental health and wellbeing following a TBI:

And even like the kind of mental health stuff that goes with it, like anxiety around doing things, or depression around like, I don't know, the isolation and the fatigue that you feel. Like it could evolve into more if you didn't have that support, in my opinion. Not like labelling things, but yeah, I think that it's really important to have that and even just have somebody to talk to like some kind of counsellor or support or something so that you have somebody reliable to get that off your chest and try and move past it.

In summary, a sense of feeling misunderstood by the people around them permeated the narratives told regarding the roles of friends, family and professionals. The participants found themselves avoiding talking about their ongoing issues, as the perceived invisibility of these meant that others seemed to expect them to quickly return to how they had been before. Participants reflected on how having someone to talk to about their difficulties might have alleviated the loneliness that accompanied this experience of feeling misunderstood, and may have increased their sense that their experiences were normal. It seemed that a combination of having an approachable parent who asks how they are going, access to peers who have

been through something similar, and an ongoing relationship with, or at least some access to, a professional who knows about TBI might have been beneficial in alleviating some of the suffering and loneliness experienced in the months and years following their TBIs.

**Summary.** Overall, themes in this final category have demonstrated participants' descriptions of how other people had been there to help them following their injuries, as well as the ways in which they would have liked people to be there. All participants, in some way, discussed the real or hypothetical role of support from three sources; friends, family and TBI professionals. It seemed that, in general, the ideal support scenario would have provided the participants with a sense of belonging, someone to take care of them and tend to practical needs, someone with professional knowledge of TBI, and someone to talk to who was perceived to understand.

Participants discussed how friends had helped them by just being there, continuing to involve the participant as they had always done. Some who had lost this sense of continuity in friendships talked about how things were better for them when they later found a new source of belonging. Families, particularly parents, were crucial to providing care, practical support and helping navigate health systems, whilst the participants focused on managing their symptoms. Thirdly, this category has highlighted the absence of meaningful professional input throughout the TBI recoveries. Participants reflected on how they might have benefited from being provided with information about what to expect following a TBI, from having their experiences normalised, and from having some kind of rehabilitation for their symptoms. The one participant to have received this input had a family member who had worked professionally with TBI, which seemed to have increased access to this support. Finally, throughout participant narratives was a strong sense that having someone to talk to (be it friends, family or professionals), and to show they understood, would have made the biggest difference to recovery and coping with the challenges that followed sustaining a TBI.

### **Chapter Four: Discussion**

This study used a qualitative methodology to gain an improved understanding of the adolescent experience of sustaining a TBI, and how this might impact a participant's long-term psychological wellbeing and adjustment to adulthood. It also sought the perspectives of participants who had sustained a TBI during adolescence regarding recovery processes and support they would have liked. This study adds to the growing body of literature regarding adolescent TBI to inform and enhance age-appropriate rehabilitative interventions.

This chapter begins with a brief commentary on the demographic and injury characteristics of the sample. This is followed by a discussion of the key findings in relation to the literature regarding TBI overall, and adolescent TBI specifically. Potential implications of these findings for clinical practice and future research are addressed, and the primary strengths and inevitable limitations of the study are discussed.

### **Participant Demographics and Injury Features**

The proportion of the sample who had sustained a mTBI (n=12 or 92.31%) is reasonable, given that 95% of the overall BIONIC cohort had mTBI (Feigin et al., 2013). The proportion of young men to young women is close to the overall finding of increased incidence in young males in NZ (Barker-Collo et al., 2008; Feigin et al., 2013), and internationally (Langlois et al., 2004). With just one Māori participant (7.69%), Māori were underrepresented based on overall population (14.9%; Statistics New Zealand, 2013) and the finding that TBI is substantially more common amongst Māori (Feigin et al., 2013); whereas one Pacific participant (7.69%) is representative of the overall population (7.4%; Statistics New Zealand, 2013). Māori are commonly underrepresented in research, as their indigenous status and history of colonisation present barriers to participation (Health Research Council of New Zealand, 2010; Sporle & Koea, 2004). Māori were less likely than NZ Europeans to consent to participate in the original BIONIC study and were also harder to contact for follow

ups. For instance, in the BIONIC adult cohort, 33.6% and 65.7% of Māori declined follow up or could not be contacted at one and four years, respectively, compared with 26.6% and 50.9% of NZ Europeans, respectively (Barker-Collo et al., 2015; Theadom et al., 2017).

Injury causes included motor vehicle accidents (n=5), sporting injuries (n=7), and assault (n=1), which aligns roughly with recent international figures on the common causes of TBI in youth (Thurman et al., 2016). BIONIC findings also reported motor accidents and assaults as common causes of TBI in young people, but unfortunately did not include sporting injuries as a separate category (Feigin et al., 2013).

# **Key Findings**

Thematic analysis of data from semi-structured interviews with participants who sustained a TBI between the ages of 13 and 17 produced five categories of themes. The key findings from these themes are discussed in turn below in relation to the existing research. Firstly, the experience of enduring post-concussive symptoms (PCS) is discussed. Secondly, the ways in which injuries impacted important areas of the participants' lives (i.e., school, employment, peer relationships), are addressed. The subsequent section discusses how experiencing a TBI during adolescence might impact identity-formation and adjustment to adulthood. Finally, recovery processes following TBI are discussed, specifically in relation to findings regarding individual and social resources for coping.

The enduring nature of post-concussive symptoms. Participants' descriptions of symptoms such as migraine headaches, tiredness, thinking problems and emotional difficulties are consistent with most reports of common PCS amongst adolescents (Babcock et al., 2013; Starkey et al., 2018). While a couple of members of the current sample noted these symptoms abating within days or weeks, problems more commonly endured for years, even until the time of the interview. This is contradictory to previous indications that PCS resolve quickly following paediatric TBI (Carroll, Cassidy, Peloso, et al., 2004; Emery et al.,

2016; Hooper et al., 2004), particularly the 'persuasive' evidence reported by the WHO (Carroll, Cassidy, Peloso, et al., 2004), which maintained that mTBI has little impact on children and adolescents. The current pattern is more consistent with later suggestions that 30% to 32% of children and adolescents continue to experience PCS beyond the initial month following even mTBI (Davis et al., 2017; Eisenberg et al., 2014; Zemek et al., 2016). Inconsistent findings might be due to over-reliance on quantitative measures and proxy reports (Di Battista et al., 2015, 2012). Variations in the age ranges may also have contributed to differences, since less than half of the studies included in the WHO report investigated outcomes for participants injured over the age of 14, whereas Davis and colleagues (2017) mostly reviewed studies favouring the adolescent period. The latter review concluded that those aged over 13 were more likely to experience persisting symptoms. Recent papers from the BIONIC cohort provide figures for longer-term outcomes, indicating that 28% of children and adolescents (aged <16 years; N = 208) continued to present with four or more PCS two years following mTBI (Starkey et al., 2018), with little improvement observable two years later (Jones et al., 2019).

Cognitive, physical and emotional symptoms seemed more prolonged and debilitating for those who were older when injured, and particularly those who reported additional TBIs as older adolescents. The latter finding is unsurprising, given the association between more severe and enduring PCS and recurrent TBIs in adolescents (Davis et al., 2017; Zemek et al., 2016). Whilst research regarding age-related patterns of PCS recovery within the adolescent period itself is lacking, there is evidence for an increased risk of psychological problems (e.g., depression) for adolescents who are injured after the age of 15 years (Chrisman & Richardson, 2014; Sariaslan et al., 2016). It is possible that the older participants observed a greater impact of symptoms due to the increasing pressures associated with later adolescence. For instance, Amy expressed that the impact of her injury may have been greater had she

been older at the time and facing important exams as well as greater pressure to keep up socially. Many of those injured later found PCS were exacerbated by exam stress. Adolescents elsewhere have indicated that PCS were worse when school expectations and general pressures of growing up increased (Di Battista et al., 2014b), and there is evidence that work and study can exacerbate PCS (Mayer et al., 2017). Another factor that seemed to exacerbate PCS was a general eagerness to quickly return to school and activities, as has been observed in other adolescents post-TBI (Iadevaia et al., 2015). A correlation has been found between increased hours of school attendance and exacerbated PCS in adolescents (14 – 19 years old) shortly following a concussion (Makki et al, 2016). Finally, a tendency for the participants to deal with problems themselves, without seeking support may have also contributed to difficulties (a coping pattern discussed further below).

Powerful descriptions provided by the participants in this study regarding their emotional functioning added a particularly striking contribution to the growing literature on the adolescent experience of PCS. Emotional symptoms ranged from bouts of frustration and irritability to more enduring anxiety and depression, still experienced by some participants seven to eight years after their injury. Anecdotes, such as Ryan's about breaking his hand, add richness to the quantitative evidence for ongoing irritability and frustration following child and adolescent TBI (Starkey et al., 2018). Furthermore, the extraordinary accounts of the fear, anxiety and depression felt by participants may help explain the higher rates of psychological problems found in youth who experienced TBI (Albicini & McKinlay, 2015; Chrisman & Richardson, 2014; Laliberté Durish et al., 2018). The broader literature is unclear regarding whether emotional problems emerge as a direct result of TBI or secondary to other TBI-related changes (Laliberté Durish et al., 2018; Max et al., 2012). Narrative patterns from the current study would trace anxiety to uncertainty regarding what other symptoms (e.g., slowed thinking) might mean for the participants' health or their futures, as

well as to difficulty trusting their brain to function properly as they tried to carry on with life. Depressive symptoms appeared to arise from struggling to cope with other overwhelming PCS, such as migraines, fatigue, and cognitive impairments. This is in agreement with the finding of an association between depression and pain in adolescents three years after sustaining a TBI (Tham et al., 2013).

In summary, the initial category of themes from this study highlighted that some youth may continue to struggle with the impact of PCS following an adolescent mTBI for longer than was once thought. Those injured when older face particular life pressures that could result in increased difficulty coping, which prolongs symptoms, and this might have an especially adverse effect on the emotional functioning of older adolescents. The next section explores the impacts of PCS on the areas of life considered important to the participants.

### Impacts on life.

Impacts on school and work. New performance problems at school were common amongst the current participants. Narratives were laden with descriptions of how cognitive problems, such as zoning out, forgetfulness, difficulty putting thoughts together, and physical issues, such as fatigue and migraines, had caused them to feel as though their school performance had deteriorated. These findings add some context to previous evidence for academic impairments following adolescent TBI (Ewing-Cobbs et al., 2004; Lloyd et al., 2015; Savage et al., 2005).

Findings from the current study might also inform our understanding of even longer term poor educational and occupational outcomes for those who sustained TBI as children or adolescents, particularly after age 15 (Sariaslan et al., 2016). Thinking problems carried on, impacting some participants' transition to new professions as adults, whilst fatigue and/or migraines created barriers for others as they sought to establish themselves in a career. These patterns may help explain why young adults (aged 19 – 25 years) experience relatively high

fluctuations in employment after sustaining a paediatric TBI (Todis et al., 2011; N = 89). Other findings, such as associations between recurrent TBIs and poor concentration and slowed thinking at one month post-injury and work problems years later (Theadom et al., 2017), are in agreement with many of the narratives shared here.

Impacts on peer connections. Almost all participants experienced some sense of feeling left out by peers as they had to focus on recovering from PCS, and this was described as frustrating and upsetting. Some completely lost touch with former peer groups as they had to cease playing sports, move classes at school or simply because friends moved on without them. In addition, changes in thinking appeared to make engaging socially more difficult, which could lead to embarrassment, anxiety, reduced confidence and conflict in relationships. Quantitative researchers (Nelson et al., 2005; Rosema et al., 2012; Ryan et al., 2018; Yeates et al., 2014, 2007) tend to emphasise social information processing deficits as the basis for social changes, which is reasonable given the vulnerability of white matter (critical to the increasingly sophisticated social skills developed during adolescence) to TBI-related damage (Andersen, 2003; Henry et al., 2015; Turkstra et al., 2008). However, the current findings imply that feeling excluded by one's peers may be a more immediate culprit.

Whilst social changes have emerged from qualitative research regarding adult TBI, they are not generally reported as prominent themes or a key source of distress for participants. Adult papers (Levack et al., 2010; McPherson et al., 2018; Paterson & Stewart, 2002) tend to emphasise the impact of complex thinking difficulties, fatigue, irritability and the invisibility of TBI on participants' social behaviours, quality of interactions and motivation to engage socially. The current pattern of findings is more akin to limited qualitative research with adolescents (Di Battista et al., 2014b; Iadevaia et al., 2015; Mealings & Douglas, 2010; Rennie, 2015; Rødset, 2008); which places social changes, particularly a changed sense of 'fitting in', amongst the most distressing impacts of their

injuries. This difference may be attributed to life-stage factors, with developmental research highlighting the importance of constant positive connection to peers and a sense of belonging for a young person's wellbeing (Baumeister & Leary, 1995; Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016).

In the current study, those who sustained more severe (e.g., Ryan) or multiple (e.g., Talia, Dylan, Matthew) injuries seemed to report the most ongoing changes to their social lives and social identity. These young people described a degree of ongoing isolation, a lost sense of where they 'fit' socially, reduced social confidence and a sense that they were no longer as sociable as they had once been. Members of Di Battista and colleagues' (2014b) cohort mentioned a similar sense of lost social confidence. Those participants who experienced a greater degree of disruption to their social lives were also older members of the current sample, with all sustaining their index injury over the age of 15.

Summary. The current research provides rich descriptions regarding changes that occurred within important areas of participants' lives post-TBI. Such findings inform possible mechanisms underlying reduced quality of life reports following adolescent TBI (Di Battista et al., 2012; Fineblit et al., 2016). The ongoing distress triggered by participants' struggles to regain momentum in life might explain the significant deterioration in quality of life (particularly in school and social domains) observed in the BIONIC youth cohort between one and four years post-TBI (Jones et al., 2019).

Impacts on identity. The finding that TBI impacted how young people viewed themselves is not unexpected, given recurring reports of how adult TBI causes identity disruptions (Beadle, Ownsworth, Fleming, & Shum, 2016; Levack et al., 2010; Thomas et al., 2014). While themes within the adult literature emphasise the rediscovery of one's self post-TBI, the patterns observed in this study's data would indicate that TBI sustained during adolescence is more disruptive to the process of identity-formation. This fits with decades' worth of literature emphasising identity formation as a key task of adolescence (Erikson,

1968; Kroger, 2007; Luyckx et al., 2008; Schwartz et al., 2011). The current participants shared a belief that identity is formed through social engagements and partaking in a variety of activities, akin to trying on different available identities before committing to a particular identity, as described in identity formation theories (Erikson, 1968; Luyckx et al., 2006; Schwartz et al., 2011).

As adolescents, the present study participants seemed highly sensitive to what changes following their injuries meant about *them* (e.g., the assumption that changes at school meant one must be 'stupid'). Other authors have observed that, where individuals lack visible signs of TBI, struggles associated with the injury may be misattributed to the person themselves (Krahn, 2015; McClure, Patel, & Wade, 2011). On the other hand, visible injuries gave rise to a separate range of challenges, by creating an undesirable sense that there was something weird or different about the participant, as has been observed in adolescents with TBI elsewhere (Gauvin-Lepage & Lefebvre, 2010; Rødset, 2008). Adolescents with chronic illnesses and disabilities also concern themselves with such difference and value being perceived as 'normal' or 'just like everyone else' (Gibson et al., 2014; Yates et al., 2010). At a developmental time where one perceives an 'imaginary audience' (Elkind, 1967; Elkind & Bowen, 1979), where one's assessment of one's standing amongst peers is a priority (Irons & Gilbert, 2005), and where peer rejection can shape one's developing personality (Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016), it is evident that feeling different to one's peers following a TBI might impact a young person's social self-perception.

Participants who were older at the time of injury seemed to struggle with the loss, or threatened loss, of certain identities. Considering the concepts of exploration and commitment within the identity status paradigm (Luyckx et al., 2006), it seemed that those who had already 'committed' to a specific identity experienced distress when this identity was no longer available following a TBI. For instance, Lauren felt anxious and upset as she

believed she might no longer be 'intellectual' like her family; and Dylan expressed ongoing grief over the loss of his sporting identity. In contrast, Adam lacked distress regarding cognitive changes because he had never imagined a cognitively-taxing career for himself.

Such a range of responses would suggest that a TBI may impact an adolescent differently depending on their prior degree of identity commitment, the degree of perceived disruption to that identity, and the permanence of that disruption following injury.

An adolescent TBI might form a barrier to the exploration of potential identities, particularly as symptoms such as fatigue, migraines or thinking problems prevent a young person from taking part in a multitude of experiences (i.e., 'trying on' various identities). Difficulty keeping up with life is a common problem impacting adults' self-perception post-TBI (McPherson et al., 2018; Nochi, 1998; Paterson & Stewart, 2002; Theadom et al., 2016). This may be a particular challenge for adolescents who, as Amy highlighted, feel pressured to be involved in 'everything'. Sociological literature indicates that the transition to adulthood has become more complex for the current cohort of young people, given sociocultural and political changes in recent decades. The decline of prescribed pathways to adulthood and increased economic precarity has brought about greater pressure on youth to extend their commitments across multiple life domains (e.g., work, study, leisure, relationships, personal development, parenthood) in order to become a successful adult (Schwartz et al., 2016; Wyn & Woodman, 2006). The present study patterns suggest that sustaining a TBI during later adolescence might be disruptive to a young person's ability to engage in these commitments.

The current findings have also shown that TBI may be disruptive to attaining many of the perceived symbols of gaining 'independence' (i.e., the primary marker of adulthood; Sawyer & Azzopardi, 2018), including being able to drive, going out with friends, living away from home and attending university. Previous research has indicated a positive correlation between the severity of a TBI sustained during adolescence and longer time till

independent living is attained (Todis et al., 2011), which is consistent with the current research where Ryan, the only participant with a moderate injury, had described the greatest felt sense of delayed independence. For the current participants, it seemed that perceived parental overprotectiveness also formed a barrier to attaining independence.

Participants' stories also contained evidence of positive identity growth experiences, as will be discussed in the next section. As has been observed in adult TBI experiences (Levack et al., 2010; Nochi, 2000; Thomas et al., 2014), the participants in this study engaged in a process of self-reflective meaning-making, which saw their injuries contributing to a sense of having grown from the experience of TBI and culminated in a more resilient self-perception.

Overall, this research has shown how certain features of the adolescent TBI experience may disrupt or influence the process of identity-formation and create barriers to attaining certain markers of independence, thereby affecting the transition to adulthood.

**Coping and recovery processes.** This study sought to broaden the literature regarding recovery processes following adolescent TBI, and to understand what adolescents themselves considered helpful or unhelpful following such an injury.

Individual resources for coping. Participants in this study showed a clear preference for self-reliance and problem-solving when faced with TBI-related challenges. This is consistent with the developmental literature, which proposes that adolescents become more autonomous in their coping with age, and begin to approach problems as challenges that can be mastered through self-efficacy and problem-solving (Cicognani, 2011; Gulliver, Griffiths, & Christensen, 2010; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). This approach provided the young people with some sense of control as they found themselves in seemingly uncontrollable situations following their TBIs. Although it has been suggested that male

adolescents display more self-efficacy than females (Cicognani, 2011), such gender differences were not apparent in the current sample.

The broader literature on coping (Folkman, 1997; Thomsen, Fritz, Mößle, & Greve, 2015) suggests that when stressful situations cannot be resolved through problem-solving, accommodative strategies, which involve changing one's perspective of a problem, are used. Participants in the current study gradually accepted problems that could not be solved (e.g., enduring difficulties with learning) or issues over which they had no perceived control (e.g., migraines, fatigue). In doing so, they made downward comparisons (e.g., 'it could be worse'), altered their view of the problem to a more positive one, and/or changed their focus to new interests and achieving rest and balance. These efforts are consistent with Thomsen and colleagues' (2015) descriptions of accommodative coping.

Participants' responses to their injuries went beyond simply coping as, through time, many underwent what appeared to be post-traumatic growth (PTG) experiences (Rogan et al., 2013). Many seemed to conclude that experiencing their TBIs had helped them grow into stronger or 'better' people. Some also had found meaning from their injuries through serving patients with other healthcare concerns. PTG has frequently been observed in adults following TBI (Grace et al., 2015; Graff, Christensen, Poulsen, & Egerod, 2018; McGrath & Linley, 2006; Powell et al., 2012). Adolescents in other qualitative studies have been seen to draw meaning from TBIs, integrate their limitations to develop new priorities in life, and report being 'happy' in their lives post-TBI (Di Battista et al., 2014b; Mealings & Douglas, 2010; Rennie, 2015; Rødset, 2008).

Given the dearth of research on youth experiences of TBI, and especially the lack of longer-term studies, there is limited literature regarding youth recovery processes. However, research regarding youth experiences of physical illness (Jones, Parker-Raley, & Barczyk, 2011; Manning, Hemingway, & Redsell, 2014; Yates et al., 2010) and mental health issues

(Corrigan, Druss, & Perlick, 2014; Kerrisk, 2014; Lam, 2013; Lam et al., 2011) reveal parallel recovery patterns to the current study, and highlight PTG as central to recovery at this stage of life. Specifically, qualitative research indicates that young people recovering from an episode of psychosis face very similar challenges to those described by participants in the current study. In particular, both samples noted that the unpredictable course of the illness and fear of exacerbating symptoms can create uncertainty for youth as they face developmental tasks associated with adjusting to adulthood (Corrigan et al., 2014). Youth and young adults recovering from psychosis spoke about their illness as life-enhancing and as having improved them in some way (e.g., increased maturity, confidence, awareness of their values). Recovery was spoken about as an ongoing process involving finding balance and reducing commitments, learning about oneself and finding ways to 'give back' by helping others (Corrigan et al., 2014; Lam, 2013; Lam et al., 2011); much the same as the present sample.

Participants in this research displayed developmentally appropriate use of independent coping responses, as the patterns described are observed increasingly in children and adolescents as they age. This is enabled by cognitive development, and can buffer against the negative effects of stress, and predict wellbeing and social and emotional functioning in youth in the general population and adolescent brain tumour survivors (Thomsen et al., 2015; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011).

Overall, participants made great attempts to utilise independent coping mechanisms to manage a large and unexpected stressor that had altered their sense of self. Coming to grips with the consequences of their injuries was not immediate, but an extended process that continues to the present.

*Social resources for coping.* The literature indicates that, while adolescent coping styles tend to centre on individual efforts, social supports also play an important role as a

'back up system' in the event of stress (Compas et al., 2017). That is, peers become more prominent in the young person's support system with age, while adolescents continue to seek support from family, if to a lesser degree (Cicognani, 2011; Compas et al., 2017; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). Almost all participants described how friends, family and professionals had helped or could have helped their recovery.

The presence of friends. Participants in the current study saw friendships as important to providing a sense of belonging and continuity. Being able to return to their peers helped the young people maintain some normality. It was evident that some participants (e.g., Amy, Brandon, Danielle) felt better able to cope with the ups-and-downs of post-injury life when they had an established and available friendship group. Others described stress related to the unavailability of steady friendships. For example, Nick had started a new school, and Dylan had lost his sense of belonging to his sports teams. This finding may be understood in the context of the 'general benefits' and 'stress-buffering' models of social support, which together convey the importance of peer availability for bolstering self-worth, purpose and positive affect more generally, whilst also offering protection against the negative effects of stress (Cohen & Wills, 1985; Rueger, Malecki, Pyun, Aycock, & Coyle, 2016). The association between social support and wellbeing is stronger for older youth (Rueger et al., 2016) and adolescents are thought to become increasingly dependent on their peers for support with age (Cicognani, 2011; Compas et al., 2017). Such a pattern was not evident in the current study. Although girls are also thought to rely on social support more than boys (Cicognani, 2011), there were no obvious differences relating to gender in how the current sample of participants spoke about the role of friends in their recovery.

Support from family. Emotional support and caring from family were critical for helping the participants through challenges related to their injuries. It seemed important that family were available to 'look after' the participant as they struggled to manage symptoms,

and to provide practical support by allowing the participant to remain living at home. Parents were also important advocates who helped navigate the healthcare system. Adults who have experienced TBI (Graff et al., 2018; McPherson et al., 2018) and young people experiencing a psychotic episode (Corrigan et al., 2014; Windell & Norman, 2013) have reported similar forms of support from family as helpful in their recoveries.

The unavailability of professionals. Overwhelmingly, participant narratives denoted an absence of any specialised brain injury support. Participants felt that the professionals available (e.g., GPs, assessing psychologists) were unable to provide the answers they sought regarding what to expect from TBI recovery. Participants expressed that feeling more informed might have alleviated some of their anxiety regarding ongoing symptoms. Feeling validated and reassured by practitioners, as well as being supported to develop a coherent understanding of their injuries, are considered by other TBI sufferers as important for enabling recovery (Levack et al., 2010; Snell, Martin, Surgenor, Siegert, & Hay-Smith, 2017).

Adult participants in NZ and internationally have expressed similar feelings of confusion, dissatisfaction and perceived lack of rehabilitation and information from professionals (Graff et al., 2018; McPherson et al., 2018; Snell et al., 2017). Whilst specialist TBI services are available in NZ via the Accident Compensation Corporation (ACC; i.e., the government funded no-fault system that funds all injury-related health care), it seemed that many were unaware of this or of how services could be accessed. Only Ryan (who had sustained the more severe TBI) and Samuel (whose mother could advocate for him as she had previously worked in TBI rehabilitation) had reported receiving any engagement with specialist TBI services. TBI sufferers elsewhere have identified a lack of transparency regarding support available as a barrier to treatment, and individuals with milder injuries

seem to experience particular difficulty in this regard (Graff et al., 2018). These authors also noted the absence of services equipped to meet the specific needs of young people.

The absence of validation. The current participants' descriptions of what they would have liked to receive as part of their recovery indicated an overall lack of validation and emotional support. Many wished they had had a trustworthy other to talk to about their TBI-related problems. Similarly, young people elsewhere have shared the importance of feeling understood, believed and listened to non-judgementally in their journeys of recovering from a mental illness episode (Wallcraft, 2005). Likewise, interviews with adults following a mTBI indicated that feeling validated and reassured by others could have a buffering effect on the stress experienced (Snell et al., 2017). The current study revealed a combination of factors (e.g., developmental, injury-related, societal) that seemed to contribute to the participants' difficulty with accessing this validation and support.

Firstly, literature regarding adolescent help-seeking behaviours indicates that a preference for autonomous coping forms a key barrier to overall help-seeking, while mistrust in health professionals further limits willingness to approach services (Berridge, McCann, Cheetham, & Lubman, 2018; Gulliver et al., 2010; Rickwood, Deane, Wilson, & Ciarrochi, 2005). In addition, the developmental perception that no one could possibly understand the young person (Elkind, 1967; Lapsley, 1993; Stallard, 2007; Vasa et al., 2002) seemed active in this sample and was perhaps exacerbated by the invisibility of TBI. Those around a young person might be likely to misattribute features of the TBI (e.g., irritability) to their life stage (McClure et al., 2011; Starkey et al., 2018), increasing a sense that no one understands them. Qualitative research with adults indicates that, whilst invisibility may enable a degree of 'normality' to be preserved, it might also exacerbate suffering and loneliness (McPherson et al., 2018; Paterson & Stewart, 2002). The concept of the 'identity paradox', which has been addressed by research with young people with chronic illnesses and disability (Jones et al.,

2011; Yates et al., 2010), appears relevant to the current sample. This concept emphasises how motivation to appear 'just like everyone else' and not wanting to be defined by one's illness/injury could lead an adolescent's need for support to go unrecognised.

Societal factors may also have played a role in the youth's difficulty obtaining emotional support. Attempts by the participants to elicit care from others were met with a feeling of being stigmatised, as well as messages such as 'you'll be right' and 'get back on the horse'. In the NZ context, stigmatisation of TBI occurs as there is a perception that people look down upon those who have sustained a TBI (McLellan et al., 2010).

Participants' reported responses from others also reflect a cultural view common within NZ that promotes stoicism and a 'she'll be right' approach to life (Braun, 2008; Catley, Blackwood, Forsyth, & Tappin, 2015; Cupples, Guyatt, & Pearce, 2007; Peter, Losekoot, & Poulston, 2013). It seems that this attitude has created a tendency for people to respond to expressions of emotional distress from family and friends (particularly men) with messages to 'harden up' and 'deal with it' (King, 2019). In the current sample, these sentiments were especially evident in young men's tendency to identify as someone who does not 'stress'.

The current participants offered suggestions regarding how they might have felt more emotionally supported. With regard to peers, the participants thought they might have felt more understood if they were able to talk to someone who had been through a similar experience. Research with young people recovering from a serious mental illness indicates that group identification and connecting with similar others might contribute to better recovery, personal wellbeing and social integration (Corrigan et al., 2014; Naslund, Aschbrenner, & Bartels, 2016; Windell & Norman, 2013). The current sample also felt that the onus is on the parents to approach the adolescent to check how they are going, and that having an ongoing relationship with a trustworthy professional may have helped. Young people have indicated that the availability of a professional who demonstrates trustworthiness

and approachability, and who prioritises rapport might reduce the barriers to help-seeking and disclosure (Berridge et al., 2018; Corry & Leavey, 2017; Lindsay et al., 2016).

Summary. The current study has revealed insights from young adults regarding how recovery following an adolescent TBI may be better supported by others. The findings have shown that recovery was smoother for those with a continued sense of belonging and continuity amongst their peers, when parents were present and offered practical support and 'looked after' the young person, and when TBI professionals were available to provide information regarding what to expect from TBI recovery. In addition, developmental and cultural factors regarding barriers to support-seeking in this group have been discussed.

The clinical implications of the key findings discussed above are addressed below, followed by examination of the study's strengths and limitations and, finally, some conclusions are drawn.

## **Clinical Implications**

Findings from this study have multiple potential implications for clinical practice, both in supporting a young person through the acute stage following adolescent TBI and for facilitating recovery and growth in the longer term. Many recommendations parallel those that have recently been described in the guidelines for mTBI management in children and adolescents by The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC; Lumba-Brown et al., 2018). However, there are no specific protocols available in NZ for meeting the unique needs of adolescents post-TBI (Accident Compensation Corporation, 2017).

**Acute management.** That many participants in this study experienced symptom exacerbation upon return to their activities adds support for cognitive rest. Cognitive rest (i.e., refraining from all cognitive and physical activity), in addition to a carefully-considered plan for gradual return to activity, is increasingly recommended as most crucial for managing the impact of PCS (Lumba-Brown et al., 2018; Mayer et al., 2017). The current research

findings also add to a growing discussion regarding the benefits of education about TBI (Lumba-Brown et al., 2018; Snell et al., 2017). The CDC specifically recommends providing information to youth and their families regarding PCS features, the expected course of recovery, signs of more serious injury, instructions for monitoring PCS, rest and careful return to activity (Lumba-Brown et al., 2018). Whilst there is no definitive evidence for providing information to families in paediatric cases, systematic reviews demonstrate the effectiveness of educational interventions for adult mTBI in reducing negative outcomes (Nygren-De Boussard et al., 2014; Snell et al., 2016).

The present findings also support the CDC recommendation for ongoing monitoring of PCS and a plan for follow up with a multidisciplinary team in the event of persisting symptoms (Lumba-Brown et al., 2018). There is preliminary evidence for the benefits of multidisciplinary case management in treating PCS (McCarty et al., 2016; Vikane et al., 2017). One study with adolescents (McCarty et al., 2016; N = 49) showed promise for the role of a case manager who would advocate for patients and coordinate with professionals in school, psychiatry, GP, and other specialist areas to ensure that participants' physical, psychological, and other needs were addressed. Those who experience ongoing difficulties due to mild or moderate TBI sustained in NZ are entitled to access the ACC Concussion Service, which provides multidisciplinary assessment and intervention coordinated by a case manager (Accident Compensation Corporation, 2019; Provost, 2014). However, the current participants' experiences would indicate the presence of considerable problematic gaps in accessing this service. Adult participants in NZ reported a need to be proactive and assertive to have their problems recognised and to access the necessary support (McPherson et al., 2018; Snell et al., 2017). TBI symptoms often make advocating for oneself more challenging (McPherson et al., 2018) and problems with accessing services, understandably, can

exacerbate symptoms and prolong recovery (Snell et al., 2017). Work needs to be done to reduce these barriers to accessing services.

Facilitating longer-term recovery. Beyond coordination of care and PCS-management, the current study has highlighted the importance of facilitating social and emotional support for adolescents post-TBI, and this also aligns with CDC recommendations (Lumba-Brown et al., 2018). The participants in this study indicated that having family members ask how they are going might have alleviated their distress. Perhaps educating parents regarding TBI might also prompt them to initiate conversations with their young person regarding their symptoms and the resulting emotional impact.

In addition, access to peers who have been through a similar experience should be facilitated. Whilst the current ACC strategic plan indicates an intention to establish peer support groups, these are also likely to focus on adult cases (Accident Compensation Corporation, 2017). Young people recovering from mental illness have expressed a preference for sourcing peer support online (Alvarez-Jimenez, Gleeson, Rice, Gonzalez-Blanch, & Bendall, 2016; Highton-Williamson, Priebe, & Giacco, 2015; Lal, Nguyen, & Theriault, 2018), and there is emerging interest in the literature in the use of social media for support following TBI (Brunner, Hemsley, Palmer, Dann, & Togher, 2015). Social media can offer a psychological sense of community (Reich, 2010), and reduce social isolation and a feeling of missing out following TBI (Brunner et al., 2015). A brief search of social media sites has revealed multiple available TBI support groups, including those specific to NZ. With social media use now a part of everyday life, particularly for young people (Greenwood, Perrin, & Duggan, 2016), adolescents may already be seeking information and support from this source. Thus, it might be important for TBI professionals to be informed regarding accurate websites and online support groups, given the potential for misinformation online (Frish & Greenbaum, 2017; Lal et al., 2018).

Psychotherapy may be a helpful resource in supporting young people in their recovery in many ways. Firstly, clinicians might promote the use of adaptive coping strategies, such as positive cognitive re-appraisal, which could help reduce distress in the short-term and, with time, activate PTG processes (Rogan et al., 2013). Psychotherapy may also facilitate meaning-making and identity formation with young people (Kerrisk, 2014). There is a dearth of quality evidence for the effectiveness of psychotherapeutic interventions following TBI, even in adults (Bergersen, Halvorsen, Tryti, Taylor, & Olsen, 2017). However, there is some support for cognitive behaviour therapy in adults targeted at anxiety and depression symptoms post-TBI, even years after injury (Bédard et al., 2014; Ponsford et al., 2016). McCarty and colleagues (2016) found significant improvements in PCS and functioning following six months of modular cognitive behaviour therapy, in addition to case management, in 11 to 17-year-olds who sustained a concussion. Treatment targeted anxiety and depressive symptoms via teaching coping skills, relaxation and positive reappraisal of symptoms.

The findings from this study indicate that assistance following an adolescent TBI should extend beyond the acute phase and management of PCS, and clinicians should be aware of the broad range of impacts that a TBI might have on a young person's life. Furthermore, in the years following a TBI, youth may continue to require support with completing high school exams, transitions to university, employment, and other steps on the pathway to adulthood. For those with more enduring issues, transfer to adult services may be required (Lindsay et al., 2016). This study has also highlighted the need to address the difficulty that people experience in accessing supports that are available via ACC.

### **Strengths and Limitations**

This research adds considerably to the growing body of literature regarding the impacts of adolescent TBI. To the writer's knowledge, this is the first study to qualitatively

explore longer term experiences and recovery processes following adolescent TBI, spanning the period into early adulthood. That all participants in the sample had sustained their TBI between the ages of 13 and 17 years and were in their early 20s at interview, and with a similar time period between injury and research participation add to the strength of this study. This was also the first study to qualitatively present the experiences of NZ youth following an adolescent TBI, with some inclusion of members from Māori and Pacific communities.

The qualitative design presented the ideal stance from which to explore the research topic. With the majority of existing research on adolescent TBI dependent on quantitative measures and parent reports, by seeking the perspectives of young people themselves, this study offers a unique insight into adolescent experiences and their definitions of recovery and wellbeing. A critical realist epistemology enabled the research to locate participants' accounts within the reality of sustaining a TBI, whilst also acknowledging that such an experience is shaped by multiple individual and sociocultural factors. Rather than pursuing an objective 'truth', this research sought to uncover the range of subjective experiences that might occur for a young person following a TBI. In addition, a positive youth empowerment stance allowed this study to draw out the strengths that young people possess as they face challenges that commonly result from TBI. This study has thereby broadened the discussion within the somewhat deficits-focused body of existing literature to incorporate themes of resilience and growth following an adolescent TBI.

The findings of this study are, however, limited by selection bias, which inevitably arose due to the nature of the recruitment process. Those who continued to consent to involvement in the BIONIC research, and who were willing to partake in the current study, were possibly more likely to fall in the minority of adolescents who experience enduring PCS (Davis et al., 2017; Starkey et al., 2018). The sample may also have been biased towards those with a particular interest in healthcare and/or those who were more educated, as most

participants were at least working towards third level qualifications. This is not insignificant, given that socioeconomic status can affect outcomes following adolescent TBI (e.g., Fineblit et al., 2016). In addition, given the longitudinal nature of the BIONIC research, the sample was impacted by attrition over time. This seemed to account for the low number of Māori and participants of other ethnicities, since retention rates have been reported as significantly lower for members of ethnic minority groups in longitudinal research on TBI (Sander et al., 2018). Despite attempts to reduce these barriers in the current study, it was also important to be respectful of the young people's right to decline participation.

Other research limitations relate to the nature of the qualitative methodology. With regard to participant numbers, in a field of study that values quantitative investigations, large samples and generalisability, a sample size of 13 is small. Yet in qualitative work, approximately 12 participants is considered sufficient for achieving saturation in a study with a homogenous sample (Guest, Bunce, & Johnson, 2006; Morrow, 2005). With no new significant themes evident in the final interview, saturation was considered achieved with the current sample; that is, sufficient data had been gathered to tell a rich story, but not too much that would preclude a deep engagement with the data. Generalisability is not the intention of qualitative research, so much as providing a snapshot of certain common elements of a phenomenon, in order to deepen the overall understanding of that phenomenon. Findings should be read with consideration of the effects of recall bias; that is, the patterns reported reflect how participants remembered their experiences. This research sought to capture the perspectives of those young people who were willing to tell their stories, and therefore cannot be taken to represent any single 'truth' or the experiences of all young people who sustain an adolescent TBI. In particular, given that the majority of participants had sustained mTBI, these findings cannot be considered representative of the experiences of youth who endured moderate or severe injuries.

Finally, it is important to reiterate the role of the researcher in shaping the current findings. Although reflexivity allowed the researcher to monitor the influence of power differentials and researcher biases, the directions taken during interviews, the interpretation of data and the shaping of themes were all influenced by the researcher. Thus, the present findings are to be viewed as collaborative and interactional productions, rather than as uninfluenced by the researcher. In keeping with this stance, input from a second coder was not sought during analysis, as this would align more with the (realist) assumption that the data hold an accurate reality that could be uncovered through coding (Braun & Clarke, 2017).

#### **Directions for Future Research**

This study has uncovered many gaps that exist in the literature pertaining to adolescent TBI. Certainly, there has been an upsurge in quantitative research regarding certain direct impacts of adolescent TBI (e.g., the prevalence of persisting PCS) since the commencement of the current study. However, this picture remains rather vague. For instance, despite the growing indication that PCS are likely more debilitating for adolescents than children or adults, a suggestion of poorer outcomes for those injured during later adolescence is much less substantiated. Further establishing a possible connection between the increased pressures of the later teenage years and greater impacts of TBI could inform more targeted treatment for this age group.

In addition, our understanding of the potential secondary effects on young people's lives, particularly into adulthood, remains significantly lacking and requires further attention. The broad focus of this exploratory study meant that many matters raised by the participants could not be explored in depth. Most significantly, given the centrality of identity formation processes to youth development, it seems imperative that these areas be further explored through quantitative and/or qualitative research, as has been done within the adult literature (Beadle et al., 2016; Levack et al., 2010; Thomas et al., 2014).

Furthermore, more specific investigation into the adult phase after adolescent TBI should prove to be informative. For instance, the current sample included just one parent, who reported an ongoing sense of feeling overwhelmed and exhausted. Unfortunately, one participant is insufficient to identify any parenting-related patterns following adolescent TBI. Further studies should investigate how young adults adjust to new pressures that accompany becoming a parent, particularly in the event of enduring fatigue or memory problems.

Finally, with the bulk of the literature directed at problem identification, there is a strong need for empirical investigation regarding interventions. Rigorous evidence for the effectiveness of case management, multi-disciplinary team involvement, and psychotherapy is significantly lacking in both adult and adolescent literature.

#### Conclusion

In conclusion, adolescents are at a particular risk of sustaining a TBI, and even mild TBI can have consequences for a young person's functioning, engagement in life and developing sense of self. Injury impacts and recovery processes following adolescent TBI differ to those seen in research with adults, as the young person faces unique developmental challenges, particularly as they must learn to navigate their increasingly complex social worlds whilst discovering who they are and where they fit in the world. Recovery following adolescent TBI might be maximised by facilitating greater understanding of the injury and acknowledging its impacts on important areas of life, as well as the provision of emotional support and encouraging post-traumatic growth.

#### References

- AbdelMalik, P., Husted, J., Chow, E. W. C., & Bassett, A. S. (2003). Childhood head injury and expression of schizophrenia in multiply affected families. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 60(3), 231–236. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/126 22655%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=PMC3774653
- Accident Compensation Corporation. (2017). Traumatic Brain Injury Strategy and Action

  Plan (2017-2021): Improve the quality of life of New Zealanders by reducing the

  incidence, severity and impacts of traumatic brain injury. Wellington. Retrieved from

  www.acc.co.nz
- Accident Compensation Corporation. (2019). Concussion Service Operational Guidelines Version 2, (July), 1–55.
- Adamson, C., Yuan, W., Babcock, L., Leach, J. L., Seal, M. L., Holland, S. K., & Wade, S. L. (2013). Diffusion tensor imaging detects white matter abnormalities and associated cognitive deficits in chronic adolescent TBI. *Brain Injury*, 27(4), 454–463. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699052.2012.750756
- Albicini, M., & McKinlay, A. (2015). A systematic review of anxiety disorders following mild, moderate and severe TBI in children and adolescents. In *A fresh look at anxiety disorders* (pp. 199–224). Intech publishing.

  https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.5772/57353
- Alosco, M. L., Fedor, A. F., & Gunstad, J. (2014). Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder as a risk factor for concussions in NCAA division-I athletes. *Brain Injury*, 28(4), 472–474. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699052.2014.887145
- Alvarez-Jimenez, M., Gleeson, J. F., Rice, S., Gonzalez-Blanch, C., & Bendall, S. (2016).

  Online peer-to-peer support in youth mental health: seizing the opportunity.

  Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences, 25(2), 123–126.

- Andersen, S. L. (2003). Trajectories of brain development: Point of vulnerability or window of opportunity? *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 27(1–2), 3–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-7634(03)00005-8
- Anderson, V., Brown, S., & Newitt, H. (2010). What contributes to quality of life in adult survivors of childhood traumatic brain injury? *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 27(5), 863–870. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2009.1169
- Anderson, V., Brown, S., Newitt, H., & Hoile, H. (2009). Educational, vocational, psychosocial, and quality-of-life outcomes for adult survivors of childhood traumatic brain injury. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*, 24(5), 303–312. https://doi.org/10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181ada830\r00001199-200909000-00001 [pii]
- Anderson, V., Catroppa, C., Morse, S., Haritou, F., & Rosenfeld, J. (2005). Functional Plasticity or Vulnerability After Early Brain Injury? *Pediatrics*, *116*(6), 1374–1382. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2004-1728
- Armstrong, F. D., Toledano, S. R., Miloslavich, K., Lackman-Zeman, L., Levy, J. D., Gay, C.
  L., ... Fishkin, P. E. (1999). The Miami Pediatric Quality of Life Questionnaire: Parent scale. *International Journal of Cancer*, 83(S12), 11–17.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1097-0215(1999)83:12+<11::aid-ijc4>3.0.co;2-8
- Arnett, J. J. (2000). Emerging adulthood: A theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. *American Psychologist*, *55*(5), 469–480. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.5.469
- Ashtari, M., Cervellione, K. L., Hasan, K. M., Wu, J., McIlree, C., Kester, H., ... Kumra, S. (2007). White matter development during late adolescence in healthy males: A cross-sectional diffusion tensor imaging study. *NeuroImage*, *35*(2), 501–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.10.047
- Babcock, L., Byczkowski, T., Wade, S. L., Ho, M., Mookerjee, S., & Bazarian, J. J. (2013).

- Predicting postconcussion syndrome after mild traumatic brain injury in children and adolescents who present to the emergency department. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *167*(2), 156–161. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.434
- Babikian, T., Marion, S. D., Copeland, S., Alger, J. R., O'Neill, J., Cazalis, F., ... Hilleary, S.
  M. (2010). Metabolic levels in the corpus callosum and their structural and behavioral correlates after moderate to severe pediatric TBI. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 27(3), 473–481.
- Babikian, T., Satz, P., Zaucha, K., Light, R., Lewis, R. S., & Asarnow, R. F. (2011). The UCLA longitudinal study of neurocognitive outcomes following mild pediatric traumatic brain injury. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *17*(5), 886–895. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617711000907
- Baillargeon, A., Lassonde, M., Leclerc, S., & Ellemberg, D. (2012). Neuropsychological and neurophysiological assessment of sport concussion in children, adolescents and adults. *Brain Injury*, 26(3), 211–220. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699052.2012.654590
- Barker-Collo, S. (2007). Behavioural Profiles and Injury Severity Following Childhood
  Traumatic Brain Injury. *Brain Impairment*, 8(01), 22–30.
  https://doi.org/10.1375/brim.8.1.22
- Barker-Collo, S, Jones, A., Jones, K. M., Theadom, A., Dowell, A., Starkey, N., & Feigin, V.
  L. (2015). Prevalence, natural course and predictors of depression 1 year following traumatic brain injury from a population-based study in New Zealand. *Brain Injury*, 29(7–8), 859–865. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699052.2015.1004759
- Barker-Collo, S, Wilde, N. J., & Feigin, V. L. (2008). Trends in head injury incidence in New Zealand: A hospital-based study from 1997/1998 to 2003/2004. *Neuroepidemiology*, 32(1), 32–39. https://doi.org/10.1159/000170090
- Barker-Collo, Suzanne, Jones, K., Theadom, A., Starkey, N., Dowell, A., Mcpherson, K., ...

- Feigin, V. (2015). Neuropsychological outcome and its correlates in the first year after adult mild traumatic brain injury: A population-based New Zealand study. *Brain Injury*, 29(13–14), 1604–1616. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699052.2015.1075143
- Barlow, K. M., Crawford, S., Brooks, B. L., Turley, B., & Mikrogianakis, A. (2015). The Incidence of Postconcussion Syndrome Remains Stable Following Mild Traumatic
  Brain Injury in Children. *Pediatric Neurology*, 53(6), 491–497.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2015.04.011
- Baumeister, R. F., & Leary, M. R. (1995). the Need To Belong Desire for Interpersonal Attachments As a Fundamental Human-Motivation. *Psychological Bulletin*, *117*(3), 497–529. https://doi.org/0033-2909
- Bazeley, P., & Jackson, K. (2013). *Qualitative Data Analysis with NVivo*. (P. Bazeley & K. Jackson, Eds.). Sage Publications.
- Beadle, E. J., Ownsworth, T., Fleming, J., & Shum, D. (2016). The impact of traumatic brain injury on self-identity: A systematic review of the evidence for self-concept changes.

  \*\*Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 31(2), E12–E25.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1097/HTR.000000000000158
- Bédard, M., Felteau, M., Marshall, S., Cullen, N., Gibbons, C., Dubois, S., ... Moustgaard, A. (2014). Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy reduces symptoms of depression in people with a traumatic brain injury: Results from a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 29(4). https://doi.org/10.1097/HTR.0b013e3182a615a0
- Bener, A., Omar, A. O. K., Ahmad, A. E., Al-Mulla, F. H., & Abdul Rahman, Y. S. (2010).

  The pattern of traumatic brain injuries: A country undergoing rapid development. *Brain Injury*, 24(2), 74–80. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699050903508192
- Bergersen, K., Halvorsen, J. Ø., Tryti, E. A., Taylor, S. I., & Olsen, A. (2017). A systematic literature review of psychotherapeutic treatment of prolonged symptoms after mild

- traumatic brain injury. *Brain Injury*, *31*(3), 279–289. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699052.2016.1255779
- Berridge, B. J., McCann, T. V., Cheetham, A., & Lubman, D. I. (2018). Perceived Barriers and Enablers of Help-Seeking for Substance Use Problems During Adolescence. *Health Promotion Practice*, *19*(1), 86–93. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839917691944
- Bigler, E. D. (2007). Anterior and middle cranial fossa in traumatic brain injury: relevant neuroanatomy and neuropathology in the study of neuropsychological outcome.

  \*Neuropsychology\*, 21(5), 515–531. https://doi.org/10.1037/0894-4105.21.5.515
- Blakemore, S.-J., & Mills, K. L. (2014). Is adolescence a sensitive period for sociocultural processing? *Annual Review of Psychology*, 65(August 2013), 187–207. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115202
- Bluth, K., & Blanton, P. W. (2015). The influence of self-compassion on emotional well-being among early and older adolescent males and females. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, 10(3), 219–230. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2014.936967
- Bombardier, C. H., Fann, J. R., Temkin, N. R., Esselman, P. C., Barber, J., & Dikmen, S. S. (2010). Rates of major depressive disorder and clinical outcomes following traumatic brain injury. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 303(19), 1938–1945.
- Bonfield, C. M., Lam, S., Lin, Y., & Greene, S. (2013). The impact of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder on recovery from mild traumatic brain injury: Clinical article. *Journal of Neurosurgery: Pediatrics*, 12(2), 97–102.

  https://doi.org/10.3171/2013.5.PEDS12424
- Bradford Brown, B., & Bakken, J. P. (2011). Parenting and Peer Relationships:

  Reinvigorating Research on Family Peer Linkages in Adolescence. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 21(1), 153–165. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2010.00720.x

- Braun, V, & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research* in *Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. http://dx.doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V, & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners. London: Sage.
- Braun, V, & Clarke, V. (2017). Thematic Analysis. Retrieved January 16, 2018, from https://www.psych.auckland.ac.nz/en/about/our-research/research-groups/thematic-analysis.html
- Braun, Virginia. (2008). "She'll be right"? National identity explanations for poor sexual health statistics in Aotearoa/New Zealand. *Social Science and Medicine*, 67(11), 1817–1825. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.09.022
- Brenner, L. A., Dise-Lewis, J. E., Bartles, S. K., O'Brien, S. E., Godleski, M., & Selinger, M. (2007). The long-term impact and rehabilitation of pediatric traumatic brain injury: a 50-year follow-up case study. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 22(1), 56–64. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/00001199-200701000-00007
- Brooks, D. N. (1991). *The head-injured family. Journal of Clinical and Experimental*Neuropsychology (Vol. 13). https://doi.org/10.1080/01688639108407214
- Brunner, M., Hemsley, B., Palmer, S., Dann, S., & Togher, L. (2015). Review of the Literature on the Use of Social Media by People with Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI). 

  Disability and Rehabilitation, 37(17), 1511–1521. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2sm26871j
- Camic, P. M., Rhodes, J. E., & Yardley, L. (2003). Naming the stars: Integrating qualitative methods into psychological research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology: Expanding Perspectives in Methodology and Design.*, 3–15. https://doi.org/10.1037/10595-001
- Cantor, J. B., Ashman, T. A., Schwartz, M. E., Gordon, W. A., Hibbard, M. R., Brown, M., ... Cheng, Z. (2005). The Role of Self-Discrepancy Theory in Understanding Post Traumatic Brain Injury Affective Disorders. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*,

- 20(6), 527–543. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001199-200511000-00005
- Carroll, L. J., Cassidy, J. D., Holm, L., Kraus, J., & Coronado, V. G. (2004). Methodological issues and research recommendations for mild traumatic brain injury: The WHO Collaborating Centre Task Force on mild Traumatic Brain Injury. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, *36*(SUPPL. 43), 113–125. https://doi.org/10.1080/16501960410023877
- Carroll, L. J., Cassidy, J. D., Peloso, P. M., Borg, J., von Holst, H., Holm, L., ... Pepin, M. (2004). Prognosis for mild traumatic brain injury: results of the WHO collaborating centre task force on mild traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 43, 84–105, 43, 84–105.
- Carson, J. D., Lawrence, D. W., Kraft, S. A., Garel, A., Snow, C. L., Chatterjee, A., ...

  Moineddin, R. (2014). Premature return to play and return to learn after a sport-related concussion: physician's chart review. *Canadian Family Physician*, 60(6), e310–e315.
- Cassidy, J. D., Carroll, L. J., Peloso, P. M., Borg, J., von Holst, H., Holm, L., ... Coronado, V. G. (2004). Incidence, risk factors and prevention of mild traumatic brain injury: results of the WHO collaborating centre task force on mild traumatic brain injury.

  \*\*Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine Supplement, 43, 28–60.
- Catley, B., Blackwood, K., Forsyth, D., & Tappin, D. (2015). Workplace bullying in New Zealand: 'She'll be right?' In M. Omari & M. Paull (Eds.), *Workplace Abuse, Incivility and Bullying* (1st ed., pp. 173–191). London: Routledge.
- Catroppa, C., Crossley, L., Hearps, S. J. C., Yeates, K. O., Beauchamp, M., Rogers, K., & Anderson, V. (2015). Social and Behavioral Outcomes: Pre-Injury to Six Months following Childhood Traumatic Brain Injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, *32*(2), 109–115. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2013.3276
- Cattelani, R., Lombardi, F., Brianti, R., & Mazzucchi, A. (1998). Traumatic brain injury in

- childhood: Intellectual, behavioural and social outcome into adulthood. *Brain Injury*, 12(4), 283–296. https://doi.org/10.1080/026990598122584
- Chesters, J., Smith, J., & Laughland-booÿ, J. (2018). Young adulthood in uncertain times:

  The association between sense of personal control and employment, education, personal relationships and health. *Journal of Sociology*, 00(0), 1–20.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1440783318800767
- Chrisman, S. P. D., & Richardson, L. P. (2014). Prevalence of diagnosed depression in adolescents with history of concussion. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 54(5), 582–586.
- Chwalisz, K., Shah, S. R., & Hand, K. M. (2008). Facilitating rigorous qualitative research in rehabilitation psychology. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, *53*(3), 387–399. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0012998
- Cicognani, E. (2011). Coping Strategies With Minor Stressors in Adolescence: Relationships With Social Support, Self-Efficacy, and Psychological Well-Being. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 41(3), 559–578. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2011.00726.x
- Cingel, D. P., & Krcmar, M. (2014). Understanding the experience of imaginary audience in a social media environment Implications for adolescent development. *Journal of Media Psychology*, 26(4), 155–160. https://doi.org/10.1027/1864-1105/a000124
- Cingel, D. P., Krcmar, M., & Olsen, M. K. (2015). Exploring predictors and consequences of Personal Fable ideation on Facebook. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 48, 28–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.01.017
- Coffey, A. (2002). Reflexivity, the self and positioning. *Qualitative Research in Action*.
- Cohen, S., & Wills, T. A. (1985). Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 98(2), 310.
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., ...

  Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood

- and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, *143*(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110
- Corrigan, J. D., & Deutschle Jr, J. J. (2008). The presence and impact of traumatic brain injury among clients in treatment for co-occurring mental illness and substance abuse.

  \*Brain Injury\*, 22(3), 223–231.
- Corrigan, J. D., Selassie, A. W., & Orman, J. A. (Langlois). (2010). The Epidemiology of Traumatic Brain Injury. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 25(2). Retrieved from https://journals.lww.com/headtraumarehab/Fulltext/2010/03000/

  The Epidemiology of Traumatic Brain\_Injury.2.aspx
- Corrigan, P. W., Druss, B. G., & Perlick, D. A. (2014). The impact of mental illness stigma on seeking and participating in mental health care. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest, Supplement*, *15*(2), 37–70. https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100614531398
- Corry, D. A. S., & Leavey, G. (2017). Adolescent trust and primary care: Help-seeking for emotional and psychological difficulties. *Journal of Adolescence*, *54*(November), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.11.003
- Corwin, D. J., Zonfrillo, M. R., Master, C. L., Arbogast, K. B., Grady, M. F., Robinson, R.
  L., ... Wiebe, D. J. (2014). Characteristics of prolonged concussion recovery in a
  pediatric subspecialty referral population. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 165(6), 1207–1215.
- Cossette, I., Gagné, M.-È., Ouellet, M.-C., Fait, P., Gagnon, I., Sirois, K., ... McFadyen, B. J. (2016). Executive dysfunction following a mild traumatic brain injury revealed in early adolescence with locomotor-cognitive dual-tasks. *Brain Injury*, *30*(13–14), 1648–1655. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699052.2016.1200143
- Cotton Bronk, K. (2010). Neuropsychology of Adolescent Development (12 to 18 Years Old). In A. S. Davis & R. C. D'Amato (Eds.), *Handbook of Pediatric Neuropsychology* (pp. 47–57). New York: Springer Publishing Company.

- Crisp, R. (1993). Personal responses to traumatic brain injury: A qualitative study. *Disability, Handicap & Society*, 8(4), 393–404. https://doi.org/10.1080/02674649366780371
- Crowe, L., Babl, F., Anderson, V., & Catroppa, C. (2009). The epidemiology of paediatric head injuries: Data from a referral centre in victoria, Australia. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 45(6), 346–350. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1754.2009.01499.x
- Cupples, J., Guyatt, V., & Pearce, J. (2007). "Put on a jacket, you wuss": Cultural identities, home heating, and air pollution in Christchurch, New Zealand. *Environment and Planning A*, *39*(12), 2883–2898. https://doi.org/10.1068/a3932
- Davidson, E. (2017). Saying It Like It Is? Power, Participation and Research Involving Young People. *Social Inclusion*, *5*(3), 228. https://doi.org/10.17645/si.v5i3.967
- Davis, G. A., Anderson, V., Babl, F. E., Gioia, G. A., Giza, C. C., Meehan, W., ... Zemek, R. (2017). What is the difference in concussion management in children as compared with adults? A systematic review. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *51*(12), 949–957. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2016-097415
- Debanne, D., Campanac, E., Bialowas, A., Carlier, E., & Alcaraz, G. (2011). Axon Physiology. *Physiological Reviews*, 91(1), 555–602. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00048.2009.
- Dennis, M., Agostino, A., Taylor, H. G., Bigler, E. D., Rubin, K., Vannatta, K., ... Yeates, K.
  O. (2013). Emotional expression and socially modulated emotive communication in children with traumatic brain injury. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society : JINS*, 19(1), 34–43. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617712000884
- Dennis, M., Simic, N., Gerry Taylor, H., Bigler, E. D., Rubin, K., Vannatta, K., ... Yeates, K.
  O. (2012). Theory of mind in children with traumatic brain injury. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 18(5), 908–916.
  https://doi.org/10.1017/s1355617712000756

- Di Battista, A., Godfrey, C., Soo, C., Catroppa, C., & Anderson, V. (2014a). Depression and health related quality of life in adolescent survivors of a traumatic brain injury: A pilot study. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0101842
- Di Battista, A., Godfrey, C., Soo, C., Catroppa, C., & Anderson, V. (2014b). "In my before life": Relationships, coping and post-traumatic growth in adolescent survivors of a traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 46(10), 975–983. https://doi.org/10.2340/16501977-1883
- Di Battista, A., Godfrey, C., Soo, C., Catroppa, C., & Anderson, V. (2015). Does what we measure matter? Quality-of-life defined by adolescents with brain injury. *Brain Injury*, 29(5), 573–582. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699052.2014.989905
- Di Battista, A., Soo, C., Catroppa, C., & Anderson, V. (2012). Quality of Life in Children and Adolescents Post-TBI: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 29(9), 1717–1727. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2011.2157
- Dick, B., & Ferguson, B. J. (2015). Health for the world's adolescents: A second chance in the second decade. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *56*(1), 3–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.10.260
- Dijkers, M. P. (2003). Individualization in quality of life measurement: Instruments and approaches. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 84(4 SUPPL. 2), 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1053/apmr.2003.50241
- Dijkers, M. P. (2004). Quality of life after traumatic brain injury: A review of research approaches and findings. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 85(SUPPL. 2), 21–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2003.08.119
- Doody, O., & Noonan, M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(5), 28–32. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.28.e327
- Dumontheil, I. (2014). Development of abstract thinking during childhood and adolescence:

- The role of rostrolateral prefrontal cortex. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, *10*, 57–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2014.07.009
- Edge, L. (2010). Traumatic brain injury: time to end the silence. *The Lancet Neurology*, 9(4), 331. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70069-7
- Eisenberg, M. A., Meehan, W. P., & Mannix, R. (2014). Duration and Course of Post-Concussive Symptoms. *Pediatrics*, *133*(6), 999–1006. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-0158
- Eiser, C., & Varni, J. W. (2013). Health-related quality of life and symptom reporting: similarities and differences between children and their parents. *European Journal of Pediatrics*, 172(10), 1299–1304.
- Elkind, D. (1967). Egocentrism in Adolescence. *Child Development*, *38*(4), 1025–1034. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1127100
- Elkind, D., & Bowen, R. (1979). Imaginary audience behavior in children and adolescents.

  \*Developmental Psychology, 15(1), 38–44. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.15.1.38
- Emery, C. A., Barlow, K. M., Brooks, B. L., Max, J. E., Villavicencio-Requis, A., Gnanakumar, V., ... Yeates, K. O. (2016). A systematic review of psychiatric, psychological, and behavioural outcomes following mild traumatic brain injury in children and adolescents. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *61*(5), 259–269. https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743716643741
- Erickson, S. J., Montague, E. Q., & Gerstle, M. A. (2010). Health-related quality of life in children with moderate-to-severe traumatic brain injury. *Developmental Neurorehabilitation*, *13*(3), 175–181. https://doi.org/10.3109/17518420903479867
- Erikson, E. (1963). Children and Society (2nd ed.). USA: W. W. Norton & Company.
- Erikson, E. (1968). *Identity: Youth and Crisis*. New York: Norton & Company.
- Esbjörnsson, E., Skoglund, T., & Sunnerhagen, K. S. (2013). Fatigue, psychosocial

- adaptation and Quality of Life ONE year after traumatic brain injury and suspected traumatic axonal injury; Evaluations of patients and relatives: A pilot study. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 45(8), 771–777. https://doi.org/10.2340/16501977-1170
- Eslinger, P. J., Grattan, L. M., Damasio, H., & Damasio, A. R. (1992). Developmental consequences of childhood frontal lobe damage. *Archives of Neurology*, 49(7), 764–769.
- Ewing-Cobbs, L., Barnes, M., Fletcher, J., Levin, H., Swank, P., & Song, J. (2004). Modeling of longitudinal academic achievement scores after pediatric traumatic brain injury.

  \*Developmental Neuropsychology, 25(1), 107–133.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326942dn2501&2\_7
- Fagerholm, E. D., Hellyer, P. J., Scott, G., Leech, R., & Sharp, D. J. (2015). Disconnection of network hubs and cognitive impairment after traumatic brain injury. *Brain*, 138(6). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awv075
- Feigin, V. L., Theadom, A., Barker-Collo, S., Starkey, N., McPherson, K., Kahan, M., ...

  Ameratunga, S. (2013). Incidence of traumatic brain injury in New Zealand: A

  population-based study. *The Lancet Neurology*, *12*(1), 53–64.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70262-4
- Fineblit, S., Selci, E., Loewen, H., Ellis, M., & Russell, K. (2016). Health-Related Quality of Life after Pediatric Mild Traumatic Brain Injury/Concussion: A Systematic Review.

  \*\*Journal of Neurotrauma\*, 33(17). https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2015.4292\*
- Fineman, I., Giza, C. C., Nahed, B. V, Lee, S. M., & Hovda, D. A. (2000). Inhibition of neocortical plasticity during development by a moderate concussive brain injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 17(9), 739–749.
- Folkman, S. (1997). Positive psychological states and coping with severe stress. *Social Science & Medicine*, 45(8), 1207–1221.
- Frish, Y., & Greenbaum, D. (2017). Is Social Media a Cesspool of Misinformation? Clearing

- a Path for Patient-Friendly Safe Spaces Online. *American Journal of Bioethics*, 17(3), 19–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2016.1274795
- Fryer, S. L., Frank, L. R., Spadoni, A. D., Theilmann, R. J., Nagel, B. J., Schweinsburg, A.
  D., & Tapert, S. F. (2008). Microstructural integrity of the corpus callosum linked with neuropsychological performance in adolescents. *Brain and Cognition*, 67(2), 225–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2008.01.009
- Furlong, A., Goodwin, J., O'Connor, H., Hadfield, S., Hall, S., Lowden, K., & Plugor, R. (2017). Young people in the labour market: Past, present, future. Routledge.
- Furlong, A., Woodman, D., & Wyn, J. (2011). Changing times, changing perspectives:

  Reconciling "transition" and "cultural" perspectives on youth and young adulthood. *Journal of Sociology*, 47(4), 355–370. https://doi.org/10.1177/1440783311420787
- Gallagher, M. (2008). Foucault, power and participation. *International Journal of Children's Rights*, 16(3), 395–406. https://doi.org/10.1163/157181808X311222
- Ganesalingam, K., Yeates, K. O., Ginn, M. S., Taylor, H. G., Dietrich, A., Nuss, K., & Wright, M. (2008). Family burden and parental distress following mild traumatic brain injury in children and its relationship to post-concussive symptoms. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 33(6), 621–629.
- Ganesalingam, K., Yeates, K. O., Taylor, H. G., Walz, N. C., Stancin, T., & Wade, S. (2011).

  Executive functions and social competence in young children 6 months following traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychology*, 25(4), 466–476.

  https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022768
- Gauvin-Lepage, J. J., & Lefebvre, H. H. (2010). Social inclusion of persons with moderate head injuries: The points of view of adolescents with brain injuries, their parents and professionals. *Brain Injury*, 24(9), 1087–1097.
- Gibson, B. E., Mistry, B., Smith, B., Yoshida, K. K., Abbott, D., Lindsay, S., & Hamdani, Y.

- (2014). Becoming men: Gender, disability, and transitioning to adulthood. *Health* (*United Kingdom*), 18(1), 95–114. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459313476967
- Gibson, R., & Purdy, S. C. (2015). Mental health disorders after traumatic brain injury in a New Zealand caseload. *Brain Injury*, 29(3), 306–312.
- Giedd, J. N., Blumenthal, J., Jeffries, N. O., Castellanos, F. X., Liu, H., Zijdenbos, A., ...

  Rapoport, J. L. (1999). Brain development during childhood and adolescence: a

  longitudinal MRI study. *Nature Neuroscience*, 2(10), 861–863.
- Giza, C. C., & Hovda, D. A. (2001). The Neurometabolic Cascade of Concussion. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 36(3), 228–235. https://doi.org/10.1227/NEU.000000000000505
- Giza, C. C., & Hovda, D. A. (2014). The new neurometabolic cascade of concussion.

  \*Neurosurgery\*, 75(4), S24–S33. https://doi.org/10.1227/NEU.000000000000505
- Gould, K. R., Ponsford, J. L., Johnston, L., & Schönberger, M. (2011). The nature, frequency and course of psychiatric disorders in the first year after traumatic brain injury: a prospective study. *Psychological Medicine*, *41*(10), 2099–2109. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1017/S003329171100033X
- Grace, J. J., Kinsella, E. L., Muldoon, O. T., & Fortune, D. G. (2015). Post-traumatic growth following acquired brain injury: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6(August), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01162
- Graff, H. J., Christensen, U., Poulsen, I., & Egerod, I. (2018). Patient perspectives on navigating the field of traumatic brain injury rehabilitation: a qualitative thematic analysis. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 40(8), 926–934. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2017.1280542
- Greenwood, S., Perrin, A., & Duggan, M. (2016). *Social Media Update 2016. Pew Research Center*. Retrieved from http://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/
  14/2016/11/10132827/PI\_2016.11.11\_Social-Media-Update\_FINAL.pdf

- Grubenhoff, J. A., Kirkwood, M. W., Deakyne, S., & Wathen, J. (2011). Detailed concussion symptom analysis in a paediatric ED population. *Brain Injury*, 25(10), 943–949.
- Guariento, G. F. (2010). Without a safety net: Participatory techniques in research with young migrants. *Enquire*, *3*(1): 81-99.
- Guenther, K. M. (2009). The politics of names: rethinking the methodological and ethical significance of naming people, organizations, and places. *Qualitative Research*, 9(4), 411–421.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, *18*(1), 59–82.
- Gulliver, A., Griffiths, K. M., & Christensen, H. (2010). Perceived barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking in young people: a systematic review. *BMC Psychiatry*, 10(1), 113–122.
- Habermas, T., & Bluck, S. (2000). Getting a life: the emergence of the life story in adolescence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 126(5), 748–769. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.126.5.748
- Hammersley, M. (2013). Defining qualitative research. In M. Hammersley (Ed.), *What is Qualitative Research?* (pp. 1–7). London: Bloomsbury Academic.
- Harden, J., Scott, S., Backett-Milburn, K., & Jackson, S. (2000). Can't talk, won't talk?: methodological issues in researching children. *Sociological Research Online*, *5*(2), 1–12.
- Hart, T., Whyte, J., Polansky, M., Kersey-Matusiak, G., & Fidler-Sheppard, R. (2005).

  Community Outcomes Following Traumatic Brain Injury: Impact of Race and Preinjury

  Status. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 20(2), 158-172.
- Hawley, C. A., Ward, A. B., Magnay, A. R., & Long, J. (2004). Outcomes following childhood head injury: a population study. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and*

- Psychiatry, 75(5), 737–742. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2003.020651
- Health Research Council of New Zealand. (2010). Guidelines for Researchers on Health Research Involving Māori.
- Heidenreich, K. A. (2017). New Therapeutics for Traumatic Brain Injury: Prevention of Secondary Brain Damage and Enhancement of Repair and Regeneration. (K. A. Heidenreich, Ed.). London, Sandiego, Cambridge, Oxford: Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802686-1.02001-0
- Henry, L. C., Burkhart, S. O., Elbin, R. J., Agarwal, V., & Kontos, A. P. (2015). Traumatic axonal injury and persistent emotional lability in an adolescent following moderate traumatic brain injury: A case study. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, *37*(4), 439–454.
- Hermanns, H. (2008). Interviewing as an activity. In U. Flick, E. con Kardoff, & I. Steinke (Eds.), A Companion to Qualitative Research: Paradigms, Theories, Methods, Practice and Contexts (pp. 295–296). Sage Publications.
- Highton-Williamson, E., Priebe, S., & Giacco, D. (2015). Online social networking in people with psychosis: A systematic review. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 61(1), 92–101. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764014556392
- Hill, C. E., Knox, S., Thompson, B. J., Williams, E. N., Hess, S. A., & Ladany, N. (2005).Consensual qualitative research: An update. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(2), 196.
- Hinshaw, S. P. (2005). The stigmatization of mental illness in children and parents:

  Developmental issues, family concerns, and research needs. *Journal of Child*Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines, 46(7), 714–734.
- Hiploylee, C., Dufort, P. A., Davis, H. S., Wennberg, R. A., Tartaglia, M. C., Mikulis, D., ...

  Tator, C. H. (2016). Longitudinal Study of Postconcussion Syndrome: Not Everyone

- Recovers. Journal of Neurotrauma, 34(8), 1511–1523.
- Holland, J. N., & Schmidt, A. T. (2015). Static and Dynamic Factors Promoting Resilience following Traumatic Brain Injury: A Brief Review. *Neural Plasticity*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/902802
- Hooper, S. R., Alexander, J., Moore, D., Sasser, H. C., Laurent, S., King, J., ... Callahan, B. (2004). Caregiver reports of common symptoms in children following a traumatic brain injury. *NeuroRehabilitation*, *19*, 175–189.
- Howell, D., Osternig, L., Van Donkelaar, P., Mayr, U., & Chou, L. S. (2013). Effects of concussion on attention and executive function in adolescents. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 45(6), 1030–1037.
  https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182814595
- Hudson, M., Milne, M., Reynolds, P., Russell, K., & Smith, B. (2010). Te ara tika:

  Guidelines for Māori research ethics. A framework for researchers and ethics committee members. *Health Research Council of New Zealand*, 29.
- Hyder, A. A., Wunderlich, C. A., Puvanachandra, P., Gururaj, G., & Kobusingye, O. C.(2007). The impact of traumatic brain injuries: A global perspective.NeuroRehabilitation, 22(5), 341–353.
- Iadevaia, C., Roiger, T., & Zwart, M. B. (2015). Qualitative examination of adolescent health-related quality of life at 1 year postconcussion. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 50(11), 1182–1189. https://doi.org/10.4085/1062-6050-50.11.02
- Imperati, D., Colcombe, S., Kelly, C., Di Martino, A., Zhou, J., Castellanos, F. X., & Milham, M. P. (2011). Differential development of human brain white matter tracts. *PloS One*, *6*(8), e23437. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023437
- Inhelder, B., & Piaget, J. (2013). Adolescent Thinking. In B. Inhelder & J. Piaget (Eds.), *The growth of logical thinking: From childhood to adolescence. An essay on the*

- construction of formal operational structures (pp. 334–350). Routledge. https://doi.org/http://doi.apa.org/psycinfo/1990-98975-002
- Ip, E. Y. Y., Giza, C. C., Griesbach, G. S., & Hovda, D. A. (2002). Effects of enriched environment and fluid percussion injury on dendritic arborization within the cerebral cortex of the developing rat. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 19(5), 573–585.
- Irons, C., & Gilbert, P. (2005). Evolved mechanisms in adolescent anxiety and depression symptoms: The role of the attachment and social rank systems. *Journal of Adolescence*, 28(3), 325–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2004.07.004
- Janusz, J. A., Kirkwood, M. W., Yeates, K. O., & Taylor, H. G. (2002). Social problem-solving skills in children with traumatic brain injury: Long-term outcomes and prediction of social competence. *Child Neuropsychology*, 8(3), 179–194. https://doi.org/10.1076/chin.8.3.179.13499
- Johansson, B., Berglund, P., & Rönnbäck, L. (2009). Mental fatigue and impaired information processing after mild and moderate traumatic brain injury. *Brain Injury*, 23(13–14), 1027–1040.
- Johnson, V. E., Stewart, W., & Smith, D. H. (2013). Axonal pathology in traumatic brain injury. *Experimental Neurology*, 246, 35–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2012.01.013
- Jones, B. L., Parker-Raley, J., & Barczyk, A. (2011). Adolescent cancer survivors: Identity paradox and the need to belong. *Qualitative Health Research*, 21(8), 1033–1040. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732311404029
- Jones, K. M., Barker-Collo, S., Parmar, P., Starkey, N., Theadom, A., Ameratunga, S., & Feigin, V. L. (2018). Trajectories in health recovery in the 12 months following a mild traumatic brain injury in children: Findings from the BIONIC Study. *Journal of Primary Health Care*, 10(1), 81–89. https://doi.org/10.1071/HC17038

- Jones, K. M., Kydd, R., Broadbent, E., Theadom, A., Barker-Collo, S., Edwards, H., ...

  Group, B. S. (2016). Brain drawings following traumatic brain injury (TBI) and links to illness perceptions and health outcomes Findings from a population-based study.

  Psychology & Health, 31(10), 1182–1202.
- Jones, K. M., Prah, P., Starkey, N., Theadom, A., Barker-Collo, S., Ameratunga, S., & Feigin, V. L. (2019). Longitudinal patterns of behavior, cognition, and quality of life after mild traumatic brain injury in children: BIONIC study findings. *Brain Injury*, 33(7), 884–893. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699052.2019.1606445
- Jorge, R. E., & Arciniegas, D. B. (2014). Mood Disorders After TBI. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2013.11.005
- Jorge, R. E., & Starkstein, S. E. (2005). Pathophysiologic aspects of major depression following traumatic brain injury. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 20(6), 475–487.
- Joseph, S. (2011). What doesn't kill us: The new psychology of post-traumatic growth. New York: Basic Books.
- Jowkar, B., & Noorafshan, L. (2011). Gender different between Imaginary Audience and Personal Fable with Resilience among Male and Female. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 29, 422–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.11.258
- Kade, D., & Fletcher-Janzen, E. (2009). Brain Injury Rehabilitation of Children and Youth: Neurodevelopmental Perspectives. In C. R. Reynolds & E. Fletcher-Janzen (Eds.), Handbook of Clinical Child Neuropsychology (3rd ed., pp. 459--503). New York; London: Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-78867-8
- Keightley, M., Côté, P., Rumney, P., Hung, R., Carroll, L. J., Cancelliere, C., & Cassidy, J.
  D. (2014). Psychosocial consequences of mild traumatic brain injury in children: Results of a systematic review by the international collaboration on mild traumatic brain injury

- prognosis. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 95(3 SUPPL). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2013.12.018
- Keightley, M., Singh Saluja, R., Chen, J. K., Gagnon, I., Leonard, G., Petrides, M., & Ptito, A. (2014). A functional magnetic resonance imaging study of working memory in youth after sports-related concussion: Is it still working? *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 31(5), 437–451. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2013.3052
- Kerrisk, K. L. (2014). Narrative, Identity, and Meaning Making: Young People's Experiences of Psychotherapy.
- King, M. (2019). Depression in Men. Taupo: The key to life charitable trust. Retrieved from www.helpguide.org
- Kirk, S. (2007). Methodological and ethical issues in conducting qualitative research with children and young people: A literature review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 44(7), 1250–1260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2006.08.015
- Klimstra, T. A., Hale, W. W., Raaijmakers, Q. A. W., Branje, S. J. T., & Meeus, W. H. J. (2010). Identity formation in adolescence: Change or stability? *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *39*(2), 150–162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-009-9401-4
- Klonoff, H., Clark, C., & Klonoff, P. S. (1993). Long-term outcome of head injuries: a 23 year follow up study of children with head injuries. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery* & *Psychiatry*, 56(4), 410–415.
- Kolb, B. (1989). Brain development, plasticity, and behavior. *American Psychologist*, 44(9), 1203–1212.
- Komulainen, S. (2007). The ambiguity of the child's 'voice'in social research. *Childhood*, *14*(1), 11–28.
- Königs, M., Pouwels, P. J., Ernest van Heurn, L., Bakx, R., Vermeulen, R. J., Goslings, J. C., ... Oosterlaan, J. (2017). Relevance of neuroimaging for neurocognitive and behavioral

- outcome after pediatric traumatic brain injury. Brain Imaging and Behavior, 1–15.
- Koskinen, S., & Alaranta, H. (2008). Traumatic brain injury in Finland 1991-2005: A nationwide register study of hospitalized and fatal TBI. *Brain Injury*, 22(3), 205–214. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699050801938975
- Kostyun, R. O., Milewski, M. D., & Hafeez, I. (2015). Sleep disturbance and neurocognitive function during the recovery from a sport-related concussion in adolescents. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 43(3), 633–640.
- Krahn, T. M. (2015). Traumatic Brain Injury and the Use of Documentary Narrative Media to Redress Social Stigma. In J. Clausen & N. Levy (Eds.), *Handbook of Neuroethics* (pp. 1501–1524). Dordrecht: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-4707-4
- Kraus, M. F., Susmaras, T., Caughlin, B. P., Walker, C. J., Sweeney, J. A., & Little, D. M. (2007). White matter integrity and cognition in chronic traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *Brain*, *130*(10), 2508–2519.
- Kroger, J. (2007). *Identity Development: Adolescence Through Adulthood* (2nd ed.). London: Sage Publications.
- Lal, S., Nguyen, V., & Theriault, J. (2018). Seeking mental health information and support online: experiences and perspectives of young people receiving treatment for first-episode psychosis. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, *12*(3), 324–330.
- Laliberté Durish, C., Pereverseff, R. S., & Yeates, K. O. (2018). Depression and Depressive Symptoms in Pediatric Traumatic Brain Injury: A Scoping Review. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, *33*(3), E18–E30.
- Lam, M. M. L. (2013). Experiential Aspects of Recovery in Early Psychosis: Focus Group Findings. In E. Y. Chen, H. Lee, G. H. Chan, & G. H. Wong (Eds.), *Early Psychosis Intervention: A Culturally Adaptive Clinical Guide* (pp. 345–356). Hong Kong: Hong Kong University Press.

- Lam, M. M. L., Pearson, V., Ng, R. M. K., Chiu, C. P. Y., Law, C. W., & Chen, E. Y. H. (2011). What does recovery from psychosis mean? Perceptions of young first-episode patients. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 57(6), 580–587. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764010374418
- Langlois, J. A., Rutland-Brown, W., & Thomas, K. E. (2004). Traumatic brain injury in the United States; emergency department visits, hospitalizations, and deaths. *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control* (US), Division of Injury and Disability Outcomes and Programs.
- Langlois, J. A., Rutland-Brown, W., & Thomas, K. E. (2005). The Incidence of Traumatic

  Brain Injury Among Children in the United States: Differences by Race. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 20(3), 229-238.
- Lapsley, D. K. (1993). Toward an integrated theory of adolescent ego development: The "new look" at adolescent egocentrism. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 63(4), 562–571.
- Leech, B. L. (2002). Asking Questions: Techniques for Semistructured Interviews. *PS: Political Science & Politics*, *35*(4), 665–668.
- Leibson, C. L., Brown, A. W., Ransom, J. E., Diehl, N. N., Perkins, P. K., Mandrekar, J., & Malec, J. F. (2011). Incidence of Traumatic Brain Injury Across the Full Disease Spectrum. *Epidemiology*, 22(6), 836–844. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.0b013e318231d535
- Lenz, B. (2001). The transition from adolescence to young adulthood: a theoretical perspective. *The Journal of School Nursing*, *17*(6), 300–306. https://doi.org/10.1177/10598405010170060401
- Levack, W. M. M., Kayes, N. M., & Fadyl, J. K. (2010). Experience of recovery and outcome following traumatic brain injury: A metasynthesis of qualitative research. *Disability and*

- Rehabilitation, 32(12), 986–999. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638281003775394
- Lezak, M. D. (2012). *Neuropsychological Assessment* (5th ed.). Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press.
- Li, L., & Liu, J. (2013). The effect of pediatric traumatic brain injury on behavioral outcomes: A systematic review. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, 55(1), 37–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8749.2012.04414.x
- Limond, J., Dorris, L., & McMillan, T. M. (2009). Quality of life in children with acquired brain injury: Parent perspectives 1-5 years after injury. *Brain Injury*, 23(7–8), 617–622. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699050902997870
- Lin, H. L., & Jorge, R. E. (2017). Treatment of Mood Disorders Following Traumatic Brain Injury. In K. A. Heidenreich (Ed.), New Therapeutics for Traumatic Brain Injury (pp. 307–318). London, Sandiego, Cambridge, Oxford: Elsevier Inc.
- Lindsay, S., Proulx, M., Maxwell, J., Hamdani, Y., Bayley, M., MacArthur, C., &
  Colantonio, A. (2016). Gender and transition from pediatric to adult health care among youth with acquired brain injury: Experiences in a transition model. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 97(2), S33–S39.
- Lingsma, H. F., Roozenbeek, B., Steyerberg, E. W., Murray, G. D., & Maas, A. I. (2010).

  Early prognosis in traumatic brain injury: from prophecies to predictions. *The Lancet Neurology*, *9*(5), 543–554. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70065-X
- Lloyd, J., Wilson, M. L., Tenovuo, O., & Saarijärvi, S. (2015). Outcomes from mild and moderate traumatic brain injuries among children and adolescents: A systematic review of studies from 2008-2013. *Brain Injury*, 29(5), 539–549.
  https://doi.org/10.3109/02699052.2014.1002003
- Longhi, L., Saatman, K. E., Fujimoto, S., Raghupathi, R., Meaney, D. F., Davis, J., ... Stein, S. (2005). Temporal window of vulnerability to repetitive experimental concussive brain

- injury. *Neurosurgery*, 56(2), 364–374.
- Lucas, S., Hoffman, J. M., Bell, K. R., & Dikmen, S. (2014). A prospective study of prevalence and characterization of headache following mild traumatic brain injury. *Cephalalgia*, *34*(2), 93–102. https://doi.org/10.1177/0333102413499645
- Luis, C. A., & Mittenberg, W. (2002). Mood and anxiety disorders following pediatric traumatic brain injury: a prospective study. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 24(3), 270–279.
- Lumba-Brown, A., Yeates, K. O., Sarmiento, K., Breiding, M. J., Haegerich, T. M., Gioia, G.
  A., ... Timmons, S. D. (2018). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Guideline on the Diagnosis and Management of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury among Children. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 172(11), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.2853
- Luyckx, K., Goossens, L., Soenens, B., & Beyers, W. (2006). Unpacking commitment and exploration: Preliminary validation of an integrative model of late adolescent identity formation. *Journal of Adolescence*, 29(3), 361–378.
- Luyckx, K., Seiffge-Krenke, I., Schwartz, S. J., Goossens, L., Weets, I., Hendrieckx, C., & Groven, C. (2008). Identity Development, Coping, and Adjustment in Emerging Adults With a Chronic Illness: The Sample Case of Type 1 Diabetes. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 43(5), 451–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2008.04.005
- Mabbott, D. J., Rovet, J., Noseworthy, M. D., Smith, M. Lou, & Rockel, C. (2009). The relations between white matter and declarative memory in older children and adolescents. *Brain Research*, 1294, 80–90.
- Majdan, M., Plancikova, D., Maas, A., Polinder, S., Feigin, V., Theadom, A., ... Haagsma, J. (2017). Years of life lost due to traumatic brain injury in Europe: A cross-sectional analysis of 16 countries. *PLoS Medicine*, *14*(7).
- Makki, A. Y., Leddy, J., Hinds, A., Baker, J., Paluch, R., Shucard, J., & Willer, B. (2016).

- School Attendance and Symptoms in Adolescents After Sport-Related Concussion. *Global Pediatric Health*, *3*, 2333794X1663049.
- Manning, J. C., Hemingway, P., & Redsell, S. A. (2014). Long-term psychosocial impact reported by childhood critical illness survivors: A systematic review. *Nursing in Critical Care*, *19*(3), 145–156. https://doi.org/10.1111/nicc.12049
- Marecek, J. (2004). Dancing through minefields: Toward a qualitative stance in psychology.

  \*Qualitative Research in Psychology: Expanding Perspectives in Methodology and Design., 49–69. https://doi.org/10.1037/10595-004
- Martin, C., & Falcone, R. a. (2008). Pediatric traumatic brain injury: An update of research to understand and improve outcomes. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*, 20(3), 294–299. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOP.0b013e3282ff0dfa
- Massagli, T. L., Fann, J. R., Burington, B. E., Jaffe, K. M., Katon, W. J., & Thompson, R. S. (2004). Psychiatric illness after mild traumatic brain injury in children. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 85(9), 1428–1434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2003.12.036
- Max, J. E., Keatley, E., Wilde, E. A., Bigler, E. D., Levin, H. S., Schachar, R. J., ... Yang, T.
  T. (2011). Anxiety disorders in children and adolescents in the first six months after traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 23(1), 29–39.
- Max, J. E., Keatley, E., Wilde, E. A., Bigler, E. D., Schachar, R. J., Saunders, A. E., ...

  Levin, H. S. (2012). Depression in children and adolescents in the first 6 months after traumatic brain injury. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, *30*(3), 239–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2011.12.005
- Max, J. E., Lansing, A. E., Koele, S. L., Castillo, C. S., Bokura, H., Schachar, R., ... Williams, K. E. (2004). Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in children and

- adolescents following traumatic brain injury. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 25(1–2), 159–177.
- May, T., & Skegg, B. (2012). Techniques for Telling the Reflexive Self. *Qualitative*\*Research in Action, (2000), 350–374. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781849209656.n17
- Mayer, A. R., Quinn, D. K., & Master, C. L. (2017). The spectrum of mild traumatic brain injury. *Neurology*, 89(6), 623–632. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000004214
- McAllister, T. W. (2011). Neurobiological consequences of traumatic brain injury. *Dialogues* in *Clinical Neuroscience*, *13*(3), 287–300.
- McCarthy, M. L., MacKenzie, E. J., Durbin, D. R., Aitken, M. E., Jaffe, K. M., Paidas, C. N.,
  ... Ding, R. (2006). Health-Related Quality of Life During the First Year After
  Traumatic Brain Injury. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, *160*(3), 252–260. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpedi.160.3.252
- McCarty, C. A., Zatzick, D., Stein, E., Wang, J., Hilt, R., & Rivara, F. P. (2016).
   Collaborative Care for Adolescents With Persistent Postconcussive Symptoms: A
   Randomized Trial. *Pediatrics*, 138(4). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-0459
- McCauley, S. R., Wilde, E. A., Barnes, A., Hanten, G., Hunter, J. V., Levin, H. S., & Smith,
  D. H. (2013). Patterns of Early Emotional and Neuropsychological Sequelae after Mild
  Traumatic Brain Injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 31(10), 914–925.
  https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2012.2826
- McClure, J., Patel, G. J., & Wade, K. (2011). Attributions and expectations for the behavior of persons with brain injury: The effect of visibility of injury. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 26(5), 392–396.
- McCrory, P., Meeuwisse, W., Dvorak, J., Aubry, M., Bailes, J., Broglio, S., ... Vos, P. E. (2018). Consensus statement on concussion in sport the 5th international conference on concussion in sport held in Berlin, October 2016. *British Journal of Sports Medicines*,

- 51, 838–847. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-097699
- McGrath, J. C., & Linley, P. A. (2006). Post-traumatic growth in acquired brain injury: A preliminary small scale study. *Brain Injury*, 20(7), 767–773. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699050600664566
- McInnes, K., Friesen, C. L., Mackenzie, D. E., Westwood, A., & Boe, S. G. (2017). Mild Traumatic Brain Injury (mTBI) and chronic cognitive impairment: A scoping review. *PLoS ONE*, *April*, *12*(4).
- McKinlay, A. (2010). Controversies and outcomes associated with mild traumatic brain injury in childhood and adolescences. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, *36*(1), 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2214.2009.01006.x
- McKinlay, A., Grace, R. C., Horwood, L. J., Fergusson, D. M., Ridder, E. M., & MacFarlane, M. R. (2008). Prevalence of traumatic brain injury among children, adolescents and young adults: Prospective evidence from a birth cohort. *Brain Injury*, 22(2), 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699050801888824
- McKinlay, A., Grace, R., Horwood, J., Fergusson, D., & MacFarlane, M. (2009). Adolescent Psychiatric Symptoms Following Preschool Childhood Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: Evidence From a Birth Cohort. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*, 24(3), 221–227. https://doi.org/10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181a40590
- McLellan, T., Bishop, A., McKinlay, A., Brunner, M., Hemsley, B., Palmer, S., ... Krahn, T.
  M. (2010). Traumatic Brain Injury and the Use of Documentary Narrative Media to
  Redress Social Stigma. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 16(4), 1511–1521.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-4707-4
- McPherson, K., Fadyl, J., Theadom, A., Channon, A., Levack, W., Starkey, N., ... Kayes, N. (2018). Living Life after Traumatic Brain Injury: Phase 1 of a Longitudinal Qualitative Study. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, *33*(1), E44–E52.

- Mealings, M., & Douglas, J. (2010). 'School's a big part of your life: Adolescent perspectives of their school participation following traumatic brain injury. *Brain Impairment*, 11(1), 1–16.
- Meeus, W., Van De Schoot, R., Keijsers, L., Schwartz, S. J., & Branje, S. (2010). On the progression and stability of adolescent identity formation: A five-wave longitudinal study in early-to-middle and middle-to-late adolescence. *Child Development*, 81(5), 1565–1581.
- Menon, D. K., Schwab, K., Wright, D. W., & Maas, A. I. (2010). Position statement:

  Definition of traumatic brain injury. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*,

  91(11), 1637–1640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2010.05.017
- Mero-Jaffe, I. (2011). 'Is that what I Said?' Interview Transcript Approval by Participants:

  An Aspect of Ethics in Qualitative Research. *International Journal of Qualitative*Methods, 10(3), 231–247. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691101000304
- Ministry of Health. (2015). *Tatau Kahukura: Māori Health Chart Book* (3rd ed.). Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Ministry of Health, A. C. C. (2013). Injury-related Health Loss: A Report from the New Zealand Burden of Diseases, Injuries and Risk Factors Study 2006–2016.
- Moran, L. M., Bigler, E. D., Dennis, M., Gerhardt, C. A., Rubin, K. H., Stancin, T., ... Yeates, K. O. (2015). Social problem-solving and social adjustment in paediatric traumatic brain injury. *Brain Injury*, 29(13–14).
- Morrow, S. L. (2005). Quality and trustworthiness in qualitative research in counseling psychology. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *52*(2), 250–260. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.250
- Morrow, S. L. (2007). Qualitative Research in Counseling Psychology: Conceptual Foundations. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *35*(2), 209–235.

- Muenchberger, H., Kendall, E., & Neal, R. (2008). Identity transition following traumatic brain injury: A dynamic process of contraction, expansion and tentative balance. *Brain Injury*, 22(12), 979–992. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699050802530532
- Muscara, F., Catroppa, C., Eren, S., & Anderson, V. (2009). The impact of injury severity on long-term social outcome following paediatric traumatic brain injury.

  \*Neuropsychological Rehabilitation, 19(4), 541–561.
- Nampiaparampil, D. E. (2008). Prevalence of chronic pain after traumatic brain injury: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, *300*(6), 711–719. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.300.6.711
- Naslund, J. A., Aschbrenner, K. A., & Bartels, S. J. (2016). The future of mental health care: peer-to-peer support and social media. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences*, 25(2), 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21042.Prevalence
- Nelson, E. E., Leibenluft, E., McClure, E. B., & Pine, D. S. (2005). The social re-orientation of adolescence: a neuroscience perspective on the process and its relation to psychopathology. *Psychological Medicine*, *35*(2), 163–174.
- Nochi, M. (1998). "Loss of self" in the narratives of people with traumatic brain injuries: a qualitative analysis. *Social Science & Medicine*, 46(7), 869–878. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(97)00211-6
- Nochi, M. (2000). Reconstructing self-narratives in coping with traumatic brain injury. *Social Science and Medicine*, *51*(12), 1795–1804. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(00)00111-8
- Noggle, C. A. (2011). Myelination. In S. Goldstein & J. A. Naglier (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Child Behavior and Development* (p. 987). Springer Publishing Company.
- Nutt Williams, E., Morrow, S. L., Williams, E. N., & Morrow, S. L. (2009). Achieving trustworthiness in qualitative research: A pan-paradigmatic perspective. *Psychotherapy*

- Research, 19(4–5), 576–582. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503300802702113
- Nygren-De Boussard, C., Holm, L. W., Cancelliere, C., Godbolt, A. K., Boyle, E., Stålnacke,
  B. M., ... Borg, J. (2014). Nonsurgical interventions after mild traumatic brain injury: A systematic review. Results of the international collaboration on mild traumatic brain injury prognosis. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 95(3 Sippl 2), S257-264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2013.10.009
- O'Connor, S. S., Zatzick, D. F., Wang, J., Temkin, N., Koepsell, T. D., Jaffe, K. M., ...

  Rivara, F. P. (2012). Association between posttraumatic stress, depression, and
  functional impairments in adolescents 24 months after traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 25(3), 264–271.
- O'Keeffe, G. S., Clarke-Pearson, K., Mulligan, D. A., Altmann, T. R., Brown, A., Christakis, D. A., ... Nelson, K. G. (2011). Clinical report The impact of social media on children, adolescents, and families. *Pediatrics*, *127*(4), 800–804. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-0054
- Ocampo, S., & Dawson, D. (1997). Outcomes after head injury: level of agreement between subjects and their informants. *Occupational Therapy International*, *4*(3), 163–179. https://doi.org/10.1002/oti.54
- Ogden, J. A. (2005a). Beating the Odds: Severe Traumatic Brain Injury and the Importance of Ongoing Rehabilitation. *Fractured Minds: A Case Study Approach to Clinical Neuropsychology*, 171–192.
- Ogden, J. A. (2005b). The Unseen Injury: Mild Traumatic Brain Injury. *Fractured Minds: A Case Study Approach to Clinical Neuropsychology*, 193–203.
- Padilla, R. (2003). Clara: A phenomenology of disability. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 57(4), 413–423. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.57.4.413
- Paterson, J., & Stewart, J. (2002). Adults with acquired brain injury: Perceptions of their

- social world. Rehabilitation Nursing, 27(Number 1), 13–18.
- Patton, M. Q. (1999). Enhancing the Quality and Credibility of Qualitative Analysis. *Health Services Research*, *34*(5 part 2), 1189–1208.
- Peeters, W., van den Brande, R., Polinder, S., Brazinova, A., Steyerberg, E. W., Lingsma, H. F., & Maas, A. I. R. (2015). Epidemiology of traumatic brain injury in Europe. *Acta Neurochirurgica*, *157*(10), 1683–1696. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00701-015-2512-7
- Pérez, K., Novoa, A. M., Santamariña-Rubio, E., Narvaez, Y., Arrufat, V., Borrell, C., ... Suelves, J. M. (2012). Incidence trends of traumatic spinal cord injury and traumatic brain injury in Spain, 2000-2009. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 46, 37–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2011.12.004
- Peter, C., Losekoot, E., & Poulston, J. (2013). Be prepared or she'll be right? Terrorism, hotels and mega events in New Zealand. *CAUTHE 2013: Tourism and Global Change:*On the Edge of Something Big, 591–603.
- Petersen, C., Scherwath, A., Fink, J., & Koch, U. (2008). Health-related quality of life and psychosocial consequences after mild traumatic brain injury in children and adolescents.

  \*Brain Injury, 22(3), 215–221. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699050801935245\*
- Peterson, R., Kirkwood, M., Taylor, H. G., Stancin, T., Brown, T., & Wade, S. (2013).

  Adolescents' Internalizing Problems Following Traumatic Brain Injury Are Related to
  Parents' Psychiatric Symptoms. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 28(5), E1–E12.

  https://doi.org/10.1097/HTR.0b013e318263f5ba
- Peterson, R. L., Connery, A. K., Baker, D. A., & Kirkwood, M. W. (2015). Preinjury emotional-behavioral functioning of children with lingering problems after mild traumatic brain injury. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 27(4), 280–286.
- Piaget, J. (1968). Six Psychological Studies. (D. Elkind, Ed.). London: University of London

Press.

- Piaget, J. (1972). Intellectual evolution from adolescence to adulthood. *Human Development*, *15*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1159/000271225
- Pieper, P., & Garvan, C. (2015). Concordance of Child and Parent Reports of Health-Related Quality of Life inChildren With Mild Traumatic Brain or Non-Brain Injuries and in Uninjured Children: Longitudinal Evaluation. *Journal of Pediatric Health Care*, 29(4), 343–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedhc.2015.01.008
- Ponsford, J. L., Downing, M. G., Olver, J., Ponsford, M., Acher, R., Carty, M., & Spitz, G. (2014). Longitudinal follow-up of patients with traumatic brain injury: Outcome at two, five, and ten years post-injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, *31*(1), 64–77. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2013.2997
- Ponsford, J., Lee, N. K., Wong, D., McKay, A., Haines, K., Alway, Y., ... O'Donnell, M. L. (2016). Efficacy of motivational interviewing and cognitive behavioral therapy for anxiety and depression symptoms following traumatic brain injury. *Psychological Medicine*, 46(5), 1079–1090. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291715002640
- Ponterotto, J. G. (2005). Qualitative research in counseling psychology: A primer on research paradigms and philosophy of science. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *52*(2), 126–136. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.126
- Porter, S. (2002). Critical realist ethnography. *Qualitative Research in Action*, (2002), 53–71. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781849209656
- Powell, T., Gilson, R., & Collin, C. (2012). TBI 13 years on: Factors associated with post-traumatic growth. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, *34*(17), 1461–1467. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2011.644384
- Prigatano, G. P., & Gupta, S. (2006). Friends after traumatic brain injury in children. *Journal* of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 21(6), 505–513. Retrieved from

- http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17122681
- Prins, M., Alexander, D., Giza, C. C., & Hovda, D. A. (2013). Repeated mild traumatic brain injury: mechanisms of cerebral vulnerability. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, *30*(1), 30–38.
- Prins, M., Greco, T., Alexander, D., & Giza, C. C. (2013). The pathophysiology of traumatic brain injury at a glance. *DMM Disease Models and Mechanisms*, *6*(6), 1307–1315. https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.011585
- Prins, M., Hales, A., Reger, M., Giza, C. C., & Hovda, D. A. (2010). Repeat traumatic brain injury in the juvenile rat is associated with increased axonal injury and cognitive impairments. *Developmental Neuroscience*, *32*(5–6), 510–518.
- Provost, L. (2014). Accident Compensation Corporation: Using a Case Management Approach to Rehabilitation.
- Purcell, L., Harvey, J., & Seabrook, J. A. (2016). Patterns of recovery following sport-related concussion in children and adolescents. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 55(5), 452–458.
- Rabinowitz, A. R., & Levin, H. S. (2014). Cognitive Sequelae of Traumatic Brain Injury.

  \*Psychiatric Clinics of North America, 37(1), 1–11.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2013.11.004
- Radhakrishnan, R., Garakani, A., Gross, L. S., Goin, M. K., Pine, J., Slaby, A. E., ... Baron, D. A. (2016). Neuropsychiatric aspects of concussion. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *3*(12), 1166–1175. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30266-8
- Ransom, D. M., Vaughan, C. G., Pratson, L., Sady, M. D., McGill, C. A., & Gioia, G. A. (2015). Academic effects of concussion in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics*, *135*(6), 1043–1050. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-3434
- Rashid, M., Goez, H. R., Mabood, N., Damanhoury, S., Yager, J. Y., Joyce, A. S., & Newton, A. S. (2014). The impact of pediatric traumatic brain injury (TBI) on family functioning:

  A systematic review. *Journal of Pediatric Rehabilitation Medicine*, 7(3), 241–254.

- Reddy, R. P., Rajeswaran, J., Devi, B. I., & Kandavel, T. (2017). Cascade of traumatic brain injury: A correlational study of cognition, postconcussion symptoms, and quality of life. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, *39*(1), 32–39.
- Reeves, T. M., Phillips, L. L., & Povlishock, J. T. (2005). Myelinated and unmyelinated axons of the corpus callosum differ in vulnerability and functional recovery following traumatic brain injury. *Experimental Neurology*, *196*(1), 126–137.
- Reich, S. M. (2010). Adolescents' sense of community on myspace and facebook: A mixed-methods approach. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *38*(6), 688–705. https://doi.org/10.1109/TCYB.2015.2483780
- Reith, F. C. M., Van den Brande, R., Synnot, A., Gruen, R., & Maas, A. I. R. (2016). The reliability of the Glasgow Coma Scale: a systematic review. *Intensive Care Medicine*, 42(1), 3–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00134-015-4124-3
- Rennie, B. J. (2015). Social impact of Traumatic Brain Injury in adolescents: A mixed methods study with a focus on rural adolescents. *ProQuest Dissertations and Theses*, *Ph.D.* Retrieved from http://xs6th8dt4r.search.serialssolutions.com.lopes.idm.oclc. org/?ctx\_ver=Z39.88-2004&ctx\_enc=info:ofi/enc:UTF-8&rfr\_id=info:sid/ProQuest +Dissertations+%2526+Theses+Global&rft\_val\_fmt=info:ofi/fmt:kev:mtx:dissertation&rft.genre=dissertations+%2526+theses&
- Rickels, E., von Wild, K., & Wenzlaff, P. (2010). Head injury in Germany: A population-based prospective study on epidemiology, causes, treatment and outcome of all degrees of head-injury severity in two distinct areas. *Brain Injury*, 24, 1491–1504.
- Rickwood, D., Deane, F. P., Wilson, C. J., & Ciarrochi, J. V. (2005). Young people's help-seeking for mental health problems. *Australian E-Journal for the Advancement of Mental Health*, 4(3), 1–34. https://doi.org/10.5172/jamh.4.3.218
- Rivara, F. P., Koepsell, T. D., Wang, J., Temkin, N., Dorsch, a., Vavilala, M. S., ... Jaffe, K.

- M. (2011). Disability 3, 12, and 24 Months After Traumatic Brain Injury Among Children and Adolescents. *Pediatrics*, *128*(5), e1129–e1138. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-0840
- Robson, B., Purdie, G., Simmonds, S., Waa, A., & Rameka, R. (2015). *District Health Board Māori Health Profile*. Wellington.
- Rødset, M. (2008). Adolescents with Traumatic Brain Injury and their School Situation: A

  Qualitative Study. *Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research*, 10(2), 90–103.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/15017410801927807
- Rogan, C., Fortune, D. G., & Prentice, G. (2013). Post-traumatic growth, illness perceptions and coping in people with acquired brain injury. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 23(5), 639–657. https://doi.org/10.1080/09602011.2013.799076
- Rosema, S., Crowe, L., & Anderson, V. (2012). Social function in children and adolescents after traumatic brain injury: a systematic review 1989-2011. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 29(7), 1277–1291. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2011.2144
- Rozbacher, A., Selci, E., Leiter, J., Ellis, M., & Russell, K. (2017). The Effect of Concussion or Mild Traumatic Brain Injury on School Grades, National Examination Scores, and School Attendance: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, *34*(14), 2195–2203. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2016.4765
- Rueger, S. Y., Malecki, C. K., Pyun, Y., Aycock, C., & Coyle, S. (2016). A meta-analytic review of the association between perceived social support and depression in childhood and adolescence. *Psychological Bulletin*, *142*(10), 1017–1067.
- Rutland-Brown, W., Wallace, L. J. D., Faul, M. D., & Langlois, J. A. (2005). Traumatic

  Brain Injury Hospitalizations Among American Indians/Alaska Natives. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 20(3), 205–214.
- Ryan, N. P., Genc, S., Beauchamp, M. H., Yeates, K. O., Hearps, S., Catroppa, C., ... Silk, T.

- J. (2018). White matter microstructure predicts longitudinal social cognitive outcomes after paediatric traumatic brain injury: A diffusion tensor imaging study. *Psychological Medicine*, 48(4), 679–691. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291717002057
- Ryan, N. P., van Bijnen, L., Catroppa, C., Beauchamp, M. H., Crossley, L., Hearps, S., & Anderson, V. (2016). Longitudinal outcome and recovery of social problems after pediatric traumatic brain injury (TBI): Contribution of brain insult and family environment. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 49.
- Sandelowski, M. (1995). Sample size in qualitative research. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 18(2), 179–183. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.4770180211
- Sander, A. M., Lequerica, A. H., Ketchum, J. M., Hammond, F. M., Gary, K. W., Pappadis,
  M. R., ... Bushnik, T. (2018). Race/ethnicity and retention in traumatic brain injury
  outcomes research: a Traumatic Brain Injury Model Systems National Database Study.
  The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 33(4), 219–227.
- Santiago-Delefosse, M., Gavin, A., Bruchez, C., Roux, P., & Stephen, S. L. (2016). Quality of qualitative research in the health sciences: Analysis of the common criteria present in 58 assessment guidelines by expert users. *Social Science & Medicine*, *148*, 142–151.
- Sariaslan, A., Sharp, D. J., D'Onofrio, B. M., Larsson, H., & Fazel, S. (2016). Long-Term

  Outcomes Associated with Traumatic Brain Injury in Childhood and Adolescence: A

  Nationwide Swedish Cohort Study of a Wide Range of Medical and Social Outcomes.

  PLoS Medicine, 13(8), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002103
- Satz, P. (2001). Mild head injury in children and adolescents. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 10(3), 106–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.00127
- Savage, R. C., DePompei, R., Tyler, J., & Lash, M. (2005). Paediatric traumatic brain injury:

  A review of pertinent issues. *Pediatric Rehabilitation*, 8(2), 92–103.
- Savage, R. C., Pearson, S., McDonald, H., Potoczny-Gray, a, & Marchese, N. (2001). After

- hospital: working with schools and families to support the long term needs of children with brain injuries. *NeuroRehabilitation*, *16*, 49–58.
- Sawyer, S. M., & Azzopardi, P. S. (2018). The age of adolescence. *The Lancet Child and Adolescent Health*, 2(18), 223–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30022-1
- Schelbe, L., Chanmugam, A., Moses, T., & Saltzburg, S. (2015). Youth Participation in Qualitative Research: Challenges and Possibilities. *Qualitative Social Work*, *14*(4), 504–521.
- Schönberger, M., Ponsford, J., Olver, J., & Ponsford, M. (2010). A longitudinal study of family functioning after TBI and relatives' emotional status. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 20(6), 813–829. https://doi.org/10.1080/09602011003620077
- Schwartz, S. J., Luyckx, K., Goossens, L., Beyers, W., & Missotten, L. (2011). Processes of personal identity formation and evaluation. In Seth J. Schwartz, K. Luyckx, & V. L. Vignoles (Eds.), *Handbook of Identity Theory and Research. Volume 1 Structures and Processes* (1st ed., pp. 77–98). New York: Springer Publishing Company.
- Schwartz, S J, Tanner, J. L., & Sayed, M. (2016). Emerging Adulthood. In *The Encyclopedia of Adulthood and Aging* (pp. 1–6). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118528921.wbeaa263
- Segalowitz, S. J., & Brown, D. (1991). Mild head injury as a source of developmental disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 24(9), 551–559. https://doi.org/10.1177/002221949102400907
- Semrud-Clikeman, M., & Bledsoe, J. C. (2010). Traumatic Brain Injury in Children and Adolescents. In A. S. Davis & R. C. D'Amato (Eds.), *Handbook of Pediatric Neuropsychology* (pp. 963–977). New York: Springer Publishing Company.
- Sesma, H. W., Slomine, B. S., Ding, R., & McCarthy, M. L. (2008). Executive Functioning in the First Year After Pediatric Traumatic Brain Injury. *Pediatrics*, *121*(6), 1686–1695.

- https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2007-2461
- Sharp, D J, Gregory, S., & Leech, R. (2014). Network dysfunction after traumatic brain injury. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, *10*, 156–166. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2014.15
- Sharp, David J., & Jenkins, P. O. (2015). Concussion is confusing us all. *Practical Neurology*. https://doi.org/10.1136/practneurol-2015-001087
- Sharp, N. L., Bye, R. A., Llewellyn, G. M., & Cusick, A. (2006). Fitting back in: Adolescents returning to school after severe acquired brain injury. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 28(12), 767–778. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638280500386668
- Shaw, P., Greenstein, D., Lerch, J., Clasen, L., Lenroot, R., Gogtay, N., ... Giedd, J. (2006).

  Intellectual ability and cortical development in children and adolescents. *Nature*,

  440(7084), 676–679. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04513
- Shotton, L., Simpson, J., & Smith, M. (2007). The experience of appraisal, coping and adaptive psychosocial adjustment following traumatic brain injury: A qualitative investigation. *Brain Injury*, 21(8), 857–869.
- Silver, C., & Lewins, A. (2014). *Using Software in Qualitative Research: A Step-by-Step Guide*. Sage Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473906907
- Silver, J. M., McAllister, T. W., & Yudofsky, S. C. (2008). Textbook of Traumatic Brain Injury. Retrieved from http://uploading.com/files/get/cb19e62m/
- Sim, A., Terryberry-Spohr, L., & Wilson, K. R. (2008). Prolonged recovery of memory functioning after mild traumatic brain injury in adolescent athletes. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, *108*, 511–516. https://doi.org/10.3171/JNS/2008/108/3/0511
- Simpson, J., Duncanson, M., Oben, G., Adams, J., Wicken, A., Pierson, M., ... Gallagher, S. (2017). *Te Ohonga Ake: The Health of Māori Children and Young People in New Zealand Series Two*. Dunedin.

- Snell, D. L., Macleod, A. D. S., & Anderson, T. (2016). Post-Concussion Syndrome after a Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A Minefield for Clinical Practice. *Journal of Behavioral* and Brain Science, 06(06), 227–232. https://doi.org/10.4236/jbbs.2016.66023
- Snell, D. L., Martin, R., Surgenor, L. J., Siegert, R. J., & Hay-Smith, E. J. C. (2017). What's wrong with me? seeking a coherent understanding of recovery after mild traumatic brain injury. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 39(19), 1968–1975.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2016.1213895
- Souza, L. M. D. N., Braga, L. W., Filho, G. N., & Dellatolas, G. (2007). Quality-of-life:

  Child and parent perspectives following severe traumatic brain injury. *Developmental Neurorehabilitation*, 10(1), 35–47. https://doi.org/10.1080/13638490600822239
- Sowell, E. R., Sowell, E. R., Thompson, P. M., Thompson, P. M., Holmes, C. J., Holmes, C. J., ... Toga, A. W. (1999). Localizing age-related changes in brain structure between childhood and adolescence using statistical parametric mapping. *NeuroImage*, 9(6 Pt 1), 587–597. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.1999.0436
- Sowell, E. R., Thompson, P. M., Colin, J., Jernigan, T. L., & Toga, A. W. (1999). In vivo evidence for post-adolescent brain maturation in frontal and striatal regions. *Nature Neuroscience*, 2(10), 859–861.
- Spencer, G., & Doull, M. (2015). Examining concepts of power and agency in research with young people. *Journal of Youth Studies*, *18*(7), 900–913. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2014.1001827
- Sporle, A., & Koea, J. (2004). Maori responsiveness in health and medical research: key issues for researchers (part 1). *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, *117*(1199), 663.
- Srivastava, P., & Hopwood, N. (2009). A Practical Iterative Framework for Qualitative Data Analysis. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 8(1), 76–84. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690900800107

- Stallard, P. (2007). Early maladaptive schemas in children: Stability and differences between a community and a clinic referred sample. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, *14*(1), 10–18.
- Stålnacke, B.-M., Elgh, E., & Sojka, P. (2007). One-year follow-up of mild traumatic brain injury: cognition, disability and life satisfaction of patients seeking consultation. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, *39*(5), 405–411.
- Stancin, T., Drotar, D., Taylor, H. G., Yeates, K. O., Wade, S. L., Minich, N. M., & Objective, A. (2002). Health-related Quality of Life of Children and Adolescents After Traumatic Brain Injury, 109(2), 1–10.
- Starkey, N., Jones, K. M., Case, R., Theadom, A., Barker-Collo, S., & Feigin, V. L. (2018).

  Post-concussive symptoms after a mild traumatic brain injury during childhood and adolescence. *Brain Injury*, *32*(5), 617–626.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/02699052.2018.1439533
- Statistics New Zealand. (2013). New Zealand population information 2013. Retrieved May 16, 2017, from http://www.stats.govt.nz/
- Stevens, P. K., Penprase, B., Kepros, J. P., & Dunneback, J. (2010). Parental recognition of postconcussive symptoms in children. *Journal of Trauma Nursing : The Official Journal of the Society of Trauma Nurses*, *17*(4), 174–178. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/JTN.0b013e3181ff2789
- Tagliaferri, F., Compagnone, C., Korsic, M., Servadei, F., & Kraus, J. (2006). A systematic review of brain injury epidemiology in Europe. *Acta Neurochirurgica*, *148*(3), 255–267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00701-005-0651-y
- Taylor, C. A., Bell, J. M., Breiding, M. J., & Xu, L. (2017). Traumatic Brain Injury–Related Emergency Department Visits, Hospitalizations, and Deaths United States, 2007 and 2013. *MMWR. Surveillance Summaries*, 66(9), 1–16.

- https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss6609a1
- Taylor, H. G., Yeates, K. O., Wade, S. L., Drotar, D., Stancin, T., & Minich, N. (2002). A prospective study of short- and long-term outcomes after traumatic brain injury in children: behavior and achievement. *Neuropsychology*, 16(1), 15–27. https://doi.org/10.1037//0894-4105.16.1.15
- Te Ao, B., Brown, P., Tobias, M., Ameratunga, S., Barker-Collo, S., Theadom, A., ... Jones, K. M. (2014). Cost of traumatic brain injury in New Zealand: evidence from a population-based study. *Neurology*, 83(18), 1645–1652.
- Te Ao, B., Tobias, M., Ameratunga, S., McPherson, K., Theadom, A., Dowell, A., ... Feigin, V. (2015). Burden of traumatic brain injury in New Zealand: Incidence, prevalence and disability-adjusted life years. *Neuroepidemiology*, 44(4), 255–261. https://doi.org/10.1159/000431043
- Teasdale, G., & Jennett, B. (1974). Assessment of coma and impaired consciousness: a practical scale. *The Lancet*, *304*(7872), 81–84.
- Tham, S. W., Fales, J., & Palermo, T. M. (2015). Subjective and objective assessment of sleep in adolescents with mild traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 32(11), 847–852.
- Tham, S. W., Palermo, T. M., Wang, J., Jaffe, K. M., Temkin, N., Durbin, D., & Rivara, F. P. (2013). Persistent pain in adolescents following traumatic brain injury. *The Journal of Pain*, *14*(10), 1242–1249.
- The World Health Organisation. (2017). Health for the world's adolescents. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/maternal\_child\_adolescent/topics/adolescence/second-decade/en/
- Theadom, A., Barker-Collo, S., Feigin, V. L., Starkey, N., Jones, K. M., Jones, A., ... Barber, P. A. (2012). The spectrum captured: A methodological approach to studying incidence and outcomes of traumatic brain injury on a population level. *Neuroepidemiology*, 38(1),

- 18–29. https://doi.org/10.1159/000334746
- Theadom, A., Barker-Collo, S., Jones, K. M., Kahan, M., Te Ao, B., McPherson, K., ... Feigin, V. (2017). Work Limitations 4 Years After Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A Cohort Study. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 98(8), 1560–1566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2017.01.010
- Theadom, A., Fadyl, J., Hollands, T., Foster, A., & McPherson, K. M. (2014). Exploring participant experiences of research after traumatic brain injury. *Brain Injury*, 28(7), 995–1002. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699052.2014.888767
- Theadom, A., Parag, V., Dowell, T., McPherson, K., Starkey, N., Barker-Collo, S., ... Feigin, V. L. (2016). Persistent problems 1 year after mild traumatic brain injury: A longitudinal population study in New Zealand. *British Journal of General Practice*, 66(642), e16–e23. https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp16X683161
- Theadom, A., Parmar, P., Jones, K. M., Barker-Collo, S., Starkey, N., McPherson, K., ...
  Feigin, V. L. (2015). Frequency and Impact of Recurrent Traumatic Brain Injury in a
  Population-Based Sample. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 32(10), 674–681.
  https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2014.3579
- Theadom, A., Rowland, V., Levack, W., Starkey, N., Wilkinson-Meyers, L., & McPherson, K. (2016). Exploring the experience of sleep and fatigue in male and female adults over the 2 years following traumatic brain injury: a qualitative descriptive study. *BMJ Open*, 6(4), e010453. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010453
- Theadom, A., Starkey, N., Jones, K. M., Cropley, M., Parmar, P., Barker-Collo, S., & Feigin, V. L. (2016). Sleep difficulties and their impact on recovery following mild traumatic brain injury in children. *Brain Injury*, 30(10), 1243–1248.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/02699052.2016.1183171
- Theunissen, N., Vogels, T., Koopman, H., Verrips, G., Zwinderman, K., Verloove-

- Vanhorick, S., & Wit, J. (1998). The proxy-problem: child report versus parent report in health-related quality of life research. *Quality of Life Research*, 7(5), 387–397. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008801802877
- Thomas, D. G., Collins, M. W., Saladino, R. A., Frank, V., Raab, J., & Zuckerbraun, N. S. (2011). Identifying Neurocognitive Deficits in Adolescents Following Concussion.
  Academic Emergency Medicine, 18, 246–254. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1553-2712.2011.01015.x
- Thomas, E. J., Levack, W. M. M., & Taylor, W. J. (2014). Self-Reflective Meaning Making in Troubled Times: Change in Self-Identity After Traumatic Brain Injury. *Qualitative Health Research*, 24(8). https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732314542809
- Thomsen, T., Fritz, V., Mößle, R., & Greve, W. (2015). The impact of accommodative coping on well-being in childhood and adolescence. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 39(5), 467–476. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025414551762
- Thurman, D. J. (2016). The epidemiology of traumatic brain injury in children and youths: A review of research since 1990. *Journal of Child Neurology*, *31*(1), 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1177/0883073814544363
- Todis, B., Glang, A., Bullis, M., Ettel, D., & Hood, D. (2011). Longitudinal investigation of the post-high school transition experiences of adolescents with traumatic brain injury.
   Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 26(2), 138–149.
   https://doi.org/10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181e5a87a
- Tousignant, B., Jackson, P. L., Massicotte, E., Beauchamp, M. H., Achim, A. M., Vera-Estay, E., ... Sirois, K. (2016). Impact of traumatic brain injury on social cognition in adolescents and contribution of other higher order cognitive functions.

  \*Neuropsychological Rehabilitation\*, 1–19.
- Trenchard, S. O., Rust, S., & Bunton, P. (2013). A systematic review of psychosocial

- outcomes within 2 years of paediatric traumatic brain injury in a school-aged population. *Brain Injury*, 27(11), 1217–1237.
- Turkstra, L. S., Williams, W. H., Tonks, J., & Frampton, I. (2008). Measuring social cognition in adolescents: implications for students with TBI returning to school. *NeuroRehabilitation*, 23(6), 501–509. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19127003
- Twining, P., Heller, R. S., Nussbaum, M., & Tsai, C. C. (2017). Some guidance on conducting and reporting qualitative studies. *Computers and Education*, *106*, A1–A9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2016.12.002
- Tyerman, A., & Humphrey, M. (1984). Changes in self-concept following severe head injury.

  \*International Journal of Rehabilitation Research\*. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004356-198403000-00002
- Vanderploeg, R. D., Silva, M. A., Soble, J. R., Curtiss, G., Belanger, H. G., Donnell, A. J., & Scott, S. G. (2015). The structure of postconcussion symptoms on the neurobehavioral symptom inventory: A comparison of alternative models. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 30(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1097/HTR.00000000000000000
- Varni, J. W., Seid, M., & Kurtin, P. S. (2001). PedsQL<sup>TM</sup> 4.0: Reliability and Validity of the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory<sup>TM</sup> Version 4.0 Generic Core Scales in Healthy and Patient Populations. *Medical Care*, *39*(8).
- Vasa, R. A., Gerring, J. P., Grados, M., Slomine, B., Christensen, J. R., Rising, W., ...

  Riddle, M. A. (2002). Anxiety after severe pediatric closed head injury. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 41(2), 148–156.
- Vikane, E., Hellstrøm, T., Røe, C., Bautz-Holter, E., Aßmus, J., & Skouen, J. S. (2017).

  Multidisciplinary outpatient treatment in patients with mild traumatic brain injury: A randomised controlled intervention study. *Brain Injury*, 31(4).

- https://doi.org/10.1080/02699052.2017.1280852
- Virji-Babul, N., Hilderman, C. G. E., Makan, N., Liu, A., Smith-Forrester, J., Franks, C., & Wang, Z. J. (2014). Changes in functional brain networks following sports-related concussion in adolescents. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 31(23), 1914–1919. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2014.3450
- Vos, P. E., & Diaz-Arrastia, R. (2015). The clinical problem of traumatic brain injury. In P. E. Vos & R. Diaz-Arrastia (Eds.), *Traumatic brain injury* (pp. 3–13). Chichester, West Sussex: Wiley Blackwell.
- Voss, J. D., Connolly, J., Schwab, K. A., & Scher, A. I. (2015). Update on the Epidemiology of Concussion/Mild Traumatic Brain Injury. *Current Pain and Headache Reports*, 19(7). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11916-015-0506-z
- Wade, S. L., Cassedy, A. E., Fulks, L. E., Taylor, H. G., Stancin, T., Kirkwood, M. W., ...
  Kurowski, B. G. (2017). Problem-Solving After Traumatic Brain Injury in Adolescence:
  Associations With Functional Outcomes. Archives of Physical Medicine and
  Rehabilitation, 98(8), 1614–1621.
- Wade, S. L., Cassedy, A., Walz, N. C., Taylor, H. G., Stancin, T., & Yeates, K. O. (2011).
  The relationship of parental warm responsiveness and negativity to emerging behavior problems following traumatic brain injury in young children. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(1), 119.
- Wade, S. L., Taylor, H. G., Drotar, D., Stancin, T., Yeates, K. O., & Minich, N. M. (2003).
  Parent-Adolescent Interactions After Traumatic Brain Injury: Their Relationship to
  Family Adaptation and Adolescent Adjustment. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 18(2).
- Wallcraft, J. (2005). Recovery from mental breakdown. *Social Perspectives in Mental Health*, 200–215.

- White, R., & Wyn, J. (2008). *Youth & Society: Exploring the Social Dynamics of Youth Experience* (2nd ed.). Melbourne: Oxford University Press.
- Wilde, E. A., Hunter, J. V, Newsome, M. R., Scheibel, R. S., Bigler, E. D., Johnson, J. L., ... Levin, H. S. (2005). Frontal and Temporal Morphometric Findings on MRI in Children after Moderate to Severe Traumatic Brain Injury, 22(3), 333–344.
- Windell, D., & Norman, R. M. G. (2013). A qualitative analysis of influences on recovery following a first episode of psychosis. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *59*(5), 493–500. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764012443751
- Wolfe, K. R., Bigler, E. D., Dennis, M., Gerhardt, C. A., Rubin, K., Gerry Taylor, H., ... Yeates, K. O. (2015). Self-awareness of peer-rated social attributes in children with traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 40(3), 272–284. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsu060
- Wu, X., Hu, J., Zhuo, L., Fu, C., Hui, G., Wang, Y., ... Xu, G. (2008). Epidemiology of traumatic brain injury in eastern China, 2004: a prospective large case study. *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery*, 64, 1313–1319.
- Wyn, J. (2004). Becoming adult in the 2000s. Family Matters, (68), 180–181.
- Wyn, J., & Dwyer, P. (1999). New Directions in Research on Youth in Transition. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 2(1), 5–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.1999.10593021
- Wyn, J., & Woodman, D. (2006). Generation, youth and social change in Australia. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 9(5), 495–514. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676260600805713
- Yates, L., Bond, L., Dixon, M., Drew, S., Ferguson, P., Hay, T., ... White, J. (2010). *Keeping connected: identity, social connection and education for young people living with chronic illness*. Melbourne.
- Yates, P. J., Williams, W. H., Harris, A., Round, A., & Jenkins, R. (2006). An epidemiological study of head injuries in a UK population attending an emergency

- department. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 77(5), 699–701. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2005.081901
- Yeates, K. O. (2010). Mild traumatic brain injury and postconcussive symptoms in children and adolescents. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *16*(6), 953–960. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617710000986
- Yeates, K. O., Bigler, E. D., Abildskov, T., Dennis, M., Gerhardt, C. A., Vannatta, K., ...
  Taylor, H. G. (2014). Social competence in pediatric traumatic brain injury: From brain to behavior. Clinical Psychological Science (Vol. 2).
  https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702613499734
- Yeates, K. O., Bigler, E. D., Dennis, M., Gerhardt, C. A., Rubin, K. H., Stancin, T., ...
  Vannatta, K. (2007). Social outcomes in childhood brain disorder: a heuristic integration of social neuroscience and developmental psychology. *Psychological Bulletin*, 133(3), 535–556. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.133.3.535
- Yeates, K. O., Gerhardt, C. A., Bigler, E. D., Abildskov, T., Dennis, M., Rubin, K. H., ...
  Vannatta, K. (2013). Peer relationships of children with traumatic brain injury. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 19(5), 518–527.
  https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617712001531
- Yeates, K. O., Swift, E., Taylor, H. G., Wade, S. L., Drotar, D., Stancin, T., & Minich, N. (2004). Short- and long-term social outcomes following pediatric traumatic brain injury. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 10(3), 412–426. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617704103093
- Zemek, R., Barrowman, N., Freedman, S. B., Gravel, J., Gagnon, I., McGahern, C., ...

  Moore, J. (2016). Clinical risk score for persistent postconcussion symptoms among children with acute concussion in the ED. *JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association*, 315(10). https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.1203

- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2015). Emotional sensitivity before and after coping with rejection:

  A longitudinal study. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 41, 28–37.
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2016). Peer Rejection, Victimization, and Relational Self-System

  Processes in Adolescence: Toward a Transactional Model of Stress, Coping, and

  Developing Sensitivities. *Child Development Perspectives*, 10(2), 122–127.

  https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12174
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, *35*(1), 1–17.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025410384923
- Zuckerbraun, N. S., King, C. C., & Berger, R. P. (2015). Emergency department evaluation of mild traumatic brain injury. In P. E. Vos & R. Diaz-Arrastia (Eds.), *Traumatic Brain Injury* (pp. 55–70). Chichester, West Sussex: Wiley Blackwell.

# **Appendix A: Letter of Invitation to Participate**



School of Psychology Level 2, Building 302, Science Centre 23 Symonds Street Auckland Central Phone: +64 9 373 7599 ext 88413

#### INVITATION TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH

**Project Title:** An exploration of young people's experiences following traumatic brain injury during adolescence

Dear

Thank you for your valued contribution to studies previously carried out by the BIONIC research group, and for agreeing to be contacted again for future research.

My name is Therese, and I am a student in the Clinical Psychology training programme at the University of Auckland. I am interested in learning more about what it is like to have a head injury as a teenager, and how this might affect someone's life as they go through the teenage years and transition to adulthood.

I am contacting you to offer you the opportunity to take part in an interview to talk about your experience of having a head injury during, or just before, your teenage years. This discussion would last about an hour, and we can do it at your home, or somewhere else close to you (like the local library or a café) if you would prefer.

Participation in this research is entirely your choice, so you do not have to say yes to an interview. If you do decide to take part, you would be free to pull out at any time, without having to give a reason. You would be given a koha of a cinema voucher or supermarket voucher as a thank you for your time. You may wish to talk about the study with whanau, friends or family members before deciding whether to participate. I have included a Participant Information Sheet with more information about the study.

I have been given your details by fellow-researchers in the BIONIC group. This letter is to let you know that I will be contacting you by telephone in the next few weeks to see if you would like to take part in this study. If you do not wish to be telephoned, please contact me by phone, text or e-mail (my details are below), letting me know how you would like us to communicate, or that you do not wish to take part in the interview.

I am looking forward to speaking with you soon.

Kind regards,

Therese Mulligan

School of Psychology, The University of Auckland

E-mail: tmul981@aucklanduni.ac.nz Phone/text: 022 313 9854

Approved by the University of Auckland Human Participants Ethics Committee on 31<sup>st</sup> July 2017 for three years, Reference Number 019641

# Appendix B: Letter of Invitation to Participate (Māori version)



School of Psychology Level 2, Building 302, Science Centre 23 Symonds Street Auckland Central Phone: +64 9 373 7599 ext 88413

#### **INVITATION TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH**

**Project Title:** An exploration of young people's experiences following traumatic brain injury during early adolescence

Tēnā koe,

Thank you for your valued contribution to research studies previously carried out by the BIONIC research group, and for agreeing to be contacted again for future research.

My name is Therese, and I am a student in the Clinical Psychology training programme at the University of Auckland. I am interested in learning more about what it is like to have a head injury as a teenager (or just before becoming a teenager), and how this might affect someone's life as they go through their teenage years.

I am contacting you to offer you the opportunity to take part in an interview to talk about your experience of having a head injury during, or just before, your teenage years. This discussion would last about an hour, and we can do it at your home, or somewhere else close to you (like the local library or a café) if you would prefer.

Participation in this research is entirely your choice, so you do not have to say yes to an interview. If you do decide to take part, you would be free to pull out at any time, without having to give a reason. You would be given a koha of a cinema voucher or supermarket voucher as a thank you for your time. You may wish to talk about the study with your family or whanau before deciding whether to participate. I have included a Participant Information Sheet with more information about the study.

I have been given your details by fellow-researchers in the BIONIC group. This letter is to let you know that I will be contacting you by telephone in the next few weeks to see if you would like to take part in this study. If you do not wish to be telephoned, please contact me by phone, text or e-mail (my details are below), letting me know how you would like us to communicate, or that you do not wish to take part in the interview.

I am looking forward to a korero with you soon.

Nāku noa, nā,

Therese Mulligan

School of Psychology, The University of Auckland

E-mail: tmul981@aucklanduni.ac.nz Phone/text: 022 313 9854

Approved by the University of Auckland Human Participants Ethics Committee on 31st July 2017 for three years, Reference Number 019641

# **Appendix C: Participant Information Sheet**



School of Psychology Level 2, Building 302, Science Centre 23 Symonds Street Auckland Central Phone: +64 9 373 7599 ext 88413

#### PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

Project Title: An exploration of young people's experiences following traumatic brain injury during

adolescence

**Researcher:** Therese Mulligan Research Supervisor: Professor Suzanne Barker-Collo

#### **Researcher Introduction**

My name is Therese, and I am a student in the Doctorate of Clinical Psychology at the University of Auckland. I am working with a supervisor, Professor Suzanne Barker-Collo, who is a Clinical Neuropsychologist in the School of Psychology.

#### **This Document**

This document is five pages long, please make sure you have read and understood all the pages, and feel free to ask me any questions if you need to (my contact details are on the final page). This information sheet is for you to keep.

#### **This Project**

Rationale: I am doing this research to find out more about what it is like to have a traumatic brain injury (TBI) during the teenage years. There is a lot that we (researchers, psychologists and people in general) know about the kinds of things that happen during the years that we call 'adolescence'. This is considered the time between being a child and an adult, when a young person is trying to find their place in the world (maybe finding out the kinds of friends they want to have, or what to do for a job). Unfortunately, we don't know quite so much about what going through this search for a 'self-identity' is like if you have had even a mild brain injury, and if it has any effect at all.

Aims: This study is going to explore the individual life experiences of 12 to 15 young people who had a TBI during adolescence, to see if there are any common themes or patterns of experiences.

Duration: This project will continue for about two years.

Benefits: I hope that the results from this study will increase our knowledge of the longer term effects of having a TBI during adolescence, and that this will improve our understanding of the kinds of supports that might be helpful for a young person as they go through life after an injury.

Risks: I do not expect there to be much risk for you in taking part in this research. However, there is a slight chance that you will become upset talking about some of the experiences that might have been difficult for you. You are invited to talk about whatever is comfortable for you. If you like, I

can give you some information about what might be helpful if you need more support after our discussion.

People in this research: The only person that you will encounter while you are participating in this research will be me. Other people who might be able to see the information you give to me will be my supervisor, Suzanne, and a transcriber (I will explain this later).

# **Invitation to Participate**

Why me: You are invited to participate in this research because you have been involved in the BIONIC research studies in the past, and have agreed to be contacted regarding participation in future research.

How: My supervisor, Suzanne, has been involved with the BIONIC studies since they started, and she has helped me to access your details, and those of other young people like you.

Voluntary participation: Participation in this research is entirely your choice. If you do decide to take part, you would be free to pull out at any time, without having to give a reason.

Compensation: If you choose to participate, you will be given a koha, which will be your choice of a voucher for one cinema trip or for \$20 to spend in Countdown.

### **Project Procedure**

What you will do: Participation will involve engaging in an interview with me, which will take about an hour depending on how much you would like to share. This will mainly involve talking about your life over the past few years. I will try not to ask too many questions, and I hope that you will feel comfortable talking about your experiences, and it should not feel like an interrogation.

Where: I will come to meet you at your home, or somewhere in the community (like a library or café) if you prefer.

Recording: Your interview will be recorded on an audio-recording device (sound only), as this will ensure that important information is not lost. If you require a break from recording during the interview, you can ask for the recording device to be turned off without giving a reason. The recorder can be turned back on when you feel comfortable. Should you wish for the recording device remain turned off, this would equate to withdrawal from the study.

Withdrawal: You can change your mind about participating or stop the interview at any time. You can withdraw yourself from the study at any time, even after the interview has been completed.

# **Data Storage, Destruction and Future use**

How: Your interview recording will be listened to and transcribed (typed out so that it can be read). I will do some of this transcribing, but I will also need some help from someone else, known as a transcriber. Afterwards, you will be given the option to review the transcription of your interview if you wish.

Where: This interview information or 'data' will be stored on my supervisor, Suzanne's, computer at the university. It will be password protected, and only Suzanne and I will have the password.

How long: The data will be stored for a minimum of 10 years.

Destruction: After these 10 years, all data will be permanently deleted from the computer.

### **Right to Withdraw from Participation**

As noted above, you have the right to withdraw from the interview at any time without giving a reason, and you can withdraw your interview data up to two months from the day of the interview. You may still stay on the list for future research with the BIONIC group, or let me know if you would prefer not to be contacted again.

# Confidentiality

Preserving the confidentiality of the information you share with me is very important to us. Your information will only be shared between me and Suzanne, and possibly a transcriber. The transcriber will sign a confidentiality agreement, saying that they will not share your information, and will delete it when they are finished. The audios that the transcriber will use will also not have your name attached to them or allow you to be identified in any way.

After the interview, your name will not be associated with the data, in order to preserve your confidentiality. A codename will be written on your consent form, and only this codename will be used to identify your data later on. The consent forms and codenames will be stored separately to all information relating to your interview. Consent forms and all paper data will be stored in a locked drawer in a locked office in a locked building at the University of Auckland, and shredded after 10 years.

If the information you provide is published or presented, this will be done in a way that does not identify that it has come from you.

A copy of the research findings will be made available to you, if you wish. Please tick 'yes' on the Consent Form if you would like to receive this summary, and provide your e-mail or postal address.

### Consent

If you agree to take part in this study, you will be asked to sign a Consent Form and return it to the researcher. You may keep this Participant Information Sheet and a copy of the Consent Form.

#### Questions

If you have any questions or concerns about this study, you may contact me (the researcher), my supervisor or the Director of the Clinical Psychology programme. The relevant contact details are as follows.

#### Researcher

Therese Mulligan
Clinical Psychology Training Programme
The University of Auckland, Private Bag 92019

Auckland 1142

E-mail: <a href="mailto:tmul981@aucklanduni.ac.nz">tmul981@aucklanduni.ac.nz</a>

Phone/Text: 022 313 9854

# **Clinical Psychology Programme Director**

Associate Professor Kerry Gibson Clinical Psychology Training Programme The University of Auckland

Private Bag 92019, Auckland 1142 Phone: +64 9 923 8556

Email: kl.gibson@auckland.ac.nz

### **Research Supervisor**

Prof Suzanne Barker-Collo

Clinical Psychology Training Programme
The University of Auckland, Private Bag 92019

Auckland 1142

Email: <a href="mailto:s.barker-collo@auckland.ac.nz">s.barker-collo@auckland.ac.nz</a>

Phone: 021 969 464

#### **Ethics**

For any queries regarding ethical concerns: The Chair, The University of Auckland Human Participants Ethics Committee, The University of Auckland, Research Office, Private Bag 92019, Auckland 1142

Private Bag 92019, Auckland 1142. Telephone 09 373-7599 ext. 83711.

Email: ro-ethics@auckland.ac.nz

Approved by the University of Auckland Human Participants Ethics Committee on 31<sup>st</sup> July 2017 for three years, Reference Number 019641

# Appendix D: Participant Information Sheet (Māori version)



School of Psychology Level 2, Building 302, Science Centre 23 Symonds Street Auckland Central Phone: +64 9 373 7599 ext 88413

#### PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

**Project Title:** An exploration of young people's experiences following traumatic brain injury during

adolescence

Researcher: Therese Mulligan

Supervisor: Professor Suzanne Barker-Collo

#### **Researcher Introduction**

Tēnā koe. My name is Therese, and I am from Ireland. I am a student in the Doctorate of Clinical Psychology at the University of Auckland, and I am working with Professor Suzanne Barker-Collo, who is a Clinical Neuropsychologist in the School of Psychology.

#### **This Document**

This information sheet is five pages long, please make sure you have read all the pages, and feel free to ask me any questions if something does not make sense (my contact details are on the final page). This information sheet is for you to keep.

# **This Project**

Rationale: I am doing this research to find out more about what it is like to have a traumatic brain injury during the teenage years. There is a lot that we (researchers, psychologists and people in general) know about the kinds of things that usually happen as rangatahi go through the years that we call 'adolescence'. Adolescence is thought of as that time between being tamariki/children and becoming adults, when rangatahi/young people are trying to find their place in the world (maybe finding out the kinds of friends they want to have, or what to do for a job). Unfortunately, we don't know quite so much about what going through this search for a 'self' is like if you have had even a mild brain injury, and if it has any effect at all.

Aims: This study is going to explore the individual life experiences of about 12 to 15 rangatahi/young people who had a brain injury during their teenage years, to see if there are any similarities in their experiences.

Duration: This project will continue for about two years.

Benefits: I hope that the results from this study will grow our kete of knowledge about having a brain injury as a young person, and that this will help us better understand the kinds of tautoko/support that might help rangatahi as they go through life after an injury.

Risks: I do not expect there to be much risk for you in taking part in this research. However, there is a slight chance that you will become upset talking about some of the experiences that might have been difficult for you. You are invited to talk about whatever is comfortable for you. If you like, I can give you some information about what might be helpful if you need more tautoko after our kōrero.

People in this research: The only person that you will encounter while you are participating in this research will be me. Other people who might be able to see the information you give to me will be my supervisor, Suzanne, and a transcriber (I will explain this later).

# **Invitation to Participate**

Why me: You are invited to participate in this research because you have been involved in the BIONIC research studies in the past, and have agreed to be contacted regarding participation in future research.

How: My supervisor, Suzanne, has been involved with the BIONIC studies since they started, and she has helped me to access your details, and those of other rangatahi like you.

Voluntary participation: Taking part in this research is entirely your choice. If you do decide to take part, you would be free to pull out at any time, without having to give a reason.

Compensation: If you choose to participate, you will be given a koha, which will be your choice of either a cinema or supermarket voucher to the value of \$20.

#### **Project Procedure**

What you will do: Participation will involve engaging in a korero/interview with me, which will take about an hour depending on how much you would like to share. This will mainly involve talking about your life over the past few years. I will try not to ask too many questions, and I hope that you will feel comfortable talking about your experiences, and it should not feel like an interrogation.

Where: I will come to meet you at your home, or somewhere in the community (like a library or café) if you prefer.

Recording: Your interview will be recorded on an audio-recording device (sound only), as this will ensure that important information is not lost. If you require a break from recording during the interview, you can ask for the recording device to be turned off without giving a reason. The recorder can be turned back on when you feel comfortable. Should you wish for the recording device remain turned off, this would equate to withdrawal from the study.

Withdrawal: You can change your mind about participating or stop the interview at any time. You can withdraw yourself from the study at any time, even after the interview has been completed.

#### **Data Storage, Destruction and Future use**

How: Your interview recording will be listened to and transcribed (typed out so that it can be read). I will do some of this transcribing, but I will also need some help from someone else, known as a

transcriber. Afterwards, you will be given the option to review the transcription of your interview if you wish.

Where: This interview information or 'data' will be stored on my supervisor, Suzanne's, computer at the university. It will be password protected, and only Suzanne and I will have the password.

How long: The data will be stored for a minimum of 10 years.

Destruction: After these 10 years, all data will be permanently deleted from the computer.

### **Right to Withdraw from Participation**

As noted above, you have the right to pull out/withdraw from the interview at any time without giving a reason, you can withdraw your interview data up to two months from the day of the interview. You may still stay on the list for future research with the BIONIC group, or let me know if you would prefer not to be contacted again.

### **Anonymity and Confidentiality**

Preserving the confidentiality of the information you share with me is very important to us. Your information will only be shared between me and Suzanne, and possibly another person whose job will be simply to help type out the interviews (a transcriber). This person will sign a confidentiality agreement, saying that they will not share your information and delete it when they are finished. The audios that the transcriber will use will also not have your name attached to them or allow you to be identified in any way.

After the interview, your name will not be associated with the data, in order to preserve your confidentiality. A codename will be written on your consent form, and only this codename will be used to identify your data later on. The consent forms and codenames will be stored separately to all information relating to your interview. Consent forms and all paper data will be stored in a locked drawer in a locked office in a locked building at the University of Auckland, and shredded after 10 years.

If the information you provide is published or presented, this will be done in a way that does not identify that it has come from you.

A copy of the research findings will be made available to you, if you wish. Please tick 'yes' on the Consent Form if you would like to receive this summary, and provide your e-mail or postal address.

#### Consent

If you agree to take part in this study, you will be asked to sign a Consent Form and return it to the researcher. You may keep this Participant Information Sheet and a copy of the Consent Form.

#### Questions

If you have any questions or concerns about this study, you may contact me (the researcher), my supervisor or the Director of the Clinical Psychology programme. The relevant contact details are as follows.

#### Researcher

Therese Mulligan
School of Psychology
Clinical Training Programme
The University of Auckland
Private Bag 92019
Auckland 1142

E-mail: tmul981@aucklanduni.ac.nz

Phone: 022 313 9854 Text: 022 313 9854

### Supervisor

Prof Suzanne Barker-Collo School of Psychology Clinical Training Programme The University of Auckland Private Bag 92019 Auckland 1142

Email: s.barker-collo@auckland.ac.nz

Phone: 021 969 464

### **Clinical Psychology Programme Director**

Associate Professor Kerry Gibson School of Psychology Clinical Training Programme The University of Auckland Private Bag 92019 Auckland 1142

Phone: +64 9 923 8556

Email: kl.gibson@auckland.ac.nz

**Ethics** For any queries regarding ethical concerns

you may contact:

The Chair, The University of Auckland Human

Participants Ethics Committee, The University of Auckland,

Research Office, Private Bag 92019, Auckland 1142.

Telephone 09 373-7599 ext. 83711. Email: ro-ethics@auckland.ac.nz

"Ka tō te rā, ka ara anō te rā"

"The sun sets, but always rises again. Though darkness descends, the shine of light surpasses it."

(Today is a new day to overcome tribulations.)

Approved by the University of Auckland Human Participants Ethics Committee on 31st July 2017 for three years, Reference Number 019641

# **Appendix E: Consent Form**



Participant codename:

School of Psychology Level 2, Building 302 Science Centre 23 Symonds Street **Auckland Central** 

Phone: +64 9 373 7599 ext 88413

# **CONSENT FORM** THIS FORM WILL BE HELD FOR A PERIOD OF 10 YEARS

Project Title: An exploration of young people's experiences following traumatic brain injury during adolescence

Researcher: Therese Mulligan

Supervisor: Professor Suzanne Barker-Collo

I have read the Participant Information Sheet, and I have understood the nature of the research and why I have been selected. I have had the opportunity to ask questions and have them answered to my satisfaction.

- I agree to take part in this research.
- I understand that participation is voluntary.
- I understand that I will take part in an interview which will last about an hour.
- I recognise that this korero/interview will be audio-recorded.
- I understand that the audio-recording will be transcribed, and the researcher will use my data to look for themes in the experience of other participants like me.
- and to withdraw any data traceable to me up to \_ (two months from today). I understand that data will be kept for 10 years, after which time any data will be destroyed.

I understand that I am free to withdraw participation at any time without giving a reason,

- I understand that my identity will be kept confidential, as described in the Participant Information Sheet.
- I would like to review my interview transcript: Yes □ No □
- I would like to receive a summary of findings: Yes □ No □
- My e-mail or postal address for correspondence relating to transcript feedback and/or summary of research findings: \_\_\_\_\_

Name:	
Signature:	Date:

# **Appendix F: Semi-structured Interview Schedule**



School of Psychology Level 2, Building 302, Science Centre 23 Symonds Street Auckland Central Phone: +64 9 373 7599 ext 88413

#### **SEMI-STRUCTURED INTERVIEW SCHEDULE**

The aim of the interview is to elicit from participants the key influences on their lives and life trajectory since they experienced their TBI. The researcher wishes to avoid leading the participant to discussing specific topics that may not be of relevance to them. The following schedule of questions is to be used as a broad guideline. Prompting phrases or questions, such as "can you tell me more about that?"; "can you give an example?"; "Some things that other young people have found are..." will be used.

# **General opening**

- "Thank you for agreeing to speak with me about your experiences. I am very interested in hearing about what the past few years have been like for you...."
- Can you tell me about what you/your life were/was like before your injury?
- Perhaps we could draw a timeline of some of the main things that have gone on for you over the past ten years?

# **Injury-specific questions**

- Tell me about the head injury you had...
- How did you feel about your injury at the time?
- How did you come to understand your injury?
- Did anything change for you after your injury?
- How do you feel about those changes?
- Can you tell me about any challenges you have had in the years since your injury?
- Do you feel those changes have something to do with the injury, or just part of growing up?
- Can you think of anything good about having your injury?

### Specific areas of inquiry

- School:
  - O Did you have to take any time off school?
  - o How did you feel about missing school?
  - O How was it going back to school?
  - Do you think your injury affected your ability to do your schoolwork?
- Social relationships and participation:
  - o Do you think your injury affected your ability to participate in your social world?
  - Can you think of an example where this might have happened? Were you able to continue to play sports, or to partake in other extra-curricular activities?
  - o Did your injury affect your ability to go out or to drink alcohol as much as your mates?

- Family dynamics or roles:
  - O Did anything change in your family after your injury?
  - Were your parents any different with you? (e.g., maybe they were more protective?)
  - Did anything change with siblings? (e.g., perhaps they were jealous over the attention you got from your parents?)

### Identity:

- o Did you feel different about yourself after your injury?
- Have you ever felt different because of your injury?
- o Did you feel any different to your friends?
- o Did you feel your ability to do things for yourself changed after your injury?
- o Did it affect your sense of independence?

# Resilience and coping:

- What was helpful during the time after the injury? (This can be related back to what they had described as difficulties)
- Who was important in helping you recover? (e.g., family, friends, school, sports team/coach, rehabilitation services, religious community)
- O What kind of help could you have done with?
- Is there any kind of help that you feel would have been beneficial, but not available or offered to you?

#### Life trajectory:

- o Did you have to make any life-changing decisions because of your injury?
- Did you have to rethink the kind of lifestyle, or career, you had planned on having before the effects of your injury?
- Questions relating to other factors which the participant considers important in their lives

# Closing

I think that's basically everything I had to ask you to talk about, have you got anything else you'd like to say, any final thoughts or anything you'd like to follow up that I haven't asked you?

# **Appendix G: Initial Thematic Map**

Category	Theme	Patterns captured within each theme	What is interesting about patterns
Description of symptoms	Immediate symptoms	Post-concussive symptoms and trouble comprehending what happened	The severity of symptoms and their enduring nature
	Ongoing symptoms	Experiences of cognitive, physical and emotional symptoms as enduring	
	Disrupted school performance	For some, working hard to get back to where they were	How each of these come together to influence identity formation The impact on development and how the young person saw themselves
		For others this meant re-thinking their possibilities/doing something else	
		The impact of age - worst at big exams and during Uni.	
Ongoing impact on the	Impact on social life	Loss of sense of belonging	
adolescent		Social skills	
		Self-consciousness, stigma	
		Impacts differently depending on age/stage	
	Impact on leisure	Having to give up something in the short (acute recovery)	
	activities	or long (giving up all together) term	
	Emotional responses	Anxiety; Grief; Depression	
The enduring impact of TBI into adulthood	Work impacts	How physical symptoms (fatigue, migraines) impact	The impact of these factors on
		adjustment to adult job	
		How cognitive symptoms (memory, concentration)	becoming an independent
		impact adjustment to adult job.	adult
	Social and leisure	Reduced social confidence and skills	
		Still having fewer friends	The impact on quality of life
		The need for balance – not able to do as much as prior	

	Independence	Couple of participants – reduced independence	
	Emotional responses	Anxiety; Depression; Grief	
Internal supports	Personality	Determination – doing what is needed to get back to	
		where I was/somewhere new	
		Acceptance – of the injury, the need for recovery time,	Young people as struggling
		'could be worse'	but also resilient – developing
	'Resilience'	Need to go through hard times to develop strength	an identity and personality an
	Hobbies and passions	Crucial for identity	ongoing process, not having
		Trumps parental advice re safety	lost anything that was fully
		Life is better when you have things to do/balance	formed
		Recovering from the loss of old interests	
		Helpful for grounding/emotional management	
External supports	Peers	Sense of belonging and acceptance	
		Peers with similar experiences – feeling understood	Young people as situated
		Unlikely to attend support groups though	within a social environment –
	Family	Family as over or more protective	all described the importance
		Family as under or less supportive	of these three levels
	Professionals	Need for information and to feel understood	